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At Omnia, our focus on adding value to our customers in their efforts to find alternative 
energy solutions, promoting the conservation of water resources and enabling 
food security, is a way of life. 

Our day-to-day energies, channelled through the considerable expertise of our specialist, 
diversified operations, are invested in developing products and services to support the sustainable use 
of these vital resources.

The path to Omnia’s involvement in the key areas of agriculture, mining and chemicals was laid in 1953 when 
the company was founded as a small distributor of agricultural lime. By 1967, the future direction of the company 
was decided when it expanded from a lime supplier into a new role – that of manufacturer and supplier of fertilizer.

As the company developed, innovation became its calling card.

Within five years of establishing its first granular fertilizer plant, Omnia commissioned South Africa’s first liquid 
fertilizer manufacturing facility. The next step was the development of unique ammonia applications for sophisticated 
farming operations.

Continued growth led to Omnia’s listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in 1980. This facilitated subsequent 
investment in increased manufacturing capabilities, which included the construction of a nitrogen plant in Sasolburg.

Since the production of fertilizers requires many of the chemicals and expertise required for producing mining explosives, 
Omnia’s diversification into the mining industry was a natural step. Bulk Mining Explosives was acquired in 1987. 

As its facilities for the production of fertilizers expanded, so too did Omnia’s value added offering in the agricultural 
arena. By 1995, a speciality division was launched to serve the company’s increasing expertise in specialised 
agriculture practice.

By the time Omnia achieved “Top 100” company status on the JSE in 1993, the company was expanding 
internationally, with operations extending into Africa. This was followed by the acquisition and development 
of operations in Australasia and South America.

In 2003, Omnia acquired South Africa’s largest distributor and trader of chemicals, Protea Chemicals, which provided 
a much improved balance across its interests.

The ongoing investment in expertise led to the realisation that Omnia had a role to play in the sustainable development 
of resources. From becoming a renowned supplier of products and services to agriculture and mines, a move into water 
resources and their preservation through specialised treatments followed. 

The acquisition of Zetachem, a supplier of chemical management systems to the water treatment, mining and pulp 
and paper industries was followed by an associate with one of the world’s leading water treatment and process 
improvement companies, Nalco, to create Nalco Africa, which will provide an extensive range of water and treatment 
process services to the African market.

Omnia supports its products with the expertise and customer assistance necessary to help farmers maximise crop 
production, miners to extract and process commodities from open cast and deep level mines more effectively, 
and industry to preserve and maintain water resources.

Omnia has become a company concerned with sustainability at all levels; a company able to make a meaningful 
contribution to our quality of life in fundamental ways.
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GROUP COMPANY SECRETARY 

CD Appollis 

REGISTERED OFFICE AND POSTAL ADDRESS

Omnia Holdings Limited 
Registration number: 1967/003680/06 
JSE Code: OMN  ISIN: ZAE000005153 
2nd Floor, Omnia House 
13 Sloane Street, Epsom Downs 
Bryanston, Sandton 

PO Box 69888 
Bryanston 2021 
Telephone +27 (011) 709 8888 
Website address: www.omnia.co.za 

TRANSFER SECRETARIES 

Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Limited 
5th Floor, 11 Diagonal Street 
Johannesburg 2000 

PO Box 4844
Johannesburg 2000 
Telephone +27 (011) 630 0806 

SPONSOR 

To 19 May 2010

Barnard Jacobs Mellet Corporate Finance (Pty) Limited 
24 Fricker Road 
Illovo Corner, Illovo 

PO Box 62200 
Marshalltown 2107 
Telephone +27 (011) 750 0000

From 20 May 2010

One Capital (Pty) Ltd
Building 2 Suite 3
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Woodlands Drive
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PO Box 784573
Sandton 2146
Telephone +27 11 258 8798

AUDITORS 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc
2 Eglin Road
Sunninghill
Prive Bag X36
Sunninghill 2157
Telephone +27 11 797 4000

Establishes porous prill ammonium nitrate 

and ANFO manufacturing plants to expand 

its explosives product range. 

Political barriers in South Africa begin to 

crumble – Omnia extends operations into 

Africa; establishes industrial chemicals 

division, Intaba Chemicals.

Offshore trading, finance and investment 

arm established in Mauritius; Omnia 

becomes a Top 100 Company on the 

JSE Limited for the first time.

Innovative marketing and distribution 

infrastructure established to serve African 

smallholder farming communities.

Speciality fertilizer division launched, 

to service the growing specialisation 

in agriculture, OmniSap® technology 

introduced.

Commissions a plant to produce potassium 

sulphate and hydrochloric acid, as well as 

a cartridge explosives plant.

Construction begins on a R96 million 

state-of-the-art fertilizer granulation plant 

at Sasolburg; fourth liquid fertilizer plant 

in Wesselsbron commissioned.

Established a presence in Australasia 

to identify opportunities for market entry.

Mining explosives venture initiated in 

Tanzania; speciality fertilizer blender 

commissioned in Sasolburg. 

BME enters sophisticated electronic delay 

detonator market with purchase of cutting 

edge technology from French company 

DCI. New calcium nitrate plant opened 

in Sasolburg, applying unique patented 

technology developed by Omnia. Acquisition 

of South Africa’s largest distributor and 

trader of chemicals, Protea Chemicals.

The acquisition of Zetachem, a well-

established supplier of chemical 

management systems to leading companies 

in the water treatment, mining and pulp 

and paper industries.

Sale of 10% of the Group to our employees.

Omnia commissions EcoGypsumTM plant 

for sale of gypsum to the cement industry.

Commissions EnviNox® plant at Sasolburg, 

significantly reducing the release of nitrous 

oxide from the Omnia fertilizer factory.

Omnia forms an associate with Nalco, 

the world’s leading water treatment and 

process improvement company based 

in Illinois, USA. Nalco Africa will provide 

an extensive range of water and process 

treatment services to the African market.

Acquired Petroleum Fine Products. 

BME commissions shocktube plant.

Lists on the Johannesburg 

Stock Exchange. 

Invests R88 million in its own nitrogen 

facilities at the Sasolburg complex.

Acquires Bulk Mining Explosives (BME) to 

diversify into the mining explosives market, 

using advanced international technology.

Enters agricultural seed market 

(subsequently disposed of); secures 

independence for the supply of ammonia 

by purchase of a share of the Richards Bay 

ammonia terminal.
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Omnia founded as a small distributor 

of agricultural lime.

Expands into the related fertilizer market 

by establishing its first granular plant 

at Sasolburg.

Commissions South Africa’s first liquid 

fertilizer operation.

Launches direct application ammonia – 

a unique product for sophisticated farming 

application; completes superphosphate 

plant at Sasolburg and phosphoric acid 

plant at Phokeng.

Expands liquid operation in the 

UK and US (subsequently disposed of); 

opens liquid fertilizer plants at Hectorspruit 

and Danielsrus.
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Shaping the future of our world
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 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

VALUE ADDED STATEMENT  for the year ended 31 March 2010

Group

Audited Audited
2010

Rm %
2009

Rm %

Revenue  8 827 100,0  11 111 100,0

Income from investments  44 0,5  41 0,4

Cost of materials and services  7 550 85,5  9 236 83,1

Total value added  1 233 14,0  1 834 16,5

Value distribution

To employees

  remuneration and benefits  701 56,9  692 37,7

To providers of finance

  finance costs  185 15,0  210 11,5

  forex gain on foreign bank accounts  32 2,6 (5) (0,3)

To providers of capital

  dividends to Omnia shareholders  66 5,4  96 5,2

To governments

  current taxation  63 5,1  121 6,6

  secondary taxation on companies  4 0,3  3 0,2

  foreign taxation  23 1,9  95 5,2

To reinvest in business

  retained income  56 4,5  491 26,8

  depreciation and amortisation  142 11,5  123 6,7

  deferred taxation (39) (3,2)  8 0,4

1 233 100 1 834 100

Value added is a measure of the wealth created by the Group and its employees through its 
various business activities. This statement shows the value added and how it was shared.

2010 2009

Number of employees 2 668 2 498

Revenue per employee (R’000) 3 308 4 448

Value created 
per employee (R’000) 462 734

Corporate social investment
(% of profit after tax) 3,7  0,4 

Value added ratios

Audited
31 March

2010
%

Change

Audited
31 March

2009

Revenue (Rm)  8 827  (21)  11 111

Operating profit (Rm)  279  (68)  877

Profit after taxation (Rm)  58  (88)  491

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders (Rm)  56  (89)  491

Capital expenditure (Rm)  385  49  258

Basic earnings per share (cents)#  122  (89)  1 107

Fully diluted basic earnings per share (cents)@  122  (89)  1 062

Headline earnings per share (cents)#  81  (93)  1 114

Fully diluted headline earnings per share (cents)@  80  (92)  1 069

Final dividend per share (cents) paid*^  150  28  117

Interim dividend per share (cents) paid*  –  100

Final dividend declared as a capitalisation award 
subsequent to the year end in respect of earnings 
for the current year (cents)*^  –  150

Total dividend in respect of earnings for 
the current year (cents)*  –  250

Equity (Rm)  1 971  (8)  2 137

Net worth per share (cents)*  4 240  (12)  4 816

Net interest-bearing liabilities (Rm)  404  (58)  952

Return on average equity (%) 3%  (90) 31%

Market capitalisation (Rm)  2 924  27  2 307

#  Based on 45 904 094 (2009: 44 315 876) ordinary shares in issue, which excludes those held 
by the Share Incentive Scheme.

@  Based on 46 027 208 (2009: 46 204 464) ordinary shares in issue, which excludes those held 
by the Share Incentive Scheme which are not vesting.

*  Based on 46 490 987 (2009: 44 370 004) ordinary shares in issue, which excludes those held 
by the Share Incentive Scheme.

^  Shareholders could elect to receive 145 cents per share instead of the capitalisation award.
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 Chemicals

 Mining

 Agriculture

GROUP AT A GLANCE

DIVISIONAL INFO

Chemicals

Protea Chemicals is a well-established manufacturer and distributor of speciality, functional and effect chemicals 
and polymers, with a major presence in every sector of the broader chemical distribution market. Operating throughout 
South Africa and widely across the African continent, the company represents a large number of domestic and 
international principals, counting among its suppliers many of the world’s leading chemical producers.

����������	�
�������������

 Mining 

Omnia offers a broad range of services to the mining industry through its Mining division which comprises BME 
and Protea Mining Chemicals.

BME is a market leader in blended bulk explosives formulations for the open cast mining industry, produces mining 
accessories and shocktube initiation systems and manufactures packaged explosives for underground mining and 
specialised surface blasting operations. The company adds value to its products through its world-class blasting 
consultancy service which offers customers support and advice from industry experts and highly qualified 
mining engineers.

Protea Mining Chemicals offers value added services to complement its wide range of chemical products. 
These include offerings such as Protea Process™, a comprehensive service that covers the handling, logistics 
and on site formulation of chemicals for its customers.

  Agriculture 

Omnia’s Agriculture division, the market leader in southern Africa, comprises Omnia Fertilizer and Omnia Specialities. 
The division produces granular, liquid and speciality fertilizers for a broad customer base of farmers, co-operatives 
and wholesalers throughout southern and East Africa, Australia, New Zealand and Brazil. The division is expanding 
its influence in Europe, South America and Asia, where it is increasing its sales of speciality products.

The Omnia Agriculture division’s range of specialised products and services are encompassed by its unique Nutriology® 
offering, which assists customers to optimise crop yield and quality.

  1   Angola 
 2  Australia
 3  Botswana
 4   Brazil
 5  Democratic Republic of Congo
 6  Ethiopia
 7  Kenya
 8  Lesotho

 9  Madagascar
 10    Malawi
 11  Mali
 12  Mauritania
 13    Mauritius
 14    Mozambique
 15  Namibia
 16  New Zealand

 17  Senegal
 18    South Africa
 19  Sudan
 20  Swaziland
 21    Tanzania
 22  Uganda
 23    Zambia
 24    Zimbabwe
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OUR VISION

 CREATING CUSTOMER WEALTH BY LEVERAGING KNOWLEDGE

 Our business model, which leverages our intellectual capital and technology, differentiates 

us from com modity chemical companies. Through the application of our intellectual and 

technological capacity, we create value by developing differentiated products and services 

relevant to the specific and evolving needs of our customers. 

To grow our business, we continue to increase the value we offer our local and 

international customers through ongoing enhancement of our products, innova tive 

product development and our dedication to providing exceptional service backed 

by the specialised knowledge of our people.

COUNTRIES 24

CUSTOMERS +8 000

EMPLOYEES 2 668

REVENUE OF R8,8 BILLION

 Balanced business leading to risk diversification 
and growing opportunities.

OUR VALUE PROPOSITION
Differentiated product
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CHAIRMAN’S REPORT

My report last year described 2009 as a turbulent year – one of 
two halves. This was highlighted by the change in normal buying 
trends as volumes and sales grew exponentially in the first half 
of the financial year, with farmers, uncertain of what the future 
held, stockpiling fertilizer. A significant drop off in volumes and 
sales occurred in the second half of the financial year 2009, 
and the traditional peak sales period around September 2009 did 
not materialise. The rapid strengthening of the rand against the 
US dollar in the first few months of the 2010 financial year left 
the division facing major write-downs in stock values. 
The atypical 2009 financial year materially affected earnings for 
the year ended 31 March 2010. The continuing global economic 
slowdown was another contributing factor, impacting severely 
on the international chemicals industry in particular.

A challenging year for the Chemicals Division

Protea Chemicals had a challenging year, with volumes declining 
11% as the South African economy was exposed to similar 
conditions as the generally depressed global circumstances. 
The continuing strength of the rand impacted severely on the 
division, reducing rand margins and putting significant pressure 
on operational costs. 

The strategic acquisition of Petroleum Fine Products during the 
year represents a carefully considered move to further enhance 
the product and growth opportunities available to the Division. 

It will allow Omnia to have access to essential bulk base 
ingredients and will further strengthen Omnia’s existing 
consumer care portfolio and will build on one of Omnia’s stated 
objectives to grow the business and enhance margins through 
vertical integration and forward blending strategies.

Protea Chemicals and Nalco, the world’s leading water treatment 
and process improvement company based in Illinois, USA, 
formed an Associate. We believe this Associate, named Nalco 
Africa, will enable Omnia to assist its clients to significantly 
reduce their environmental impact using Nalco’s industrial 
water and process treatment technologies. This partnership 
complements our existing chemicals business and demonstrates 
our continued commitment to growing our business through 
proactive management of South Africa’s scarce water resources 
in the critical area of water improvement.

The office in Shanghai, China, is operational and is showing 
signs that it will contribute to enhancing the diversity of Protea 
Chemicals’ supplier base as well as improving the quality of 
raw materials sourced from China. 

Continued development in the Mining Division

Although the ongoing global recession and declining commodity 
prices impacted negatively on the productivity of some 
customers, BME continued to develop strongly in line with 
the mining sector in which it operates. Coal mining will remain 
a key commodity as Eskom’s demand for coal increases to 
supply the new power stations under construction. 

The division’s new shock tube plant is producing good quality 
product off a low cost base, which will assist it to penetrate the 
underground accessory market. Deep level miners have come 
to appreciate the advantages of modern shocktube initiation 
systems over the traditional “fuse and ignitor cord” system.

The design of BME’s latest generation electronic delay detonator 
has been completed and field trials have begun. This design 
represents a significant step forward in the technology and we 
believe that the product will add considerably to improvements 
in blasting that will enhance our customers’ ability to mine 
in the most cost-effective manner, with added safety benefits. 

Protea Mining Chemicals has continued to develop strongly in 
Namibia. However, a number of our customers’ uranium projects 
are running significantly behind schedule, which has impacted 
negatively on the division. These delays are largely resolved 
and it is expected that good progress will be made in the 
coming year to bring these large projects on stream. 

A year of mixed fortunes in Agriculture 

Farmers in the central summer planting region of South Africa 
had a year of highlights and lowlights. Rainfall patterns were 
very favourable and summer crop production is close to all time 
highs. Prices have fallen dramatically in line with the continuing 
strong rand/US dollar exchange rate and significant drop in 
commodity prices, and have reached export parity levels. 
The maize crop is significantly higher than local demand 
and large tonnages are theoretically available for export. 
Unfortunately, the infrastructure for exporting maize is no 
longer capable of managing large tonnages, which means 
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The difficult trading conditions of the 2009 financial year continued 

into the 2010 reporting period. The rapid strengthening of the rand against 

the US dollar in the first few months of the 2010 financial year materially 

affected earnings for the year ended 31 March 2010.

 

Omnia promotes the creation of food security



construction of a nitric acid complex for the capital sum of 
R1,4 billion, which the Board believes to be very competitively 
priced. Funding of the project relies on a rights offer to 
shareholders of 20 million shares at R50 each and appropriate 
debt finance. 

A major consideration for the Board was the delay in the 
implementation by the DTI of incentive policies, provided for 
by Section 12(I) of the Income Tax Act, specifically aimed at 
assisting companies with projects such as this one. The Omnia 
Board has approved the project, even though the regulations 
have not yet been published and will approach the DTI for its 
favourable consideration of an investment that is of such 
strategic importance to our country. Project completion is 
scheduled for the end of the first quarter of 2012. 

The approval of this project represents a significant milestone 
in the history of Omnia and demonstrates the faith that the 
Board has in the development of mining and agriculture in 
the southern African region.

I offer my sincere thanks to our shareholders and financiers who 
have received the project positively and have indicated their 
willingness to participate in raising the necessary capital. 

Transformation and empowerment 

Omnia has always believed in incentivising management and 
staff to produce earnings and develop the company in such a 
way as to achieve the objectives set by shareholders. The Board 
has followed an aggressive remuneration policy that offers 
incentives to employees, both short-term and long-term in nature. 

In addition, the Group regards transformation and employee 
empowerment as integral to our sustainability as a company 
operating in South Africa. We have always believed in the value 
of employee ownership, and aim to deepen our partnership with 
the people whose hard work and dedication directly contribute 
to the success of the company. With this goal in mind, we 
created in 2007, the initial empowerment partner – Sakhile 1 – 
as a share incentive scheme for our employees, thereby offering 
all of them the opportunity to share in the growing wealth of the 
Group, and addressing historical disparities in income and social 
well-being of all South Africans. Subsequently, additional 
structures have been put in place to continue to develop long 
term transformation initiatives and the essence of the newly 
created long-term policies is summarised below: 

 Sakhile 1: created in 2007 offering shares in Omnia 
to employees other than employees participating in the 
Third Partnership with Management Scheme; 

 Sakhile 2: created in 2009 with the intention of retaining 
senior black employees as well as attracting talented 
black individuals to join the Group; 

 Partnership with Management Scheme no. 4: Omnia has 
had several schemes over more than 20 years designed 
to incentivise management to achieve targets set by 
shareholders for periods of five years. Scheme no. 4 
continues the philosophy for the financial periods 2010 
to 2014; and 

 Executive Scheme (Nanotron): for the first time a scheme 
has been introduced with the specific aim of offering 
a limited group of the top management team the opportunity 
to participate in the share ownership of the Group. 

that the country will have a significant stock carryover into 
the 2010 maize planting season. This could affect the hectares 
to be planted. 

The issues associated with land reform continue to impact upon 
the development of agriculture in South Africa to the detriment 
of the country. Until stakeholders enter into serious debate on 
how to practically resolve the problems of land ownership, 
commercial food production will be hampered and the 
development of the agricultural sector will be compromised. 

Agriculture in South Africa will continue to be under pressure 
until government realises that the sector needs to be protected 
from unfair competition from highly subsidised agricultural 
products. The impact of an unsupported, weakening agricultural 
sector will lead to de-industrialisation as the downstream 
processing of agricultural products slows in preference to cheap 
imported products, with the resultant impact on investment and 
job retention. 

The project at Mpongwe in Zambia, where Omnia is developing 
a deep agronomic understanding of the optimal way to grow 
Jatropha to produce biodiesel, has reached the stage where 
the refining plant has been built and small quantities of biodiesel 
will be produced for internal consumption during the next 
few months. 

Investing in new capacity 

Highly capital intensive sectors such as the chemical industry 
go through periods of significant change infrequently. The South 
African fertilizer sector is no different and is for the first time 
in many years going through such a phase. 

This financial year has seen a major competitor, Yara, sell its 
retail assets in South Africa. This, together with the recent 
Competition Commission agreement with Sasol Nitro to divest 
of its regional blending operations, withdraw from retail 
operations and to focus on nitrogenous production at its 
Secunda site, has major implications for the way in which the 
domestic fertilizer industry will develop over the next few years. 
Sasol Nitro has also announced the closure and possible sale 
of its Phosphoric Acid plant in Phalaborwa. Omnia Fertilizer 
remains as the only integrated producer and retailer of fertilizer 
in South Africa.

In our 2009 annual report reference was made to the 
requirement to invest in new production plants in order to 
achieve the targets set for our fourth five-year strategic plan. 
Omnia is in the position that it is short of nitric acid production 
and has, over several years, been forced to supplement its own 
production by the purchase of materials from its competitors 
as well as large scale imports of LAN and urea. The growth in 
demand for ammonium nitrate, produced from nitric acid, for 
the explosives sector has exacerbated the situation significantly, 
to the point where the Board had to give serious consideration 
to the building of a second nitric acid complex. This would 
substantially reduce imports and provide BME with the 
ammonium nitrate required to ensure that the division maintains 
its strong position in the explosives sector as mining develops 
in southern Africa. 

The downturn in the economies of Europe as well as the relative 
strength of the rand to the euro signalled that the time is right 
for such an investment. Through judicious engineering and 
procurement, Omnia Fertilizer has presented a project for the 
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The long running (seven-year) investigation by the Competition 
Commission into alleged collusion between members of the 
fertilizer industry is not yet resolved. The costs associated with 
legal counsel and ineffective use of management time is taking 
its toll on the company and it is hoped that this matter can be 
brought to a conclusion during the coming financial year. 

Appreciation

It is not easy to appreciate the difficult circumstances that affect 
managers in South African businesses faced with extreme 
volatility in commodity prices, fluctuating exchange rates and 
pressures on expenses from increased governance 
requirements, wage demands and environmental matters. 
The Omnia management team, under the leadership of Rod 
Humphris, has grappled with these challenges throughout the 
past financial year and I wish them the fortitude and the degree 
of luck they need to bring their business units back to the levels 
of performance that we know they are capable of achieving. 

Omnia’s decision to invest significantly in new production 
capacity will create a platform for the development of the Group 
into the future – a platform that supports our agricultural and 
mining customers into the next decade. This decision was not 
easy and my colleagues on the Board deserve a vote of thanks 
for standing up against the growing trend in South Africa of 
de-industrialisation, a trend that would result in the country 
becoming increasingly dependent on imported products. 
We appreciate the effort and hope that we can rely on their 
support in the coming years. 

Johan Pretorius chose to retire during the year. During his tenure 
of 24 years on our Board, he has participated in all the major 
decisions that have shaped the company Omnia is today, both 
as chairman for a few years as well as non-executive director. 
His wit and wisdom are missed. 

Raisaka Masebelanga regretfully suffered from ill health during 
the year and resigned his position as executive director. 
We hope that he makes a full and rapid recovery. 

Delwin Eggers will retire as Group finance director and as 
executive director of Omnia with effect from 31 August 2010. 
Noel Fitz-Gibbon has been appointed as Group finance director 
– designate with immediate effect. Delwin will be remembered 
for his exemplary service to the Group, and most recently, for 
the extremely successful capital raising exercise he conducted 
to fund the newly approved nitric acid complex. He will be sorely 
missed, and our heartfelt thanks and warm wishes go to him 
as he enters retirement. 

Financial year 2010 has been one of extremes, a year to forget 
and yet also to remember, a year of disappointment and 
courage, but above all a year in which the decision was made 
to create a new platform for the Group to grow into the future, 
which reaffirmed that we are a strong organisation that has 
a role to play in developing our people and our country. 

NJ Crosse
Group chairman

Participants were required to invest their own capital in the 
scheme and are subject to the same performance conditions 
as the Partnership with Management Scheme. 

The latter two schemes are based on the Group growing 
earnings at a compound real rate of 8% off a starting point 
of profit after tax of R383 million for a five-year period starting 
in financial year 2010. 

Moving forward

The disappointing results for 2010 have resulted in the need 
for considerable work to be done in order to meet the Group’s 
five-year strategic plan. Fortunately, strong cash flow generation 
of R1 045 million in the year positions the Group to continue 
with its planned acquisitions and other business development 
activities in the current year. 

The strength of the rand continues to negatively impact on 
earnings in Protea Chemicals and it will be challenging to 
produce a meaningful improvement in performance in 2011. 
However, the reorganisation of the division is expected to 
reduce costs, optimise the allocation of resources and focus 
the business, and this will positively impact the Chemicals 
division in the year ahead.

BME is well positioned in a sector that is showing increasing 
activity, and is expected to show a significant improvement in 
earnings from both sales of shocktube and the new electronic 
detonator going to market for the first time. 

The Fertilizer division is expected to recover to its normal 
profitability, but the impact of a maize surplus may negatively 
affect plantings in the coming summer season. We will continue 
to add value to our customers by utilising our Nutriology® 
concept to maximize farmers’ profitability.

Overall, the Group is expected to return to its historical earnings 
pattern in financial year 2011. 

The Board decided not to pay a dividend in 2010, given the poor 
financial results as well as the coming capital expenditure 
programme associated with the nitric acid complex. This policy 
will be reviewed later in the year, but it is probable that the 
preservation of capital in order to fund the large capital 
expansions envisaged, could lead to this approach to dividends 
continuing in the 2011 financial year. 

We are confident that despite the poor earnings in 2010, 
our management teams are incentivised to find innovative 
ways to deal with the challenges of the next few years. 



8 OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010

31 March
2010

Rm

31 March
2009

Rm

31 March
2008

Rm

31 March
2007

Rm

31 March
2006

Rm

Income statements
Revenue  8 827  11 111  7 340  5 537  4 331

Operating profit 279 877 584  422  289

Finance costs, net (173) (164) (112) (58) (59)

Income from associates* 3 5 – – –

Profit before taxation 109 718 472 364  230

Taxation (51) (227) (159) (118) (76)

Profit for the year 58 491 313 246  154

Minority interest (2) – 4 – –

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders 56 491 317  246  154

Impairment of property, plant and equipment# – 3 – – –

Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and equipment  1 – 2 (1) –

Profit on businesses contributed to associate (20) – – – –

Headline earnings 37 494 319 245 154

Ordinary dividends paid during the year

Prior year final (40) (51) (40) (38) (35)

Current year interim – (45) (36) (30) (25)

(40) (96) (76) (68) (60)

Balance sheets
Capital and reserves attributable to the equity holders 
of the company  1 973  2 139  1 583  1 248  1 018

Minority interest (2) (2) (2)  2  2

Non-current liabilities 805  671  288  33  29

Deferred income tax liabilities 80  118  104  83  88

Current liabilities  2 331  2 831  2 466  1 757  1 362

Equity and liabilities  5 187  5 757  4 439  3 123  2 499

Non-current fixed assets and investments  1 398  1 155  995  760  642

Non-current intangible assets 537  517  517  436  455

Deferred income tax assets 9  14  8  3  4

Current assets  3 243  4 071  2 919  1 924  1 398

Assets  5 187  5 757  4 439  3 123  2 499

Net interest-bearing debt 404  952  451  265  303

Cash flows
Cash generated from operations 524  1 053  689  496  354

Financial costs and taxation (284) (452) (252) (162) (140)

Movement in working capital 805 (744) (138) (60)  1

Cash available from/(utilised by) operating activities  1 045 (143) 299  274  215

Dividends paid (40) (96) (76) (68) (60)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  1 005 (239)  223  206 155

Net cash outflow from investing activities (466) (257) (413) (175) (87)

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  180 389  323 7 (147)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  719 (107) 133 38 (79)

* Interest in Zambian associate (ETC Bio-Energy Limited) and South African associate (Nalco Africa (Pty) Limited) equity accounted for.
# Property, plant and equipment in Zimbabwe.

 FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL REVIEW

 at 31 March 2010
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31 March
2010

31 March
2009

31 March
2008

31 March
2007

31 March
2006

Statistical information
Earnings, dividends and ordinary shares

Earnings per share (cents)  122,0  1 107,4  718,2  560,3  353,2 

Dividends per share for the year (cents)* –  250,0  200,0  160,0  145,0 

Interim dividends per share (cents) –  100,0  83,0  70,0  60,0 

Dividend cover –  4,4  3,6  3,5  2,4 

Net asset value per share (cents)  4 240  4 816  3 572  2 844  2 339

Number of shares in issue at year end (000’s)  46 491  44 370  44 263  43 943  43 607

Number of shares held by Share Incentive Scheme 
and not included above (000’s)  759  807  914  1 234  1 570

Number of employees  2 668  2 498  2 388  1 926  1 905

Profitability, liquidity and leverage
Operating profit as a percentage of sales 3,2% 7,9% 8,0% 7,6% 6,7%

Effective tax rate (including secondary tax on companies) 46,8% 31,6% 33,6% 32,5% 33,1%

Return on average equity 2,7% 31,1% 24,3% 21,6% 15,9%

Net debt to equity percentage 20,5% 44,5% 28,5% 21,2% 29,7%

Current ratio  1,4  1,4  1,2  1,1  1,0 

EBIT finance cost cover  1,6  5,3  5,2  7,3  4,9 

EBITDA finance cost cover  2,7  6,3  6,0  8,7  6,3 

Share performance
Market value per share (cents)

– at year end  6 289  5 200  7 100  6 600  4 410

– highest  6 360  8 398  8 400  6 700  4 550

– lowest  4 901  4 000  6 255  4 170  3 500

Value of shares traded (R’000)  953 664 1 457 948 1 392 093 1 127 461  777 764

Volume of shares traded (000’s)  16 493  22 324  19 178  20 896  19 426

Share volumes traded as a percentage of total 
issued shares 34,9% 49,4% 42,5% 46,3% 43,0%

Definitions
 1.  Earnings per share – profit attributable to ordinary shareholders divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year, 

excluding shares held by Share Incentive Scheme.
 2.  Dividend cover – earnings per share divided by the dividend per share for the year.
 3.  Net asset value per share – ordinary shareholders’ equity and minority interest divided by the number of shares in issue at year end, excluding the shares held by 

Share Incentive Scheme.
 4.  Number of shares in issue at year end – shares issued less shares held by Share Incentive Scheme.
 5.  Return on average equity – profit attributable to ordinary shareholders expressed as a percentage of the average opening and closing ordinary shareholders’ equity.
 6.  Net debt to equity percentage – debt expressed as a percentage of all ordinary shareholders’ equity plus minority interest.
 7.  Net debt – interest-bearing liabilities net of cash resources.
 8.  Current ratio – current assets divided by current liabilities.
 9.  EBIT finance cost cover – operating profit before finance cost and tax divided by finance cost .
10.  EBITDA finance cost cover – operating profit before finance cost, tax, depreciation, amortisation and share-based payment expense divided by finance cost.

  *  Includes a capitalisation award of 150 cents as a final dividend for the 2009 year. Shareholders could elect to receive a cash dividend of 145 cents instead of the 
capitalisation award.
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A COMPELLING INVESTMENT PROPOSITION

The Omnia Group is using unrivalled expertise in Africa to create value 

for customers by positioning the Group as a strong regional partner 

seeking answers to the pressing problems of food security and water 

resource management.
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OUR VALUES

The Omnia Group is characterised by a strong and distinctive culture. Combining 

the values of a family business with the virtues and strengths of a professionally 

managed public company, Omnia displays a robust spirit of enterprise underpinned 

by a reputation for the highest levels of integrity. 

The world today faces the compounding problems associated 
with food security and insufficient global agricultural production, 
the dwindling availability of water resources and environmental 
change created by shifting global weather patterns. These 
problems are pitted against the need to drive global economic 
growth, particularly in developing countries. In an increasingly 
resource-strapped world, governments and businesses are 
focusing on finding sustainable solutions to these 
fundamental challenges.

The Omnia Group is involved in food production through the 
development and marketing of fertilizers, the management of 
water resources through its chemicals business, and is using 
its unrivalled expertise in Africa by implementing its business 
model focused on creating value for customers, positioning it 
as a strong partner in finding regional solutions for these 
pressing issues.

The Group continues to enhance its core operations and make 
strategic acquisitions to strengthen its unique position in Africa 
in relation to these critical global challenges.

The Africa opportunity

  Long regarded as a developing continent beset by a 
myriad of socio-economic and political challenges, Africa 
demonstrated resilience during the recent global recession. 
Many African economies continued to grow, offering 
attractive opportunities for long-term investment in the 
infrastructure, industrial and commercial sectors.

  Underpinning this economic growth has been a commitment 
to legislative and regulatory reform and the implementation 
of “investor-friendly” policies to encourage direct 
foreign investment.

  The continent continues to be a source of the commodities 
and minerals required across the globe. 

  The preservation of water resources and its utilisation in 
industry is becoming a focus of concern for African 
government and business, who are co-operating in ventures 
to reduce pollution and wastage of this precious resource. 

The mining opportunity

As a leading supplier of explosives and mining chemicals, 

Omnia is highly regarded for its expertise in assisting 

mines with locally developed solutions that enhance 

safety and productivity in the recovery and processing 

of essential commodities.

  Africa has vast mineral resources, ranging from gold, 
platinum, coal and copper to chrome and uranium. 
The unlocking of this mineral wealth is vital to the 
continued prosperity of developed countries as well as 
the world’s emerging economic giants, China and India.

  Despite the recent volatility in the demand and prices of 
key commodities, the African mining industry will retain 
its importance as a regional and global supplier of 
mineral resources. 



The agricultural opportunity

Strategically positioned as a leading supplier of fertilizer 

and agronomic expertise, Omnia’s holistic and specialist 

offerings contribute to sustainable food production through 

the intensification of agriculture, as well as reduced rural 

poverty and sound environmental practices in farming.

  Less land available internationally for agriculture, increasing 
populations, dietary changes, increased urbanisation, and 
changing weather patterns have resulted in global demand 
for cereal crops exceeding supply, a situation that has led to 
increasing prices and food inflation.

  Against this background, increasing agricultural yields 
and the productive use of farmland has become an 
international focus.

  Private Public Partnerships and the participation of Non 
Governmental Organisations in finding solutions to food 
security challenges and creating sustainable agricultural 
models, will play an increasingly important role in reforming 
present farming practices and assisting emerging farmers 
in the development of sustainable commercial 
farming enterprises.

  As nations work to meet the spiralling demand for energy, 
the mining industry will continue to benefit from increasing 
global demand for coal. South Africa, with its massive 
resources of coal suitable for use in power generation and 
industrial furnaces, is well positioned to benefit. 

  The key role that nuclear energy will play in providing 
energy will favour southern Africa, which is a major source 
of uranium.

The alternative energy opportunity

Omnia, with its expertise in mining and agriculture, 

is positioned to assist governments and producers 

in southern Africa to extract the opportunities and reap 

the benefits in nuclear energy and the promising field 

of biofuel production.

  The search for alternative forms of energy continues, driven 
by a world whose over-reliance on crude oil has been tested 
by volatile economic conditions. This has led to volatility in 
pricing of goods, services and transport.

  Biofuels, producing energy from biomass waste, and 
renewed interest in the use of hydro, wind, solar, wave 
and nuclear power will inevitably come into their own as 
the world seeks sources for sustainable and renewable 
“clean power”.
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Omnia’s positioning in mining, alternative energy and agriculture 

will ensure that the Group has a key future role to play in South Africa 

and across the African continent.

               Growth presen
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 GROUP MANAGEMENT AND DIRECTORATE

Rod Scott (73)
Independent non-executive director

Joined board in 2003

Previous managing director 
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Neville Crosse (57)
Non-executive chairman 

Chairman of remuneration committee

BSc Chem Eng, MBL 

Joined board in 1990 

Appointed chairman in 2000 
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Frank Butler (58) 
Independent non-executive director

BSc Chem Eng, MBA

Joined board in 2002
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Joined board in 2005

Consultant

Dr Willie Marais (54)
Non-executive director 

BCom, DBA
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Joined the board as a full member in 2007

Director of companies

Ralph Havenstein (53) 
Independent non-executive director 
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Joined board in 2007
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 GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR’S REPORT

The effect of both declining commodity prices and the 

appreciation of the rand on the Group’s earnings, were 

highlighted during a year in which reduced demand for 

products in the declining agricultural, manufacturing and 

mining sectors placed pressure on margins and profitability.

Conditions continued to reflect the global recession that 
disrupted Omnia’s markets in 2009. The tough conditions were 
most keenly felt in the first half of the 2010 financial year.

In the face of challenging conditions, the Omnia Group 

continued both to provide its customers with high-value 

customised solutions, and to invest for the future in its 

areas of expertise. To achieve this meant reducing the 

Group’s cost base and refocusing certain operating units 

in the chemicals business for greater effectiveness. 

We continued to make, and integrate, strategic acquisitions 

and partnerships aimed at strengthening Omnia’s position 

in significant market sectors.

In the agricultural sector, the impact of the unusual buying 
patterns experienced in the first half of the 2009 financial year 
carried into the Group’s results for the 2010 financial year. 
As we reported last year, farmers stockpiled fertilizer in an 
attempt to avoid the run in prices over that six-month period. 
Prices tumbled as rapidly and unpredictably as they had risen, 
and the Group was left with substantial volumes of fertilizer 
stocks at the end of the prior financial period. 

Although this inventory was fairly valued at the time at R9,45 
to the US dollar, raw material prices continued to decline and 
the strengthening of the rand to R7,29 to the US dollar resulted 
in material stock write-downs. The Group’s fertilizer stocks were 
devalued by R350 million by the interim stage of the 2010 
financial year. Further devaluations, albeit to a lesser degree, 
of fertilizer stock took place after September.

Within Protea Chemicals, a similar devaluation of polymer stocks 
resulted in trading at near zero margins and occasionally below 
original cost.

By the end of September 2009, which marked the end of the 
first half of the 2010 financial year, there were signs of a slow 
economic recovery.

Investing in our strategic position

Notwithstanding the challenges presented by the unprecedented 
economic circumstances of the last 18 months, we have 
continued to position the Group for a future in which the global 

As a company which operates across defined economic sectors, each with its own distinctive 

characteristics, Omnia reinforces its competitive positioning by: 

 Focusing on unique market offerings that create value and, in so doing, earn a premium.

 Providing specialised solutions to the chemical, mining and agricultural markets.

 Concentrating on growing its international business.

 Meeting international standards for Responsible Care in managing its operations.

OUR STRATEGYOUR STRATEGY
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Notwithstanding the challenges presented by the unprecedented economic 

conditions of the last 18 months, the Group is confident it will reach its 

operational and financial targets in the current five-year cycle.



introduced to boost yields per hectare, the importance of the 
sector as a base for growth and development within Africa will 
increase. Ultimately, due to the vast tracts of land still available 
for agriculture in underdeveloped countries, Africa could find 
itself becoming a net exporter of food.

Through the production and supply of its range of fertilizers and 
its commitment to mentoring and training of emerging farmers, 
Omnia is contributing to developing farming practices that 
support higher yields per hectare and sustainable crop production.

Investing in new technology to enable 

responsible growth

Omnia continues to focus on the use of energy efficient 
technologies and reducing the Group’s environmental impact. 
The implementation of new technology at Omnia’s Sasolburg 
plant has significantly reduced greenhouse gas emissions and 
has achieved a 63% reduction in the facility’s carbon footprint.

In line with Omnia’s investment in new technology, is the 
authorised construction of an additional nitric acid complex. 
At a cost of R1,4 billion, the plant will be partially financed 
through a R1 billion equity programme in the form of a rights 
and claw back offer.

The development of the complex will significantly enhance 
the Group’s capacity to produce nitric acid and ammonium 
nitrate. The world-class technology involved, represents one of 
Omnia’s largest investments yet, and demonstrates the Group’s 
commitment to, and confidence in, South Africa’s mining and 
agriculture sectors at a time when few other projects of this 
magnitude are being undertaken.

Adjacent to the existing plant, the new complex will more than 
double present capacity.

Investing in specialised skills and 

customer service

Omnia’s major strength lies in its ability to provide differentiated 
offerings supported by specialised knowledge and expert advice. 
The Group’s skills base, which includes chemical engineers, 
mining engineers, agronomists and other specialists, has 
contributed to the Group establishing a reputation as a 
“knowledge leader” in its areas of operation. This has led 
to strong relationships with customers – a point of major 
differentiation between Omnia and its competitors. 

In addition, the Group is investing in enabling technology to 
ensure that the expertise of our people is supported by the 
highest standards of customer service. Omnia has continued 
with the installation of the sophisticated QAD software system, 
which will enable operating efficiencies and improved customer 
service by providing a standardised information and transactional 
platform across the Group.

Financial and operating performance

Group revenue for the year under review decreased by 21% 
to R8,8 billion (2009: R11 billion) and an operating profit of 
R58 million was recorded (2009: R491 million). Basic 
earnings per share were down by 89% to 122,0 cents 

importance of securing sustainable supplies of water, food and 
energy, can only heighten. The Group is well positioned in the 
maintenance and management of potable water, the 
maximisation and purification of water resources used in mining 
and manufacturing, and the provision of fertilizers to maximise 
food production. 

The Group’s strategy to add value to the provision of such 
basic commodities, in which sustainability of supply is 
indivisible from global and regional wellbeing, augurs well 
for its growth prospects.

The World Economic Forum warns that many countries are on 
the verge of “water bankruptcy”. It predicts that the current 
situation, where one in three people globally is affected by water 
scarcity, could worsen. Population growth is expected to 
exacerbate the situation to the point where half the world’s 
population is faced with water shortages.

The Group is active in the water resources sector through 
Zetachem, which supplies water treatment chemicals used in 
the production of potable water. Complementing this business 
is Nalco Africa, a new associate between Omnia and Nalco 
of the USA, the world leader in industrial water treatment 
and process improvement. Established in early 2010, the 
associate company will assist its customers to reduce their 
consumption of energy, water and other natural resources, 
as well as minimise their environmental emissions.

The United Nations predicts that agricultural output will need 
to be doubled and food production increased by 70% to feed 
a world population expected to grow to 9 billion people by 
2050. However, the increasing shortage of arable land, with 
land available for cultivation having reduced from just over 
0,5 hectares per person in 1950 to 0,25 hectares per person 
in 2000, is hampering efforts to feed the world. 

Africa lags behind the world in agricultural production. Inefficient 
agricultural techniques have resulted in arable land being lost to 
wind, water and soil erosion. As the quality of farming land has 
deteriorated, subsistence farmers have expanded their fields 
and deforested large tracts of land.

Agriculture, traditionally the economic base for many African 
countries, is moving steadily away from its origins as a 
subsistence activity geared to meet local needs. As investments 
in commercial farming increase and chemical fertilizers are 
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began to improve towards year end. Revenue for the period 
reduced by 16% to R1,8 billion (2009: R2,1 billion). Operating 
profit of R212 million (2009: R269 million) was 21% below that 
of an extraordinary 2009 financial year, with the operating margin 
declining marginally from 12,7% for the year ended 31 March 
2009 to 11,9% for the year under review. 

The slow but steady rally in commodity prices, which is being 
fuelled by demand for coal from the energy sector and 
developing countries such as China and India, bodes well for an 
improved performance in the next financial year. The demand 
for bulk explosives, although lower compared to last year, has 
shown good signs of recovery.

The division commenced production of shocktube at the 
Losberg facility. This will add a new dimension to the company 
by enabling it to rapidly and flexibly respond to demand and 
deliver on customer orders as required. 

Volume growth and profitability will be assisted by the growing 
acceptance of shocktube technology for use in deep level 
mining. Traditionally dominated by standard “cap and cord” 
technology, this sector has begun to appreciate the advantages 
of shocktube technology, which include safety improvements, 
better control of explosions and higher ore yield. 

BME, which has led the field in the use of shocktube technology 
in open cast mines, is well positioned to benefit from 
this transition and is expected to substantially increase its 
market share. 

Another example of BME leading innovation in explosives 
application technology, is its home-grown development of 
electronic delay detonator technology. Rated as one of the most 
advanced systems of its type in the world, this user-friendly 
system will enable mines to make further safety gains, reduce 
ore extraction costs, and increase operational efficiency and 
productivity. 

Agriculture 
During the 2010 financial year, fertilizer selling prices decreased 
significantly by an average of 35%. As a result, divisional 
revenue fell by 17% to R3,7 billion (2009: R4,5 billion). Due to 
the challenging trading conditions and inventory write-down 
detailed previously, an operating loss of R85 million was 
recorded for the period (2009: R410 million profit). 

The market conditions that led to farmers stockpiling fertilizer 
began to abate as raw material prices returned to more realistic 
levels, bringing some stability to a previously highly volatile 
market. During the current financial year, farmers reverted to 
traditional buying patterns and confidence has returned to the 
industry as a result of good maize crops. Sugar production, 
which has been ramped up to take advantage of high prices, 
will add impetus to sales. 

As Omnia is one of only two South African suppliers of a 
complete range of granular, liquid and speciality fertilizers, the 
benefits of a recovery in agricultural prosperity will be significant. 

The division will continue to support growth within the 
agricultural sector by assisting farmers with the technical 
expertise required to increase crop yields and improve the 
fertility of their soil. Omnia’s ability to offer its customers 

(2009: 1 107,4 cents), and headline earnings per share fell 
to 80,6 cents (2009: 1 114,2 cents).

Total running expenses net of other income decreased by 6% 
to R1,1 billion (2009: R1,2 billion).

Carbon credits, generated since 2008, were sold for the first 
time during the year under review.

Chemicals
Protea Chemicals operated in a challenging environment 
characterised by decreasing commodity prices and a 
strengthening rand, which squeezed margins and resulted in 
the write-down of higher priced stocks in the polymers business. 

Revenue contracted by 26% to R3,3 billion (2009: R4,5 billion) 
with a corresponding reduction in operating profit of 23% to 
R152 million (2009: R198 million). The operating profit margin 
was maintained at 4,5%. However, if the profit on contribution 
of business to Nalco is excluded, this fell to 4%.

The assets of the EcoGypsum™ plant, which commenced 
production during the 2009 financial year and produces 
gypsum for cement manufacture and use in cement board 
(EnviroGypsum™), were incorporated into Protea Chemicals 
during the year. This gave the chemicals business full financial 
responsibility for this manufacturing unit.

The acquisition of Highchem in East Africa and its incorporation 
into the polymers business was concluded. However, production 
problems at Sasol Polymers, a key supplier to the business, 
negatively impacted results. 

During the year, the Group acquired Petroleum Fine Products. 
The company produces petroleum jelly, a mainstay product in 
the consumer care field, and technical oil. The business will be 
integrated into Protea Chemicals’ Consumer Care division. 

The acquisition is in line with the Group’s strategy to strengthen 
vertical integration within Omnia’s businesses to improve 
margins. It is consistent with the Group’s stated intention to 
reinforce the chemicals business through an increased focus 
on product manufacturing, rather than confining its activities 
to distribution. This will enable Omnia to take advantage of 
opportunities within its areas of interest as they arise. 

Mining
With the decline in global demand during the second half of the 
2009 financial year for many of the commodities mined within 
South Africa, several of the Mining division’s major customers 
cut back production. This had a knock-on effect on purchases 
of explosives, which decreased orders placed with the Group. 
The price of ammonium nitrate, one of the main raw materials 
of explosives manufactured by Omnia, declined sharply in 
late 2008, after reaching record highs. This resulted in margins 
being squeezed.

Sales of mining chemicals were disappointing with volumes, 
particularly to uranium mines, not meeting expectations. 
However, this decline is expected to be temporary as global 
energy demand drives the demand for uranium used in nuclear 
energy plants.

The diversified nature of its activities shielded the Mining 
division from the worst effects of the recession until markets 
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forward. The increasing demand for platinum, copper, iron ore 
and coal should bolster this outlook.

The improved agricultural environment, with the growing focus 
on biofuels, should continue to buoy the fertilizer industry. 
The division’s strong position in Africa is an avenue for future 
growth and increased sales.

In addition, the financial structuring of the nitric acid complex 
will preserve Omnia’s strong balance sheet, which will be used 
to finance suitable growth opportunities while safeguarding 
the Group from further volatility in world financial markets. 

We will continue to assess acquisitions prudently and make 
careful investments to strengthen our strategic position.

Appreciation

During the year under review, Omnia regrettably lost the 
services of Edu Cloete, joint managing director of the Chemicals 
division. A highly respected leader and colleague, Edu took early 
retirement bringing to an end his substantial contribution to the 
company over many years. Edu’s dedication to Omnia is highly 
appreciated and we wish him well in his retirement.

My thanks to my colleagues on the Board who make their 
support and wisdom available at all times, and to my 
management team whose dedication and skill helped steer 
the Group through stormy seas into calmer waters. I salute 
the persistence and positive attitude of all our people. I extend 
special thanks to Delwin Eggers who announced his retirement 
with effect from 31 August 2010. His contribution to the 
executive team has been invaluable.

To our customers, who have remained loyal to Omnia through 
one of the most challenging periods in its history, we extend 
our highest appreciation. We look forward to building on our 
valued partnerships during the year ahead.

RB Humphris
Group managing director

the best agronomic advice in all aspects of effective crop 
production will continue to be a major competitive differentiator. 

Running the business for long-term success

Omnia believes that it has an obligation to the society from 
which it derives its success to be an exemplary corporate 
citizen. The Group activates this belief by applying sustainable 
practices across its operations, adopting sound employment 
policies and by running the business for long-term success. 
In so doing, the Group contributes positively to building a 
brighter future for all South Africans.

In line with our positioning as a “knowledge leader” in our areas 
of focus, we invest significantly in training and development 
opportunities for our employees, particularly those discriminated 
against in the past. Besides the strategic importance of 
maintaining a learning culture within the Group, this investment 
represents a tangible contribution to building the skills base 
required to position South Africa as the economic powerhouse 
of Africa.

More broadly, the Group plays a part in improving the conditions 
and economic prospects in the communities in which it operates 
through focused initiatives designed to support activities that are 
aligned to its areas of operational focus. Further details are 
contained within the sustainability report on pages 34 to 64.

The Group’s commitment to managing its environmental 
impacts finds expression in the adoption of environment 
friendly production practices and cleaner technologies, as well 
as the steady reduction of the company’s carbon footprint. 

The sustainability report provides a comprehensive overview 
of the Group’s governance and management practices, impacts 
and contributions in the economic, social and environmental 
spheres.

Prospects for growth

During the year under review, the Omnia Group entered the 
first year of a new five-year planning cycle. Although the 
unprecedented events of 2009 have proved challenging to the 
business, we are confident we will reach our operational and 
financial targets over the five-year cycle. This confidence stems 
from the Group’s strong strategic positioning in sectors vital to 
future development.

A factor that must be considered, however, is the continuing 
strength of the rand. Should this continue, it would impact on 
the translation of the results of our international operations, 
export markets and sales volumes, and ultimately the overall 
performance of the Group.

On the positive side, the indications are that market conditions 
will continue to improve going forward. 

The 14-month period of negative growth in manufacturing output 
ended in July 2009. The positive statistics since then augur well for 
the Chemicals division, although rand strength will be a constraint 
and could limit the benefit of the upturn in manufacturing.

The signing of several key agreements by the Mining division 
will provide the impetus for an improved performance going 
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For Omnia, particularly the Agriculture Division, the foundation 
for the challenges of financial 2010 was created in the 
extraordinary market conditions of 2009. It was these trading 
conditions, influenced by the unprecedented highs and lows 
in essential commodity prices during the year, which led to 
the emergence of sales patterns that were significantly different 
to any previous market conditions yet experienced within the 
division. The result was that the Group was left holding 
substantial fertilizer stocks at the March 2009 year end. 

The decline in commodity prices which started during the latter 
part of the 2009 financial year continued into the 2010 financial 
year and, combined with the effect of further rand strength, 
necessitated a R350 million write-down in the value of fertilizer 
inventory by the time the mid-year interim results were 
announced. Commodity prices continued their downward spiral 
into the second half of the year, when the peak fertilizer season 
normally occurs, while the rand also continued to strengthen.

The combined effect of the decline in commodity prices, rand 
strength and lower levels of economic activity arising from 
conditions of global recession, led to all three divisions facing 
challenges from a combination of softer volumes, pricing 
pressures and weaker export prices. The inevitable reduction 
in earnings that came about is amplified by the comparison 
with the unprecedented buoyant market conditions that 
prevailed in the previous 2009 financial year. 

Although there has been an improvement in volume sales in 
the second half of the 2010 financial year, the persistent 
strength of the rand, the stock write-downs and a share-based 
payment charge of R41 million, relating mainly to the two new 
share participation plans implemented in January 2010, has 
resulted in Group earnings for the year reaching R58 million 
(2009: R491 million). R30 million of the share-based payment 
charge was a once-off charge.

Financial review

Revenue for the year fell by 21% to R8,8 billion (2009: R11,1 billion) 
and, after the initial downward stock adjustment of R350 million 
and further downward price movements, net profit for the year 
declined by 88% to R58 million (2009: R491 million). 

Included in revenue is an amount of R50 million from the sale of 
the first tranche of 400 000 carbon credits. Net production costs 
for these carbon credits amounted to R7 million.

A loss of profits claim in respect of a plant failure in the prior 
year amounting to R32 million is included in the R77 million 
other operating income. Also included is an amount of 
R20˛million profit on the transfer of businesses to the 
Nalco associate.

Administrative expenses reduced by 11% to R487 million 
(2009: R546 million) while distribution expenses increased by 
5% to R674 million (2009: R639 million). 

Finance costs of R217 million (2009: R205 million) comprise 
interest paid, foreign exchange gains or losses and forward 
cover costs. 

A combination of lower interest rates and lower levels and 
values of working capital needing to be funded resulted in 
interest charges reducing by 12% to R185 million (2009: 
R210 million) while exchange rate losses on foreign bank 
accounts and forward cover costs of R23 million occurred 
(2009: R5 million gain). 

Profits were impacted by non-tax deductible items comprising, 
amongst other things, mainly non-cash share-based payments 
of R41 million, and a further R32 million incurred in net non-tax 
deductible expenses which include interest from funding the 
acquisition of shares in Zetachem, resulting in the effective 
charge for taxation of 47%.

Although the second half of the financial year showed improved 
growth, negative conditions persisted. These were the 
continued strength of the rand, further commodity price 
reductions and the once-off share-based payment charge of 
R30 million relating to the new Share Incentive Scheme 
introduced at the end of January 2010. These have resulted 
in Group earnings for the year reaching only R58 million.

Stated capital increased by R117 million to R318 million 
following the issue of shares to management in terms of the 
Third Partnership with Management Scheme, the five-year 
target to financial year end 2009 having been achieved, as well 
as the capitalisation award, in lieu of the election of a cash 
dividend that took place during the year. 

With the strengthening of the rand, the foreign currency 
translation reserve needed to be adjusted negatively by 
R228 million, this being the main reason for the reduction in 
other reserves to R54 million (2009: R286 million) and thus 
also the main reason for the R166 million reduction in total 
equity to R1 971 million (2009: R2 137 million). 

Intangible assets increased by R20 million following the 
acquisition of Petroleum Fine Products, a producer of basic 
personal care ingredients, petroleum jelly and white oils, 
and the capitalisation of QAD implementation costs. 
Mainly as a result of entering into an Associate with Nalco, 
investments in associates grew by R44 million to R84 million 
(2009: R40 million). 

Resulting from the reduction in commodity prices and the 
relatively high carryover inventory from the previous year, 
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The sound fundamentals that have long existed within Omnia remain 

unchanged, with the strategic positioning of the Group in its chosen areas 

of expertise guaranteeing sound future growth.

High levels of expertise guarantee growth in selected areas 
          of Omnia’s business
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stock adjustment taking place by September 2009 within 
the Fertilizer division. 

By September 2009, fertilizer margins had been reduced by 
almost R500 million over the preceding 12-month period.

Despite the prevailing economic conditions, fertilizer volumes 
in South Africa for the year ended March 2010 increased by 
23% over the previous year. However, due to the significant 
drop in prices and the persistent strength of the rand, fertilizer 
revenue is some 17% below that of the previous financial year.

Chemicals and Mining

While the Agriculture Division provided the most dramatic 
example of the impact of the global financial crisis and 
exponential increases in commodity prices, Omnia’s chemical 
and mining activities also could not escape the impact of 
the market changes.

The price of explosives, the main ingredient of which is 
ammonium nitrate, rose in the first half of the 2009 financial 
year, only to drop dramatically in the latter half of that year, 
back to levels that prevailed some two years earlier. The volatile 
raw material prices and the strong rand also impacted on 
the operations of the Mining Division. Although there was only 
a marginal drop in volumes, operating profits in the division for 
the current 2010 financial year are some 21% below those 
of that extraordinary 2009 year. 

net working capital reduced by 67% to R514 million (2009: 
R1 542 million) contributing significantly to the cash generation 
from operating activities of R1 045 million (2009: R143 million 
utilised) as reflected in the cash flow statement.

Cash outflow from investing activities increased by 81% 
to R466 million (2009: R257 million) of which R309 million 
represents the net investment in property, plant and equipment 
with the balance being mainly corporate activity from the 
acquisitions of Petroleum Fine Products and Protea Polymers 
Eastern Africa, and the associate with Nalco.

Arising from the excellent cash generation, net interest-bearing 
debt has reduced to R404 million (2009: R952 million) resulting 
in a debt:equity ratio of 20% compared to the 45% that 
prevailed at the end of the prior year.

Non-current interest bearing borrowings have increased by 
a net R134 million to R804 million (2009: R670 million) with 
the injection of term loans following the Nanatron and Sakhile 2 
transactions relating to management and staff participation plans 
that were approved by shareholders on 11 December 2009.

The impact of changes in international markets

To illustrate what has occurred in international fertilizer markets 
over the years, a historic comparative cost graph is supplied. 
The gap between the two lines is, in broad terms, a proxy for 
the gross margin that Omnia Fertilizer could earn if adjusted 
for timing differences. 

As the graph illustrates, raw material prices remained stable 
for many years and then began to climb in about January 2005 
when it became evident that there was a shortage of urea 
and ammonia in world markets. This set the scene for the 
extraordinary market conditions referred to above which saw an 
explosion in fertilizer commodity prices followed by a dramatic 
fall in these prices, a significant change in buying patterns and 
with it unusually high volumes of fertilizer stocks, particularly 
potash, on hand at the end of that 2009 financial year.

Potash prices, which had remained stable until March 2009, 
succumbed to market pressures and fell during the first half 
of the current financial year. Combined with the rand’s strength, 
the falling potash price was the main cause for a R350 million 



OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 25

The three major concerns facing the world today are food 
security, the global energy challenge and the quest for 
alternative energy and the need for clean, potable water. 
Omnia is well positioned to play a positive role in all three 
of these critical areas. 

Although raw material prices have fallen further, they are 
steadying and settling back into the patterns experienced 
in 2007.

Prospects for the Mining division are steadily improving. 
Markets for platinum, copper, iron ore and other commodities 
have grown, while coal will continue to be in high demand. 
Activity within the uranium mining sector is set to increase.

After an extended period of 14 months of negative 
manufacturing growth, a turnaround is evident. This augurs 
well for the Chemicals division which will benefit from 
increased sales volumes.

DL Eggers
Group finance director 

Within the Chemicals Division product prices also dropped 
substantially due to the global economic crisis. In the case of 
polymers, whose price structure is influenced by the oil price, 
the price drop saw polymer stock being traded at nearly zero 
margins. This phenomenon began in the latter half of the 2009 
financial year and, with the strengthening of the rand, continued 
at more acute levels into the current year. The strength of the 
rand had a negative impact on Protea Chemicals’ customers 
rendering them unable to compete with equivalent imported 
products. Consequently Protea Chemicals’ sales volumes were 
8% below those of the previous year. The headline operating 
profit margin of this division reduced by 0,5% to 4% when 
compared to the previous financial year.

By March 2009, an already serious situation was exacerbated 
by the strengthening of the South African rand against the 
US dollar, as Omnia’s input costs, as well as its sales, are 
referenced against the US dollar.

Working capital

The Omnia business model has long reflected the fact that 
there is normally a peak in activity around September each year, 
and that supplier credit would fund the inventory at all points 
of the business cycle.

This was the case until September 2008 when the global 
financial crisis left Omnia holding inventory worth R2,9 billion. 
As suppliers were being paid for purchases incurred, a shortfall 
in supplier credit developed which required funding from 
interest-bearing debt.

It is pleasing to note that since September 2009 the traditional 
business pattern has returned. Supplier credit is funding the full 
cost of inventories as new stock is procured. The traditional rise 
in the inventory levels prior to the oncoming season, long a 
feature of Omnia operations, is also evident. 

Prospects

The sound fundamentals that have long existed within 
Omnia remain unchanged. In addition, the strategic 
positioning of the Group from a market risk mitigation 
perspective has strengthened. 
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OPERATING PROFIT DOWN 23% TO R152 MILLION

REVENUE DOWN 26% TO R3,3 BILLION

   Consumer Care

  Distribution

  Industrial

  Polymers

 OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

 Reorganisation of the division to increase market penetration

 Improved margins achieved on certain offerings

 Strategic associate offers future promise

 New office in China offers sourcing benefits
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Overview of Chemicals

Protea Chemicals is a respected manufacturer and distributor 
of speciality, functional and effect chemicals and polymers. 
It has a presence in every sector of the broader chemical 
distribution market and serves 15 different industries across 
the industrial and mining sectors. With operations in southern 
and East Africa, the business is represented in all major 
business centres from Khartoum to Cape Town.

Financial performance

The uncertain economic climate caused by the global recession 
did not abate during the year under review. This, together with 
a constantly changing operating environment and the strength 
of the rand, resulted in a disappointing year. Revenue was 
26% lower at R3,3 billion (2009: R4,5 billion) with a resulting 
reduction in operating profit of 23% to R152 million (2009: 
R198 million). The operating margin was maintained at 4,5%, 
although after the exclusion of the profit on the contribution 
of business to Nalco, this dropped to 4%.

Operational performance

The global economic crisis that prevailed throughout 2009 
continued to impact severely on the international chemical 
industry during the 2010 financial year. South Africa, although 

In addition, the establishment of a new office in China added 

to the increase in expenses. However, this will place Protea 

Chemicals in an advantageous position in future in the sourcing 

and purchasing of products and raw materials for its 

manufacturing requirements. 

In order to further grow the division’s reach into southern Africa, 
offices have been opened in Luanda, Angola.

Finally, the costs associated with the acquisition and 
restructuring required to form Protea Polymers Eastern Africa 
contributed to expenses growth. This, as reported in 2009, 
was undertaken to expand the geographic reach of Protea 
Polymers into Kenya, Uganda and Sudan. The process has 
involved the acquisition of the polymer distribution business 
of Highchem Industrial Africa, which held exclusive distribution 
rights for the products of several major polymer producers. 
Simultaneously, as part of integrating the Highchem deal, the 
Tanzanian operations of Protea Chemicals were integrated into 
Protea Polymers Eastern Africa.

Reorganising for future growth

Consolidation within Protea Chemicals was undertaken to 
reduce costs, optimise the allocation of resources and hone the 
business focus of the Chemicals division. Regrettably, in South 
Africa, the rationalisation resulted in staff retrenchment. 

initially shielded from the worst of the initial financial crisis, 

inevitably felt the knock-on effect of the economic recession. 

Manufacturing capacity in the South African chemical sector fell 

12,5% below the level recorded in the 2009 financial year.

At Protea Chemicals, this downward pressure was reflected in 

a 11% year-on-year decline in sales volumes. Net turnover was 

down 26% on 2009 and unit prices decreased by 8%. The 

strength of the rand effectively capped the import parity price 

and squeezed profit margins. Significantly lower commodity 

prices and a decline in sales volumes weakened Protea 

Chemicals’ market position further.

Expenses, although contained below budget, increased 

significantly due to the costs incurred in several strategic projects. 

One of these was to amalgamate the Protea Food Ingredients 

business with other relevant businesses in the Protea Chemicals 

stable to form a national food ingredients business supplying 

products and services to the South African food and 

beverage industries.

With effect from 1 April 2010, the Protea Chemicals 
businesses were grouped into four clusters. Each business 
cluster has a defined focus that will be supported by improved 
warehousing and distribution, and centralised financial and 
administrative functions.

The four clusters are:

  Distribution (Cape, Inland, KwaZulu-Natal and Bulk 
Resources), which consolidates the warehousing and 
distribution site operations of Protea Chemicals Inland, 
KwaZulu-Natal and Cape.

  Consumer Care, which constitutes Coatings, Consumer 
Care, Animal Feeds, Food Ingredients and the recently 
acquired Petroleum Fine Products. This cluster will share 
an administrative backbone and services, with warehousing 
and distribution being outsourced.

  Industrial, which includes Zetachem as well as Protea 
Chemicals’ oil and gas upstream operations in West Africa. 
This cluster will be orientated towards heavy industrial 
applications and will also be more closely aligned with the 
operations of Zetachem.



Protea Chemicals contributed to Nalco Africa its existing product 
base as well as relevant revenue and profit streams from its 
petroleum chemicals, Zetachem and mining chemicals 
businesses. Nalco contributed its technology and the expertise 
of expatriate executives who will work alongside former Protea 
Chemicals staff. Although Nalco Africa reduces the overall 
market coverage of Protea Mining Chemicals and Zetachem, 
it brings significant benefits through its world-class products, 
technologies and structured sales and service model.

The formation of the associate comes at a time when South 
Africa is grappling with concerns regarding water contamination 
through mining acid waste, the effectiveness of sewage 
treatment processes and installations, and industrial water use. 

  Polymers, which houses Protea Polymers South Africa, 
Protea Polymers Eastern Africa and Protea’s Elastomer 
operations.

The improved customer service and management capacity, and 
an emphasis on optimal utilisation of skills, has already yielded 
benefits for the division.

Strategic associates and acquisitions

Despite the challenging conditions that prevailed during the 
year under review, Protea Chemicals continued to focus on 
strengthening relationships with key suppliers and customers, 
and developing into new markets.

The Nalco Africa Associate was in line with the division’s 
strategy to reposition itself to add greater value to clients, 
moving from being merely a distributor of chemical products. 
This move forward into value added services resulted in a 
strategically significant associate and acquisition during the year.

The association was undoubtedly the most significant strategic 
agreement reached during the financial year. Nalco, listed on the 
New York Stock Exchange, is the world’s leading industrial water 
treatment and process improvement company. Operating across 
the mining, pulp and paper, oil and petroleum, industrial water 
and sewage management sectors, it is active in developing and 
implementing high-tech solutions to improve industrial processes 
and reduce water and energy consumption and air emissions.

In many respects, the activities of Nalco complement those 
of Zetachem, an Omnia Group company, which is recognised 
as a major supplier of speciality chemicals to the water industry 
in South Africa. Zetachem is one of a few South African 
manufacturers operating under NSF and ISO 9001 certification 
in the areas of potable water clarification, sludge dewatering and 
effluent treatment.
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Nalco Africa, well placed to contribute in all these areas, will 
undoubtedly benefit from the current and future requirements 
of these sectors. 

Protea Chemicals acquired Petroleum Fine Products during the 
2010 financial year. This strategic acquisition supplements the 
Protea Consumer Care market offering by expanding the product 
line to include white oils and petroleum jelly. The acquisition 
boosted the operating margins of Protea Consumer Care and in 
December 2009, during its first month of incorporation within 
Protea Chemicals, Petroleum Fine Products recorded its best 
ever monthly performance.

Outlook

The 14-month downward trend in South African manufacturing 
output came to an end in December 2009. This was 
accompanied by an increase in manufacturing sector activity in 
the last quarter of the year. While these improvements auger 
well for the supply side of the South African economy, 
fundamental weaknesses continue to persist in the consumer 
market where demand is still subdued.

A weakening of the rand/US dollar exchange rate would greatly 
assist a return to prosperity in markets that are currently 
characterised by excess capacity and eroded margins in 
chemical product prices. Rand strength remains a threat.

Local cost pressures will be driven by the annual 25% 
a year electricity price increase to be implemented over 
the next three years. This will reinforce cost pressures in 
manufacturing. 

On the positive side, Protea Chemicals is entering the new 
financial year with a new structure geared to reduce costs and 
enhance business efficiencies. This will undoubtedly have a 
positive impact on operations in the year to come. 

The addition of Nalco Africa will add strength and bring new 
opportunities. The consolidation of Protea Polymers and its 
expected increased market penetration in East, central and 
southern Africa also hold considerable promise for the future.
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OPERATING PROFIT DOWN 21% TO R212 MILLION

REVENUE DOWN 16% TO R1,8 BILLION

����������	�
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 OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

 Prospects for base mineral mining increase

 Major contract signed with SA’s largest coal mining company

 Mining industry looks to new BME technology

 Shocktube assembly plant begins production

MINING DIVISION – REVIEW
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Overview of Mining 

The Mining division is a leading supplier of explosives, initiating 
systems, blasting technology and mining chemicals to the open 
cast and deep level mining industries in South Africa. 
The division is highly regarded for its expertise in creating 
solutions for the industry through the specialist technical support 
it offers customers within the mining sector.  

Financial performance  

Revenue reduced by 16% to R1,8 billion (2009: R2,1 billion), 
the main driver being the reduction in prices compared to those 
that prevailed during the previous financial year and the strong 
rand. Annual volumes declined only marginally due to volume 
recovery towards the end of the financial year. Operating profit, 
at R212 million (2009: R269 million), is 21% below that 
of the extraordinary 2009 year, with the operating margin 
showing a marginal decrease from 12,7% for the year ended 
31 March 2009, to 11,9% for the year under review.  

Operational performance  

The impact of the ongoing global recession and declining 
demand for commodities acted negatively on the production 
levels of the division’s customers, and, in turn, on the Omnia 
Mining division. Lower commodity prices and a strong rand 
impacted negatively on both international and local sales of 
explosives and allied products for the year under review. 
Against this background increasing overhead costs put further 
pressure on operating margins.

Demand for explosives in most mining sectors reduced 
substantially. The exception was coal, uranium and gold mining 
where the increased demand buffered the effect of the overall 

BME’s core market has long been explosives for open cast 
mines where operators favour the use of shocktube and 
electronic detonation systems. Deep level miners have favoured 
the traditional “fuse and ignitor cord” system and have been 
slow to accept shocktube initiation systems. However, this has 
begun to change as underground miners have come to 
appreciate the advantages of modern shocktube initiation 
systems which include better safety for miners, more controlled 
blasts in confined areas and improved fragmentation of ore 
bearing rock. 

BME’s reputation as a leading technical partner with specialist 
expertise in blast technology based on high customer service 
levels, will be a major benefit as the drive to increase 
BME’s share of the underground market gains impetus. 
BME’s in-house expertise, which is complemented by 
sophisticated computer-based tools, is welcomed by new 
customers who often do not have the required skills within 
their own workforces. 

BME adds further value as a technical partner by offering 
mini-seminars for customers on explosives and explosives 
techniques. An annual conference, the only one of its kind in 
the local industry, enlightens customers on new developments 
in products and their application, while a regular technical 
newsletter offers customers practical information and updates. 

A new training centre near Emalahleni (previously Witbank) is 
reinforcing in-house skills by providing BME staff with advanced 
training in the safe use of BME products. In due course, these 
facilities will be opened to customers. 

Research into the development of improved explosives 
solutions is ongoing and has resulted in a number of 
innovative products and services being introduced in the 
South African market. 

slower market. Demand for products was reduced by many major 

national infrastructure projects coming to an end. Sales volumes, 

especially in underground mines were further impacted by 

extended mine closure by government due to mining accidents. 

The situation began to improve towards the end of the financial 

year when improved commodity prices started to filter through 

to increased mining activity in most mining sectors. 

Locally, BME won a major contract with Xstrata Coal, one of 

South Africa’s largest coal mining companies. This will contribute 

to increased volume sales in the year to come. Several other 

contracts are being finalised and will contribute to what is 

anticipated to be a better year for BME. 

BME has been a world leader in the use of used oil in emulsion 
explosives and substantial progress has been made in further 
increasing the content of used oil. 

Pumpable emulsion technology, a viable alternative to long 
established ammonium nitrate and fuel oil based (ANFO) 
explosives in underground mining, also provides innovative, 
safer solutions for traditional mining challenges. BME has 
developed lightweight small pumps for use in narrow-reef 
stopes coupled with easily transportable emulsion bladders for 
transferring emulsion into the stopes. The emulsion is only 
sensitized when it is pumped into the blastholes. This presents 
miners with significant safety benefits, particularly when they 
are working in confined stopes on narrow underground reefs 
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extending the “Protea Process™” to include services. 
Identifying synergies between Protea Mining Chemicals and 
BME on key accounts, and optimising the supply chain, product 
applications and support to these customers will also reinforce 
this strategy. 

Outlook  

The Mining division is ideally placed to benefit from increased 
activity in the mining sector as it emerges from the recession. 
Increasing demand for key commodities such as coal, platinum 
and uranium will have a positive impact on sales volumes. 

The burgeoning market in deep-level mining as shocktube 
technology is more widely adopted will also drive sales. 

of ore. The risks normally associated with storing and 
transporting ANFO explosives are avoided, as is the risk of theft. 

A major research and development milestone was reached 
during the year with the completion of BME’s unique electronic 
delay detonator (EDD) project. Entirely developed by BME 
mining engineers, the new EDD system is currently undergoing 
rigorous field testing with selected customers. Results recorded 
by the end of the year under review were pleasing. A major 
customer reported that ongoing use of the EDD technology has 
resulted in more accurate, better controlled blasts that have 
produced improved fragmentation, and reduced mining costs. 

A new generation of BME’s widely accepted BlastMap software 
is under development. The new package will further enhance 
the planning of effective blasts, thus producing better blast 
results and improved productivity and profitability for our clients. 

Across the borders of South Africa, the Mining division remained 
active in the Namibian uranium sector. An emulsion explosives 
facility was commissioned in Zambia where it is strategically 
situated to take advantage of local requirements in a competitive 
market. The division also expanded its penetration of West 
African markets, and began looking towards Mozambique where 
increased activity in the mining sector is being driven by 
exploration of new coal deposits. 

The trading environment for Protea Mining Chemicals was 
difficult and was compounded by start-up problems experienced 
at newly constructed plants of some customers. Customer 
projects that were delayed or suspended also impacted 
negatively on short-term prospects. 

The re-engineering of Protea Chemicals during the year has put 
the business focus firmly on adding value to customers by 

We also expect demand to pick up following the successful 
testing of BME’s new generation EDDs, which will bring a host 
of benefits to mining customers when they become available in 
2010. As the benefits, which include increased mining 
production and better blast controls become apparent to 
customers, we are confident that sales in this sector will 
increase significantly over the short term. 

The Mining division has built relationships with major customers 

through its ability to provide technical advice and assistance 

which have differentiated the division’s service delivery from 

that offered by competitors. 

This service, combined with our reputation for the promotion 

of safe practices both within the division and on customers’ 

sites, are regarded as the foundation for our future growth 

and success. 
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 AGRICULTURE DIVISION – REVIEW

OPERATING LOSS OF R85 MILLION

REVENUE DOWN 17% TO R3,7 BILLION

 OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

 International fertilizer sales growth achieved

 Nutriology® offers competitive advantage

 ETC Bio-Energy Zambia on brink of biofuel production from Jatropha seed

 Sales increase in Malawi, Zambia, Botswana, Angola and Madagascar

 Nitrophos technology proven
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products have proved successful and will add further appeal to 
Omnia’s specialised fertilizer product offerings.

The African business performed well overall and sales increased 
to commercial farmers operating in Malawi, Zambia, Zimbabwe, 
Angola, Botswana and Madagascar. Competition for market 
share intensified as some companies offered prices below 
import parity. Nutriology®, which has differentiated Omnia 
from its competitors since the company entered the market, 
will continue to be a business focus.

ETC Bio-Energy Zambia, with whom Omnia has been pioneering 
the growth of Jatropha seed, a biofuel alternative to diesel, 
continued with planting. Some 2 100 hectares have been 
planted, making it possible to commence with the manufacture 
of biodiesel in a refinery. In Zimbabwe, despite ongoing political 
and economic problems, Omnia Zimbabwe performed well. 

In the Australasian business, the downward trend in fertilizer 
prices abated. However, the weak margins persisted as 
businesses disposed of high value stock at low margins. 
The pecan nut industry, a key agricultural activity in New 
Zealand, failed to meet expectations as international demand for 
the crop declined. This had a negative impact on the volumes of 
fertilizer sold into the sector. The currencies of both Australia 
and New Zealand remained stable during the year under review, 
but remained high against the US dollar.

The net result was a slow recovery in margins in Australia as the 
region returned to a break-even level.

Outlook 

Omnia Fertilizer has huge potential to grow in spite of the 
current instability in the market, as farmers continue to seek 
quality products and the services offered by Omnia to assist 
them with profitable farming.

 Financial performance

As expected, volumes improved notably in the South African 
domestic market over those of the comparable prior period 
when an abnormal and subdued buying pattern developed 
amongst the Group’s farmer customers, as a consequence of 
the exceptionally high fertilizer prices that prevailed during the 
first half of the prior financial year. However, the subsequent 
significant 35% reduction in average fertilizer selling prices 
caused revenue in the Division to fall by 17% to R3,7 billion 
(2009: R4,5 billion).

The inventory write-down discussed below was the main cause 
for the Division to show an operating loss of R85 million for the 
period (2009: R410 million profit). 

Operational performance

The 2010 financial year was one of the most difficult years yet 
experienced by the fertilizer industry. 

International traders took up long positions in fertilizer stock as 
prices began to increase rapidly in 2008. These prices then fell 
rapidly during October 2008, coinciding with the South African 
maize planting season during which farmers, because of the low 
prices of maize on key markets, reduced the hectares and 
application rates. This further dampened demand for fertilizers at 
what was a critical time for Omnia. In what was a double blow, 
commodity prices then fell a further 24% and the rand 
strengthened by 23% during the first half of the 2010 financial 
year. All major competitors responded to the market conditions 
by trying to liquidate their long stock positions, and margins 
came under severe pressure. The inevitable consequence was 
that stock had to be written down, resulting in a financial loss of 
R350 million. Internationally, however, Omnia achieved fertilizer 
sales growth, with increased sales being attributable mainly to 

the wide range of specialist fertilizers available from Omnia and 

the comprehensive support provided to farmers through the 

Nutriology® offering. This includes the development of products, 

services and relationships within the agricultural sector. Central 

to its delivery are Omnia’s agronomists who are supported by 

world-class analytical laboratories, research and development, 

biological analyses and quality control.

The introduction of Omnia products to new distributors also 

increased volume sales and provided additional sales opportunities.

Speciality sales of coated granular products increased as farmers 

began to appreciate the value of K-humate and trace elements at 

the time of planning row crops. Testing of silica and boron 

Enhancing the Nutriology® market position will continue to be 
a focus and customer service levels will be improved in 
appropriate areas.

The strong trend towards micro-nutrients in fertilizers is 
expected to continue and will have a favourable impact on sales 
volumes and margins. These sales will be driven by the growing 
appreciation among farmers of the role of speciality products on 
the yield quantity and quality of their crops. 
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About this report

This sustainability report presents a consolidated view of the 
Omnia Group’s economic, social and environmental performance 
for the year ended 31 March 2010. We aim to provide a 
balanced, understandable and comparable view of our business 
by giving a frank account of our sustainability achievements as 
well as challenges. 

Through this report, the Omnia Group aligns itself with 
international sustainability best reporting practices, including the 
Global Reporting Initiative (GRI), recognised internationally as the 
benchmark for sustainability reporting. The Group subscribes to 
the vision of the GRI, in that disclosure on socio-economic and 
environmental performance should become as commonplace 
and comparable as financial reporting, and that such disclosure 
is inextricably linked to financial success.

We recognise that we still have some way to go in aligning 
our reporting processes to the GRI. However, in keeping with 
the GRI’s vision, we will continue to improve our non-financial 
reporting processes over time, based on the principles of 
accountability and transparency. We welcome feedback from 
our stakeholders to assist us to continually improve our 
sustainability reporting.

The Group also supports the principles of openness, integrity 
and accountability as advocated in the King Code of Governance 
for South Africa of 2009 (King III) and the Code of Corporate 
Practices and Conduct reflected in the 2002 King Report 
(King II). Moreover, we subscribe to the concept of the triple 
bottom line, which embraces economic, social and 
environmental relationships through an integrated sustainability 
approach that encompasses all the Group’s stakeholders – 
our shareholders, customers, employees and the communities 
in which we operate.

We continue to seek to improve our sustainability reporting, 
moving beyond compliance to focus on opportunities for, but 
also challenges to, our sustainability, which we believe should 
increasingly inform our strategy and enable us to enhance our 
relationships with stakeholders. Our aim is the long-term 
integration of economic development, environmental quality 
and social equity into our business practices to continually 
improve performance.

The reader is invited to access more detailed information on our 
website where this report is also available in an online version.

Informing the boundaries of this report
Broad-based black economic empowerment (BBBEE) is regarded 
as integral to our sustainability, and relates to both economic and 
social aspects. Therefore, although our BBBEE initiatives only 
concern our South African operations, they have been included 
as part of this report.

Report assurance
We have not obtained independent third-party assurance of this 
Sustainability Report for the 2010 reporting period. We assess 
our application of the GRI reporting framework to be at Level C.

Statement from the Group Managing Director
The year under review saw intense debates around two major 
world events – the global economic crisis and climate change – 

which once again demonstrate our global interdependency, but 
at the same time revealed a need for solutions to be crafted at 
local and national levels. 

Although the outcome of the Copenhagen climate talks at the 
end of 2009 was disappointing, with developed countries’ 
targets to cut their greenhouse gas emissions remaining low, 
South Africa made a commitment to cut its carbon footprint 
by slowing emissions by 34% below projected levels by 2020.

Dependent on coal for almost 90% of its electricity needs, 
South Africa is the twelfth-biggest emitter of carbon dioxide in 
the world, producing more than 40% of Africa’s fossil fuel-
related carbon dioxide emissions. Despite this, local companies 
have not made much headway when it comes to carbon trading, 
which is part of the Clean Development Mechanism of the 
United Nations’ Kyoto Protocol.

And although the position on carbon credits beyond 2012 is still 
uncertain, the pressure on climate change abatement is not 
going to recede. 

In an unevenly globalised world, Omnia realises the need for 
“bottom-up” alternatives to pursuing carbon reductions, and has 
already amassed about 825 000 carbon credits, generated 
through the nitrous oxide reduction project at our Sasolburg 
EnviNox® Clean Air plant. EnviNox® was commissioned in terms 
of the Kyoto Protocol’s Clean Development Mechanism and has 
reduced our nitrogen oxide emissions by more than 98%. 
400˛000 carbon credits were sold in November 2009. 

And while we regret the fact that the world was unable to reach 
a solution at Copenhagen, we are hopeful that concerted efforts 
by companies, civil organisations and governments through 
international alliances would serve as a basis for further 
discussion towards a suitable agreement on developing a global 
framework for climate change.

We are fully aware that long-term opportunities for the Group 
exist in the renewable energy, water, mining and food sectors, 
and Omnia is well positioned to make a significant impact in 
these areas.

Omnia recognises in particular the potential in alternative energy 
over the next decade, with uranium demand expected to more 
than double by 2030 as increasing numbers of countries turn to 
nuclear energy for their power requirements. Although nuclear 
power is not considered renewable; since no combustion is 
involved, nuclear power generation produces no carbon 
emissions. We believe mining industries in southern Africa 
are set to benefit from escalating local and global demand 
for uranium, and although the tick-up in uranium processing 
has been slower than expected, Omnia is confident that we 
can exploit the opportunities available in this area, with our 
strong product basket in terms of supplying mining explosives 
and chemicals. 

Expectations for growth in the mining sector are not only driven 
by the growth in alternative energy, but locally also by Eskom’s 
additional coal requirements. 

The production of shocktube at Omnia’s Losberg facility, 
which started during 2009/10, signalled an entry for the Group 
into the underground mining sector, while BME’s new 
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generation electronic delay detonator has been successfully 
tested and is being introduced to the market. Both in terms of 
safety and operational efficiency, we expect these technologies 
to bring about significant cost savings for our clients.

We continue to invest in and implement best-of-class 
technologies which conform to the highest standards of 
sustainable environmental development. Our R1,4 billion 
investment in a second nitric acid complex – one of our biggest 
investments in South Africa to date – to provide raw materials 
which have been in short supply for a number of years, 
particularly in the mining and agriculture sectors where 
Omnia already has well-developed markets, is testament 
to this objective. 

The plant, whose emissions will be significantly below legislation 
requirements, will be run in parallel to our existing plant, with 
demand growth projections showing that the full output will be 
absorbed by Omnia’s downstream explosives and fertilizer units 
within the near term, and would position Omnia in a production 
league similar to that of its main competitors.

Importantly, the project will be entirely energy self-sufficient and 
will produce enough electricity to service about one-half of the 
needs for the adjacent Omnia plant – a significant energy saving 
that is of vital importance in the context of South Africa’s 
power stresses.

During the period under review, the Group’s total energy 
consumption decreased from 8,69 million gigajoules in 2009 
to 8,1 million gigajoules in 2010, while our total energy 
consumption per ton of product manufactured dropped by 
almost 17% over the period.

This reduction in energy use can mainly be attributed to 
optimisation efforts and the implementation of a new generator 
at our fertilizer plant in Sasolburg.

Predictions show that more than 1,5 million people in South 
Africa would be affected by severe water shortages in the 
next 15 years. Omnia’s joint venture during the year with water 
treatment company Nalco will assist industrial services clients in 
Africa, a market which is expected to grow significantly over the 
next 10 years, to reduce their environmental impact.

Using Nalco’s water and process treatment technologies, 
which since 2004 has saved more than 596 million cubic metres 
of water worldwide, will introduce savings both in energy 
and in industrial water use, and reduce total operating costs, 
particularly in the energy, mining, food and beverage, and paper 
and pulp sectors.

The associate with Nalco Africa complements Omnia’s existing 
chemicals business and demonstrates our continued 
commitment to growing our business through proactive 
management of South Africa’s scarce water resources.

During the first five years, 50% of research and development 
of the company’s investment in South Africa would be taken up 
by training spend for Nalco Africa, to assist in skills development 
through establishing world-class training facilities and the 
transfer of knowledge and expertise.

Against a backdrop of increasing mobility in an era of uneven 
globalisation and South Africa’s acute technical skills shortages, 
we achieved, during the year, Level 5 status in our BBBEE 
formal verification in terms of the Department of Trade and 
Industry’s BBBEE Codes of Good Practice. Our performance 
in this regard in terms of skills, enterprise and socio-economic 
development underpins our focus on developing employees 
and communities, and addressing the skills challenge faced 
by the Group.

Due to the financial crisis, the World Bank in early 2010 
predicted that an estimated 64 million more people worldwide 
will fall into extreme poverty, defined as living on less than 
US$1,25 per day. Individuals and communities in developing 
countries such as those in Africa will be especially affected, 
and together with food insecurity, pose great challenges for 
sustainable development and improved livelihoods.

We believe that with appropriate assistance, Africa has the 
potential to become a significant contributor in addressing these 
growing concerns over a looming global food crisis. Fertilizer use 
in Africa, at around eight kilograms per hectare, is less than 10% 
of the world average. Clearly, increased use of fertilizer, together 
with Omnia’s applied agronomic expertise, could help to 
promote food security and alleviate hunger and rural poverty. 
With growing urbanisation throughout Africa, the amount of 
available arable land per capita by 2050 is predicted to be 
reduced to half of what is available today, and as fewer, 
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highly productive lands are also more environmentally friendly 
than large tracts of less productive lands, our focus is on 
alleviating environmental degradation through improved soil 
management and better agricultural practices. Of course, 
improved soils also enhance plant health, which means less 
harmful chemicals are needed during the growth phase.

The debate around the food crisis is also influenced and 
informed by the growing need for biofuels as an alternative, 
renewable energy source. In terms of gaining and making 
available better information around biofuels production, our 
Agriculture Division has invested in research in Zambia around 
the nutritional requirements of biofuels feedstock, jatropha. 

Where economic sustainability is concerned, although our 
performance during the year under review was weaker than 
during the previous period, it can be ascribed, in the main, to the 
weakening of commodity prices and the rand strengthening by 
almost 23%, as well as particularly high stock prices and 
inventory which had to be written down. Moreover, one should 
keep in mind that the previous financial year’s results were said 
to be extraordinary and not sustainable, which had introduced a 
stark difference between the reporting periods.

Commodity prices have started to settle back to a more steady 
pattern, increasing in the light of continued supply and demand 
dynamics. We remain strategically positioned to benefit from an 
upturn in the global and local economies, and have seen 
recovering demand across all three of our business units – 
chemicals, mining and agriculture.

Our framework for sustainability
Sustainable development approach
Omnia’s approach to managing sustainable development 
includes striving to continuously improve our management 
framework to provide our businesses with the policies, 
governance structures, targets and reporting systems needed to 
manage the risks and opportunities associated with sustainable 
development. Our commitment to sustainable development is 
co-ordinated at Group level and implemented at business level, 
with ultimate responsibility residing with our board of directors.

Omnia’s framework for sustainability is based on:

 The commonly accepted definition of sustainable 
development as “development which meets the needs 

of the current generation without compromising the ability 
of future generations to meet their own needs”.

 Maintaining the highest standards of integrity according 
to our Code of Conduct.

 Operating to the highest standards of financial and 
non-financial performance.

 Establishing sound stakeholder relationships based on 
honesty, integrity, professionalism and service.

 Improving the management of our environmental and 
social risks, and conducting our operations in a safe and 
responsible manner.

 Recognising and leveraging the link between people 
and business value.

 Establishing partnerships to address social issues 
such as poverty and lack of skills.

 Focusing on eco-efficiency, with particular emphasis 
on reducing energy and water consumption, as well as 
greenhouse gases and waste.

Code of Conduct
Fraud, corruption and bribery undermine the organisational 
integrity of companies and have negative consequences for the 
communities around them. They are invariably highly detrimental 
to a company’s reputation and licence to operate. The Group’s 
Code of Conduct, which helps mitigate this risk, stipulates that 
our people act with the utmost integrity at all times. The Code 
forms part of our employee induction training, and compliance  
is agreed to in writing on an annual basis. It also places 
responsibility on all employees to report breaches of the Code, 
for which purpose an anonymous reporting line is provided.

Omnia subscribes to an independent reporting service, Tip-Offs 
Anonymous, administered by Deloitte Consulting, which enables 
all stakeholders to report unethical behaviour with full anonymity. 
Callers are given three options when making a tip-off – making 
their identity known to Tip-Offs Anonymous only, providing 
their details to both Tip-Offs Anonymous and Omnia, or total 
anonymity. During the year under review, 21 calls and one email 
was received by the hotline. Of these, all complaints were 
reported to Omnia. Two incidents resulted in staff members 
being dismissed. The remaining incidents were investigated 
and the commensurate action was taken.
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Stakeholder engagement
The Group interacts with a broad base of stakeholders, based 
on the principles of promptness, relevance and transparency. 
Omnia makes use of general communication channels such as 
the Omnia website (www.omnia.co.za), as well as print, radio 
and television media. Specific channels are set out below.

Employees
  Internal publications

  Managing director’s road show

  Intranet

Investors

  Results presentations

  SENS, the information dissemination service 
administered by the JSE Limited

  Annual report

  Website

Customers

  Newsletters

 –  Both BME and Omnia Fertilizer produce newsletters 
relevant to customers’ areas of business and interest. 
The Omnia Fertilizer magazine is a bi-annual publication 
mailed to each customer.

 –  The BME magazine is a bi-annual publication handed 
to specific customers.

  Customer surveys

  Trade shows

 –  BME attends a number of trade shows and conferences 
locally and globally to build brand awareness and help 
guide new customers to understand the basket of 
services and value propositions offered by the company. 
During the period under review, BME attended the 
Mining Indaba in Cape Town, the Institute of Quarrying 
Southern Africa’s Annual Conference in Durban and the 
West African Mining and Power Exhibition (WAMPEX) 
in Ghana. 

 –  Omnia Fertilizer exhibits annually at the NAMPO Harvest 
Day and has sponsored the “boere patente” exhibition 

for 22 years. The aim of the “boere patente” is to 
showcase technologies designed on the farm by farmers 
in order to improve efficiencies. 

  Conferences

 –  BME’s Annual Drilling and Blasting Conference takes 
place in November each year, and in 2009 was attended 
by about 350 local and international participants. 
The Conference functions as an information 
dissemination and learning event, with speakers 
presenting papers and case studies on market trends, 
technical information and blasting techniques.

 –  Omnia Fertilizer’s Agronomic and Marketing Conference 
is held annually as an internal training and information 
dissemination event.

  Farmers’ days: Omnia’s Agriculture division disseminates 
knowledge and provides practical, hands-on support to 
emerging and commercial farmers on plant nutrition 
management, fertilization and agronomic best practices 
at farmers’ days held at different project sites around the 
country. Contributing to the sustainability of enterprise 
development in the agricultural sector, these farmers’ 
days assist emerging and commercial farmers to build 
commercially viable ventures by gaining an understanding 
of all aspects of agricultural production, and business and 
financial management.

Communities

  Our various corporate social investment (CSI) initiatives 
as detailed in this document.

  Contributions to the Business Against Crime initiative.

  Trustee representation at and contribution to the World 
Wildlife Fund (WWF).

Environment

  Participation in the following environmental forums 
is ongoing:

 –  At industry level 

 –  Sasolburg Inter-company Response Meeting

 – North West Province Air Pollution Control Forum ( NapCof)

 –  Institute of Safety Management



OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 39

 –  Vaal Triangle Priority Area Air Meeting

 –  Vaal Triangle Priority Area Air Technical Task Team

 –  Leeu-Taaibosch Forum and Technical Task Team

 –  Sasolburg Rejuvenation Committee

 –  Highveld Priority Area Air Quality Officer Forum and 
Multi-stakeholder Reference Group where we played an 
active role in the compilation of the Air Quality 
Management Plans for the North West Province and 
Highveld Priority Area.

  At community level

 –  Sasolburg Community Working Group

Industry

  As a signatory to Responsible Care®, a global chemical 
industry initiative that seeks to improve health and safety 
and reduce the environmental impact of the industry, 
we are committed to uphold the initiative’s ethics and 
standards, and participate in various workshops.

  Chemical Handling and Environmental Forum 
(CHEF) Meetings.

  Through the Chemical and Allied Industries’ Association 
(CAIA), of which Omnia’s chairman is a board member, 
and Business Unity South Africa (BUSA), we participated 
in various initiatives to assist with the formulation of 
new legislation. These include the National Waste Act, 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) processes in 
terms of the Act and a new national waste minimisation 
strategy, the new Transport Act and air priority 
working groups.



Our key sustainability challenges and opportunities

This section of the report focuses on four issues that are regarded as being the most material to our sustainable 
development performance.

Challenges and opportunities Our response

Energy and climate change

The challenge
Dealing with a carbon-constrained future, climate change and increasing 
energy demand in a world where the concentration of carbon dioxide 
(CO2) in the atmosphere has reached a record high is a global challenge. 
Scientists at the Mauna Loa observatory in Hawaii found that CO2 levels 
in the atmosphere now stand at 387 parts per million (ppm), up almost 
40% since the industrial revolution and the highest for at least the last 
650 000 years.

It is estimated that energy demand will be about 35% higher in 
2030 than in 2005 as economies grow and living standards 
improve worldwide.

Demand for coal is expected to grow steadily – given that it remains 
the base fuel for energy production and is extensively used in thermal 
power stations worldwide.

In South Africa, recent announcements have indicated that the country 
requires an additional 40 coal mines by 2020 to satisfy forecast demand 
for electricity, and Richards Bay Coal Terminal has recently announced 
an increase in its terminal export capacity from 72 million tons per 
annum to 91 million tons per annum.

The completion of the EnviNox™ plant has reduced our 
emission of nitrogen oxide, a greenhouse gas, by 98% 
at our existing nitric acid plant.

Omnia’s new R1,4 billion nitric acid plant complex in 
Sasolburg will use best-in-class technology conforming 
to the highest standards of sustainable environmental 
development. Plant emissions will be significantly below 
legislation requirements.

The opportunity 
Optimising the efficiency of existing energy consuming processes. Energy efficiency is critical in meeting South Africa’s growing 

energy needs. Our new nitric acid production facilities will 
have co-generation capacity, and will be entirely energy 
self-sufficient, while contributing about 50% of the current 
factory’s energy needs, significantly cutting Omnia’s existing 
electricity supply requirements.

The increase in demand for “cleaner” alternative energy solutions 
to replace and supplement coal burning power stations is driving 
investment in nuclear energy programmes.

The Mining division is playing a key role by supplying 
explosives and mining chemicals to uranium mines across 
the continent, which is used to fuel nuclear power stations. 
The division is also at the forefront of efforts to recycle oil.

Biofuels are increasingly being seen as a cleaner alternative to 
fossil fuels.

The Agriculture division has invested in Jatropha research 
and development which provides the feedstock for biofuel 
production. As the plant can be grown on marginally arable 
land, it does not compromise food security.

Water quality and availability

The challenge
According to the World Bank, there has been a six fold increase in 
water use for only a two fold increase in population size since 1990. 
This reflects higher water usage associated with increasing standards 
of living, specifically as dietary patterns change to contain more meat 
and less grain. It also reflects potentially unsustainable levels of 
irrigated agriculture.

Moreover, the World Economic Forum has warned that many places 
in the world are on the edge of “water bankruptcy”.

In South Africa, water quality has deteriorated with a lack of resource 
capacity at many municipal waste water treatment plants, while the 
efficacy of such treatment has been hampered by unplanned 
power outages.

Omnia’s continued commitment to growing our business 
through proactive management of South Africa’s scarce water 
resources is reflected through strategic acquisitions and 
associates in the treatment and responsible use of water 
resources.
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Challenges and opportunities Our response

The opportunity 
Water quality is deteriorating in many areas of the developing world as 
industrial production increases and salinity caused by farming and 
over-extraction rises.

 
Protea Chemicals and Nalco, the world leader in water 
treatment and process improvement based in Illinois, US, 
have formed an associate, Nalco Africa, that will provide an 
extensive range of water and process treatment services to 
the African market.

Nalco Africa will provide products and services that include 
treatments for the mining sector, refinery and petrochemicals 
sector, pulp and paper industry, food and beverage market and 
broader industrial and effluent treatment applications.

The Associate will also allow Omnia to assist its clients 
reduce their environmental impact using Nalco’s industrial 
water and process treatment technologies.

Moreover, water management changes have been 
implemented at our plants, which will optimise our re-use of 
water and decrease our municipal water use.

Zetachem, with its expertise in speciality chemicals and 
chemical management systems, is able to assist companies 
as well as the public sector with effective water treatment 
solutions in the area of potable and industrial water.

In Sasolburg, we have developed a storm water management 
plan and installed infrastructure to separate storm water 
run-off from potentially contaminated and clean areas. 
The capacity of the existing storm water effluent dams 
in Sasolburg has also been increased at an estimated cost 
of R8 million.

Omnia Fertilizer, through its proven Nutriology® offering, 
provides agronomic advice to customers regarding the 
conservation and efficient utilisation of water on the farm.

Agronomy and the interests of farmers in Africa

The challenge
According to the Food and Agriculture Organisation (FAO), 900 million 
people faced insufficient nutrition for life and work in 2008, most of 
whom are living in Africa. 

At the same time, the United Nations is predicting that agricultural 
output will need to increase by 70% by 2050 to adequately feed the 
expected global population of nine billion people.

The agriculture sector has taken on a new and more critical 
role in today’s global economy in providing solutions to rising 
concerns over food security for a growing world population, 
as dietary habits change in developing economies and 
declining arable land availability fails to meet escalating 
demand. Demand for fertilizer continues to grow in response 
to the need for increased yields as a result of increasing 
urbanisation, reduction of available arable land worldwide, 
and the likely development of biofuels in southern Africa.

In Africa, farmers only apply 10% of the global average 
fertilizer per hectare. Omnia’s agronomic expertise is 
extensive and supports optimal fertilization, while our 
knowledge of the African agricultural environment enables us 
to provide practical and sustainable solutions to issues around 
food security.



Challenges and opportunities Our response

The opportunity 
South Africa has been a net importer of food since 2000, and innovative 
approaches are required to remedy the shortfall in food production.

 
In South Africa, for the country to become more self-sufficient 
in producing food, it is critical that new approaches are found 
to use the country’s arable land more effectively – Omnia’s 
expertise in the development of high-performance nutrients 
provide one such solution. 

In addition, Omnia continues to invest in research laboratory 
facilities and new technologies, including silica research and 
its potentially favourable implications for crop production as 
a fertilizer ingredient.

Development work in this area includes:

  Ground Penetrating Radar to map the spatial distribution 
of soil water content in a particular field.

  Silica has been shown to activate genes that stimulate the 
immune system of plants, assisting them to withstand 
disease and climatic stress.

  Trials on hydroponic tomatoes confirmed that phosphites 
have the ability to limit the severity of diseases and 
reduce the rate at which they infect the plant. The benefit 
in terms of crop performance is greater root development 
and an increase in marketable fruit.

South Africa’s agricultural capacity is under strain as it tries to meet 
its transformation objectives. Effective ways are needed to assist 
subsistence growers to become small-scale entrepreneurs.

Omnia’s Agriculture division is implementing collaborative, 
integrated approaches to facilitate the development of 
emerging farmers to fully take up their role in the South 
African agricultural sector as commercially viable and 
sustainable businesses. 

Developed by Omnia’s Agriculture Division to create a 
favourable soil environment and manage the life cycle of 
crops to increase production and improve farmer profitability, 
our Nutriology® training is instrumental in creating strong, 
sustained relationships between Omnia and our emerging 
agricultural customers.

Managing the skills shortage

The challenge
South Africa faces a well documented skills shortage in many sectors 
of the economy. For example, according to an Ernst & Young report 
released in 2008, the shortage of skills in the mining industry is so 
acute that it is likely to persist even if 5% to 10% of new projects are 
halted in the wake of the global financial crisis.

Against a backdrop of increasing mobility in an era of 
globalisation and acute shortages of technical skills, we are 
attempting to meet this challenge by developing a pipeline of 
talent through training interventions and by fast-tracking 
high-potential achievers. 

The opportunity 
Best practice personal and career development are powerful attraction 
and retention incentives for top talent.

Training offered through the Omnia Academy of Learning 
– which delivers training developed within the company to 
meet the specific demands of the business and ensure that 
knowledge is transferred across the Group to enhance skills 
– has been expanded.

In addition, a skills deficit in the explosives industry, which has 
resulted in the outsourcing of skilled explosives handling to 
companies such as BME, has motivated the company to 
contribute to the development of the local skills base by 
establishing a skills training centre near Emalahleni.

42 OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT continued



OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 43

management committee. The Board is in the process of 
appointing a lead independent director.

In line with King III, the Board is currently reviewing the risk 
management process. 

The remuneration committee now only comprises non-executive 
directors. Executive directors, including Mr Humphris, attend 
committee meetings by invitation. 

The Board of directors
As recommended by the King II and III Reports, Omnia Holdings 
Limited has a unitary board structure, comprising a majority of 
non-executive directors independent of management. As at 
31 March 2010, the Board comprised 11 directors, of whom six 
are independent non-executive directors, two are non-executive 
directors and three are executive directors. The Board as a 
whole selects and appoints new directors. A formal procedure 
applies to all appointments which are confirmed by shareholders 
at the annual general meeting. 

The guidelines contained in the JSE Listings Requirements are 
used to test the independence and category most applicable 
to each director. Prior to any appointment, potential board 
appointees are subjected to a fit and proper test, as required 
by the Companies Act, 61 of 1973, and the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

To ensure that there is a clear division of responsibilities, the 
roles of chairman and managing director are separate. 
The chairman and the managing director jointly provide 
leadership and guidance to the Group. 

The Board met eight times during the 2010 financial year. 
Details of directors’ attendance of board meetings throughout 
the year are provided on page 48 of this annual report.

The chairman
The Board appointed Mr Crosse as non-executive chairman in 
2000. As chairman, he is responsible for ensuring the integrity 
and effectiveness of governance practices. His role is to provide 
continuity, experience, governance and strategic advice. 
He leads the Board and is responsible for representing the Board 
to shareholders. His particular areas of responsibility include 
strategic planning, maintaining relationships with principals, 
government and customers, transformation, corporate relations, 
top-level contact with regulatory bodies, and advice and 
guidance on local and overseas acquisitions. 

The chairman’s level of involvement is considered essential 
by the Board, given the intrinsic knowledge and experience 
he brings to the effective running of the Board and guidance 
of the management team. 

Mr Crosse has been with Omnia for more than 30 years. 
His energy, enthusiasm and thorough knowledge of the 
chemical industry have helped guide the Group to its current 
success. He held the position of chairman of the Chemical 
and Allied Industries’ Association of South Africa (CAIA), the 
organisation responsible for administering Responsible Care in 
the South African chemical industry, for five years. He consults 
with and also provides strategic input and advice to the Group 
managing director on a regular basis.

Non-executive directors
Omnia’s non-executive directors bring a diversity of experience, 
insight and independent judgement on issues of strategy, 

Corporate governance 

This corporate governance section of our sustainability report 
outlines the key principles and governance practices of the 
Omnia Group. 

The Board of directors recognises that good corporate 
governance is essential to protect the interests of all 
stakeholders. Business is conducted in accordance with the 
principles of openness, integrity and accountability, as advocated 
in the Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct of the 2002 
King Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa (King II 
Report). The Board is committed to applying and enforcing 
appropriate corporate governance principles, policies and 
practices within each of the Group’s operations. Ultimately, 
the Board is the focal point of the Group’s corporate governance 
system, and is accountable and responsible for ensuring 
compliance with the King Report. The Group is in the process of 
reviewing the requirements set out in the King Code of 
Governance for South Africa, 2009 (the King III Report) and will 
adopt existing principles if required.

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that the 
principles of good governance are observed, and the directors 
collectively and individually acknowledge their responsibilities 
and duties in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements and other 
relevant legislation. 

The Board has reviewed the Group’s organisational structures 
and corporate governance procedures and has implemented 
measures to ensure ongoing compliance with good corporate 
governance practices. Through this process, all stakeholders can 
be assured that the Group is being managed according to 
prudently determined risk parameters and in compliance with 
generally accepted corporate practices. The Group’s audit 
committee is mandated with monitoring the Group’s compliance 
with the King Reports. 

Changes during the year
In the year under review, Mr Pretorius retired as an independent 
non-executive director to the Board on 23 October 2009 and 
Mr Masebelanga resigned as an executive director to the Board 
on 19 February 2010.

Statement of compliance
The JSE Listings Requirements require JSE listed companies 
to report on the extent to which they comply with the principles 
set out in the King II Report. The Board believes that the Group 
complies substantially with the King II Report and the JSE 
Listings Requirements. An area where the recommendations of 
the King II Report has not been applied is that the chairpersons 
of the Board, risk management and remuneration committees 
are not independent non-executive directors as defined by the 
King Report. Mr Crosse, non-executive chairman, chairs the 
Board and Mr Humphris, Group managing director, chairs the 
remuneration and risk management committees, respectively. 

The Board is of the opinion that Mr Crosse’s chairmanship 
of the remuneration committee, and his participation in decisions 
concerning remuneration of directors, helps to ensure that 
the Group’s remuneration policy is aligned with its strategic 
objectives. 

The Board is also satisfied that, given his knowledge and 
authority, the Group managing director is the most appropriate 
person to hold the position of chairman of the risk 



  Evaluating its own performance as a whole, the performance 
of management and that of sub-committees of the Board, 
including reviewing both its charter and methods of 
self-evaluation from time to time.

  Determining the appropriate code of ethics to ensure the 
integrity of the business affairs of the Group.

Directors’ interests in terms of other board positions and 
contracts are regularly declared, recorded and updated. Board 
members are required to recuse themselves when participating 
in deliberations or decision-making processes that could in any 
way be affected by a conflict of interest. During the year under 
review, none of the directors declared a material interest in any 
contract or arrangement entered into by the Group. 

The Board defines levels of materiality, reserving specific powers 
and delegating other matters with the necessary authority to 
management. The Board has adopted a formal resolution 
framework that serves as an authority matrix guideline.

Notwithstanding the mandate given to the audit, remuneration 
and risk committees, the Board is ultimately accountable and 
responsible for the performance and affairs of the Group. 
Delegating authority to board committees or management does 
not in any way mitigate or discharge the Board and its directors 
of their duties and responsibilities.

Selection and appointment
In terms of the company’s Articles of Association, one-third of 
the directors retire annually and, if eligible, stand for re-election. 
Their names are submitted for re-election at the annual general 
meeting.

Non-executive directors have no service contracts with the 
company and are appointed for specific terms. The Board has 
adopted a policy on the procedure for the appointment of 
directors. All directors are invited to assist in the identification 
and nomination of potential candidates. New appointments to 
the Board are confirmed at the following annual general meeting 
in terms of the company’s Articles of Association.

Dr WT Marais and Mr TR Scott will be retiring at the annual 
general meeting this year and will stand for re-election. Brief 
CVs are provided on page 128 of this annual report. With effect 
from 31 August 2010 Mr DL Eggers will retire as Group finance 
director and as executive director of Omnia and will not be 
available for election. Mr JJ Dique and Mr S Mncwango have 
been appointed by the Board. The appointments will be 
confirmed at the annual general meeting on 30 September 2010.

Induction and development
Newly appointed directors undergo an induction exercise 
appropriate to their needs. The company secretary assists the 
chairman with the induction and orientation of directors, 
including arranging specific training if required.

The company is also committed to continuing director 
development in order to build on their expertise and develop a 
more detailed understanding of the business and the markets in 
which the company operates.

In addition, individual directors may, after consulting with the 
chairman and managing director, seek external independent 
professional advice on matters concerning the affairs of the 
Group, and in connection with the discharge of their 
responsibilities as directors, at the expense of the Group.

performance, resources and standards of conduct, while 
contributing to decision making through their knowledge and 
experience. They are individuals of high calibre and integrity 
who provide a depth of wisdom based on this knowledge and 
experience. To protect shareholders’ interests, the independent 
directors ensure that no one individual director has unfettered 
powers of decision making and authority. 

Executive directors
Being involved in the day-to-day business activities of the Group, 
executive directors are responsible for ensuring that the 
decisions, strategies and views of the Board are implemented. 
Mr Humphris was appointed as Group managing director 
in 1999. He reports to the Board and is responsible for ensuring 
the smooth running of the day-to-day business of the Group, 
as well as guiding the implementation of policies and strategies 
adopted by the Board. In addition, he is responsible for 
developing and recommending to the Board a long-term strategy 
and vision for the Group that will generate stakeholder value, 
as well as developing and recommending to the board annual 
business plans and budgets that support the Group’s 
long-term strategy. 

The Board charter
The Board has adopted a charter defining its responsibilities, 
the terms of which include:

  Providing strategic direction to the Group and being 
responsible for adopting strategic plans (such as strategies 
and plans originated by management) and in particular, 
approving the five-year strategic plan.

  Approving the annual business plan proposed by 
management.

  Retaining full and effective control over the Group, and 
monitoring management’s implementation of the approved 
annual budget and strategies.

  Appointing the Group managing director, who is accountable 
to the Board.

  Preparing the Group’s financial statements, interim report 
and preliminary announcement, and ensuring the integrity 
and presentation thereof.

  Assessing the viability of the company and of the Group on 
a going-concern basis.

  Determining director selection, orientation and evaluation.

  Ensuring the Group has appropriate risk management, 
internal control and regulatory compliance procedures in 
place, and that these are communicated to shareholders and 
other stakeholders openly and promptly.

  Establishing sub-committees of the Board with clear terms 
of reference and responsibilities, as and when appropriate.

  Monitoring the non-financial aspects relevant to the 
business.

  Considering, and if appropriate, approving the declaration of 
dividends to shareholders (which are sanctioned by the 
shareholders when the annual financial statements are 
approved at the annual general meeting).

  Finding the correct balance between conforming to gover-
nance constraints and performing in an entrepreneurial way.
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the results of the review in the audit committee’s report 
in the company’s annual financial statements.

  Exercise oversight of financial reporting risks, internal 
financial controls, fraud and non-compliance risks as it 
relates to financial reporting and IT risks as it relates to 
financial reporting.

Services rendered by the external auditors during the year under 
review, and approved by the audit committee, comprised mainly 
compliance and other assurance-based engagements, including 
opinion work not related to or associated with any prohibited 
services in terms of the adopted policy. 

Both the internal and external auditors have unrestricted access 
to the audit committee. The external auditors may report findings 
to the committee in the absence of members of executive 
management. It is a duty of the audit committee to ensure that 
the independence of the external auditor is not impaired. 

During the financial year under review, PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Inc. acted as the external auditors of the company. The audit 
committee is satisfied that the external auditors observe the 
highest levels of business and professional ethics and that their 
independence is not impaired. The audit committee has also 
reviewed the external auditor’s registration requirements in 
terms of the JSE Listings Requirements and is satisfied that 
the external auditors are compliant.

The audit committee is responsible for recommending to 
the Board and shareholders at the annual general meeting 
for consideration, the approval and appointment of the 
external auditors.

The audit committee has, in accordance with the JSE 
Listings Requirements as amended, evaluated the experience 
and expertise of the finance director and is satisfied that he has 
the requisite experience and skills to fulfil his responsibilities 
competently.

Members of the audit committee conducted a self-evaluation 
exercise in order to identify areas that require attention and 
appropriate action to be taken in this regard. Based on this 
self-evaluation exercise, the audit committee will focus on 
strengthening its oversight role in relation to legal compliance 
and ensuring appropriate continuous development for audit 
committee members. At the end of each financial year, the audit 
committee reviews compliance with its terms of reference and 
makes appropriate recommendations to address any areas 
which may require improvement. During the year under review, 
the audit committee has satisfied its obligations in accordance 
with its terms of reference. The audit committee has also 
evaluated its compliance with the Corporate Laws Amendment 
Act, 2007, the Companies Act 2008 and the amendments to the 
JSE Listings Requirements as and when applicable, and the 
members were satisfied that the committee met the 
requirements of all.

Internal controls
The Group maintains systems of internal control over financial 
reporting and the safeguarding of assets against unauthorised 
use, acquisition or disposal. The internal audit function monitors 
these systems of internal control and reports its findings and 
recommendations to management. Corrective action is taken as 
and when control deficiencies or opportunities for improvement 
in the systems are identified. 

Board committees
While the Board remains accountable and responsible for the 
performance and affairs of the company, it delegates to 
management and board committees certain functions to assist 
the Board in properly discharging its duties.

Each board committee acts within agreed, written terms of 
reference that are reviewed and updated from time to time. 
The chairperson of each board committee reports back to 
the Board on the deliberation of the committee meeting, 
and minutes of board committee meetings are provided to 
the Board for comment and noting. 

The chairperson of each board committee is required to attend 
annual general meetings to answer questions raised by 
shareholders. The established board committees are as follows:

  Audit committee.

  Risk management committee.

  Remuneration committee.

Audit committee

Members:

Ms DC Radley (chairperson – independent 
non-executive director)
Mr FD Butler (independent non-executive director)
Ms HH Hickey (independent non-executive director)

During the financial year under review, the audit committee 
comprised three independent non-executive directors.

The chairperson is an independent non-executive director. 
The Group managing director, finance director, head of internal 
audit and the external audit partner are invited to attend 
meetings. The audit committee met on four occasions during 
the year under review. Details of the attendance by members 
of the audit committee is provided on page 48 of this report. 

The audit committee operates according to written terms of 
reference approved by the Board, which were reviewed in the 
year in accordance with the King III Report and the Companies 
Act 2008.

The responsibilities of the audit committee include:

  Oversee integrated reporting, and in particular has regard to 
all factors and risks that may impact on the integrity of the 
integrated report. 

  Review the interim and annual financial statements and 
consider whether they are complete, consistent with 
information known to the committee members and reflect 
appropriate accounting principles.

  Review the adequacy of management’s efforts in 
maintaining effective internal control systems, including 
information technology security and control.

  Review the performance of the external auditors and 
exercise final approval on the appointment or discharge of 
the auditors.

  Review the performance of internal audit and ensure that 
there exists no unjustified restrictions or limitations.

  Review the company’s finance function in order to satisfy 
itself of its expertise, resources and experience, assess the 
expertise and experience of the finance director and disclose 



  Reduce the cost of risk over the long term.

  Minimise the possibility of catastrophic loss.

  Carry the costs of the risks within the business as far as 
possible, depending on the assessment of the Group’s 
current cash flow strength.

  Ensure flexible and appropriate responses to changes in the 
business and legislative environment affecting risks.

  Continuously develop and implement an ongoing risk 
management process throughout the Group.

  Purchase adequate level of indemnity and cover, where 
economical and appropriate.

The committee met thrice during the year under review. 
Details of attendance by members of the risk committee are 
provided on page 48 of this report.

While operational risk can never be fully eliminated, the Group 
endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that the appropriate 
infrastructure, controls, systems and human resources are in 
place throughout the business units. At the operational level, 
senior management identifies major risks, promotes awareness, 
introduces an applicable control environment and procedures 
and applies risk monitoring.

The philosophy of the Group’s short-term insurance programme 
is to self-insure inevitable and smaller losses which are not 
administratively cost effective to submit to insurers, and to 
develop self-insurance and aggregate deductibles over the 
longer term. The Group transfers only potential catastrophic 
losses to insurers. Apart from motor vehicles, assets are 
traditionally insured for full replacement values.

The Group has profiled a wide range of risks, and the list is 
continually updated. The following have been identified as the 
top headline risk sources which the Group tackles through, 
amongst others, the following mitigation strategies:

Headline risk source Mitigation strategy

Foreign exchange 
rate fluctuations

Hedging committee and appropriate 
hedging policy

Global volatility of 
commodity prices

Hedging committee and appropriate 
hedging policy
Appropriate stock management

Weak treasury 
management

Effective treasury controls
Banker relationship management

Poor plant/site 
performance

Regular assessments
Planned maintenance and spares 
management

Unplanned event/ 
incident

Training and equipment control 
and audit
Emergency response plan

Poor product quality Quality assurance policy
Effective quality control

Competition law 
Litigation

Compliance training
Whistle blowing hotline
Annual declaration

Labour relations/
employment equity and 
talent management

Shares and incentive schemes
Succession planning
Bursaries and training

The purpose, authority and responsibility of the internal audit 
function are formally defined in an internal audit charter, which 
has been approved by the Board and which is consistent with 
the recommendation of the Institute of Internal Auditors.

The adequacy and capability of the Group’s internal audit 
structure is subject to review by the audit committee to ensure 
that adequate, objective internal audit assurance standards and 
procedures exist within the Group. In this regard, appropriate 
recommendations are made by the audit committee from time 
to time to ensure the continued improvement of the internal 
audit department.

The audit committee tables audit plans for each business 
annually. Follow-up audits are conducted in areas where major 
weaknesses are identified. 

The system of internal control is designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and 
can provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

The Group maintains a vigilant stance against corporate crimes 
and to that end a whistle blowing mechanism has been 
implemented with reports submitted directly to the audit 
committee through internal audit.

The whistle blowing line is intended to ensure that a proactive 
approach is applied to fraud with a focus on prevention, 
detection and investigation. This provides assurance to 
stakeholders that fraud risks within the company are being 
managed and mitigated.

Risk management committee
Members:
Mr RB Humphris (chairman)
Mr FD Butler (independent non-executive director)
Mr GC Brimacombe
Mr TE Grant
Mr FJ Hay
Mr JD Möller
Mr D Oosthuizen
Mr PG Spinazze
Mr D van den Berg

The risk management committee has established itself as an 
important management tool with inputs from all levels of 
management, operating in accordance with the framework and 
guidelines of a written risk policy.

It comprises members of the Board and executive management, 
and is chaired by the managing director. It is the Board’s view 
that management has the requisite experience and knowledge 
to identify and appropriately manage the business risks of 
the Group. 

The committee considers as many potential sources of risk as 
possible. The Group’s SHEQ officer and other specialist 
employees attend meetings by invitation. 

The risk management philosophy of the Group 
is summarised as follows:

  Risk is an inherent part of operating a business, in that 
taking no risk implies no reward.

  Ensure a culture of open and frank debate on risk.

  Know, understand and manage the risks affecting the 
business, consistent with achieving business objectives and 
enhancing shareholder value.
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Annual financial statements
The directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
annual financial statements. Management fulfils its 
responsibilities by maintaining adequate accounting records 
to ensure the integrity of these annual financial statements. 
This is accomplished by systems of internal control designed 
to provide reasonable assurance on the reliability thereof. 
Such controls provide the company with the assurance that the 
Group’s assets are safeguarded, transactions are executed in 
accordance with management’s authorisations and financial 
records are reliable. This is augmented by the Group’s ethics and 
prescribed policies and procedures which are regularly updated 
to take cognisance of changing circumstances in the financial 
and operational environment.

The company secretary
The company secretary is responsible for providing the Board 
collectively, and each director individually, with guidance on the 
discharge of their responsibilities in terms of the legislative, 
regulatory and governance requirements. 

All the directors have unlimited access to the advice and 
services of the company secretary. The company secretary plays 
a pivotal role in the company’s corporate governance process 
and ensures that, in accordance with the pertinent laws, the 
proceedings and affairs of the Board of directors, the company 
itself and, where appropriate, shareowners are properly 
administered. The company secretary also acts as the 
compliance officer and delegated information officer of the 
Group, and is responsible for the execution of statutory 
requirements applicable to those positions. 

In addition, individual directors may, after consulting with the 
chairman and managing director, seek external independent 
professional advice about the Group’s business and on any 
matters connected with the discharge of the responsibilities 
as directors, at the expense of the company.

Code of conduct
Omnia prides itself on its reputation for ethical conduct which 
it has built among all its stakeholders over many years. This 
stems from the uncompromising belief that honesty, integrity, 
professionalism and service must underpin every relationship 
entered into with employees, management, customers, 
suppliers, the government and the communities in which 
the Group operates. 

The Group has developed a Code of Conduct (the Code), which 
has been fully endorsed by the Board and applies to all directors 
and employees. The Code is regularly reviewed and updated as 
necessary to ensure that it reflects the highest standards of 
behaviour and professionalism. The directors believe that the 
ethical standards of the Group as stipulated in the Code are 
adequately monitored and are being met. Where there is 
non-compliance, the appropriate disciplinary procedures are 
consistently enforced as the Group responds to offences and 
prevents recurrence. 

In summary, the Code requires that, at all times, all company 
personnel act with the utmost integrity and objectivity and in 
compliance with the letter and the spirit of both the law and 
company policies. 

The Group has made great strides in recent years to reduce its 
risk exposures to any one product, industry or customer type 
by adopting a more balanced profile. The risk management 
committee reviews the extent of compliance with its terms of 
reference and makes appropriate recommendations to address 
any gaps which are identified during such reviews.

Remuneration committee

Members:

Mr NJ Crosse (Chairman – non-executive director)
Prof SS Loubser (independent non-executive director)
Dr WT Marais (non-executive director)

To ensure sufficient impartiality, the remuneration committee 
comprises three non-executive directors. The Group managing 
director and the Group human resources director attend 
meetings by invitation. The chairman of the Board chairs the 
remuneration committee. As stated above, the structure and 
composition of the remuneration committee, particularly that of 
chairman, is currently being reviewed in order to comply with 
corporate governance best practice. 

Other directors who do not serve on the committee may be 
invited to attend meetings for any special expertise they may 
have, or to explain the performance of an incumbent under 
review. The committee met four times during the 2010 financial 
year. Details of the attendance of members of the remuneration 
committee are provided on page 48 of this report.

The remuneration committee operates under written terms of 
reference which are reviewed from time to time. The main 
responsibilities of the remuneration committee are to:

  Obtain research and decide on the compensation packages 
and other terms of employment of the directors, the Group 
managing director and the managers reporting to him.

  Establish guidelines relating to the compensation and benefit 
arrangements for all employees of the Group.

  Prepare suggestions for the payment of directors’ fees for 
consideration by the Board (and subsequent approval by the 
shareholders at the annual general meeting).

The remuneration committee’s overall strategy is to ensure that 
employees are rewarded for their contribution to the Group’s 
operating and financial performance, by taking into account 
industry, market and country benchmarks. In order to promote 
an identity of interests with shareholders, share incentives are 
considered to be critical elements of executive incentive pay. 
Schedules setting out directors’ remuneration and equity 
interests appear in the directors’ report. Bonuses for senior 
executives are based on an economic value added (EVA) formula, 
which has been in place for many years. It is practice within the 
Group to spread payment of a portion of the bonus amount over 
a number of years. This rollover principle contributes to stable 
executive teams at Group and divisional levels.

The Group chairman’s compensation does not form part of the 
mandate of the remuneration committee and is negotiated with 
non-executive members of the Board as and when required.

Succession planning for the Group managing director is not dealt 
with by the remuneration committee, but by the Board as 
a whole.



securities prior to any formal announcement in respect of its 
financial results or during any other period where such dealings 
may be considered price sensitive. 

The policy also regulates the dealings by directors in Omnia 
Holdings’ securities, as required by the JSE Listings 
Requirements. This policy is implemented and monitored by 
the company secretary. In compliance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements, the chairman approves all share transactions 
by company directors prior to the transaction. This policy is 
reviewed and updated from time to time to ensure that it is 
compliant with any changes in legislation. 

The Board accepts its duty to present a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the Group’s position in reporting  
to stakeholders. Greater demand for transparency and 
accountability regarding non-financial matters is always taken into 
account. All stakeholders with a legitimate interest in the Group’s 
affairs can obtain full, fair and frank accounts of its performance. 

Barnard Jacobs Mellet Finance (Pty) Limited acted as the company 
sponsor during the year under review. With effect from 20 May 
2010, One Capital (Pty) Ltd was appointed as the company sponsor.

The Group acknowledges the importance of its shareholders 
attending the annual general meeting, as it offers an opportunity 
for shareholders to participate in discussions relating to agenda 
items and to raise additional issues. Explanatory notes setting 
out the effects of all proposed resolutions are included in the 
notice of the meeting. 

Directors reconsider their assessment at the year end of the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and determine 
whether any of the significant factors in the assessment have 
changed to such an extent that the appropriateness of the going-

The Code is provided to each employee as part of induction 
training, and employees are asked to sign a declaration 
confirming compliance with the Code annually.

Dealing in securities
The Group has a policy in place to ensure that it is compliant 
with all laws and regulations governing insider trading and 
trading during prohibited periods. This policy and practice 
complies with the Securities Services Act, the JSE Listings 
Requirements and all other relevant legislation. In compliance 
with this policy and practice, the Group restricts its directors, 
officers and other employees from dealing in the company’s 

Relations with shareholders
The Group pursues dialogue with institutional investors based 
on constructive engagement and the mutual understanding 
of objectives having regard to statutory, regulatory and other 
directives overseeing the dissemination of information by 
companies and their directors. 

Management is able to communicate the strategy and 
performance of the Group with investors and analysts through 
various presentations and meetings. The quality of this 
information is based on the standards of promptness, relevance 
and transparency.

The Group makes every effort to ensure that information 
is distributed via a broad range of communication channels; 
having regard to security and integrity while bearing in mind the 
need that critical financial information reaches all shareholders 
simultaneously and timeously. In communicating the Group’s 
strategy and results, the Group makes use of communication 
channels such as the Omnia website (www.omnia.co.za), 
Security Exchange News Service (SENS), as well as print, 
radio and television media. 

Attendance at board and board committee meetings
The record of attendance by each director at board meetings and board committee meetings for the financial year ended 31 March 
2010 is set out below:

Directors
Omhold

board meetings Audit

Risk

management Remuneration

Number of meetings held 8 4 3 4

Attended:

NJ Crosse 8 4

FD Butler 8 3 3

DL Eggers 8

NKH Fitz-Gibbon 8

R Havenstein 8

HH Hickey 8 4

RB Humphris 8 3

Prof SS Loubser 8 4

Dr WT Marais 8 4

RR Masebelanga# 5 1

JG Pretorius* 5

DC Radley 8 4

TR Scott 8

Note: 

* Retired as an independent non-executive director on 23 October 2009.

# Resigned as an executive director on 19 February 2010.
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Omnia also participated in the Financial Mail/Empowerdex 
survey for 2010, and based on recent information, although 
not tested to the degree performed during a formal verification, 
achieved a score of 63,74, and is ranked 59th overall in the 
Top 100 Empowerment Companies index in South Africa, 
published by the Financial Mail in April 2010. We have once 
again performed better than some of our competitors. We will 
commence the 2010 verification process in the last quarter 
of the 2010 calendar year.

Equity ownership
Omnia established the Sakhile equity scheme for employees, 
which places 10% of the company in the hands of our South 
African employees, in 2007. At the time of the launch, eligible 
employees were awarded 1 000 shares each. The Sakhile 
initiative ensures that the Group’s broader employee base 
benefits directly from its growth over the longer term, thus 
aligning their interests with those of shareholders. A separate 
legal entity, Sakhile, is now overseen by a board of directors 
who are nominated to their positions by members.

The Omnia Board has long recognised the need for significant 
management ownership participation within the Group and 
believes that the Group’s success is related to the excellence 
and long-term dedication of its key management personnel. 
The Board also believes that an effective partnership 
arrangement between the shareholders of Omnia and 
management enhances the wealth of the group. 

According to these objectives, a second phase of the employee 
share scheme, Sakhile 2, was launched during 2010. Aimed at 
black members of Omnia’s management team, a portion of the 
shares allocated to the scheme are to be used to attract skilled 
individuals to the Group and to retain talented black board 
members, executives and employees. 

Employment equity
At Omnia we believe that a diverse workforce contributes to 
cross-cultural understanding, broadens perspectives and helps to 
enhance our competitive edge. We are therefore committed to 
transforming Omnia’s workplace by systematically implementing 
an employment equity plan, which, based on a robust set of 
principles, guides the actions and initiatives we take to build 
a truly representative workforce. These principles include:

  Offering equal opportunities to all employees, irrespective 
of race or gender.

  Providing an enabling environment which allows people 
to develop to the full extent of their capabilities.

  The payment of remuneration packages that take account 
of individual performance and union agreements.

  The provision of a consultative environment for workforce 
representatives.

  Fostering a sense of ownership.

  Fostering an internal focus of control.

Part of Omnia’s process of developing the employment equity 
plan was establishing employment equity committees at 
plant-level across all divisions. These ground-based committees 
report to the divisional committees, who then report to the 
central Group employment equity committee. 

Plant and divisional-level committees debate strategies and 
monitor legislative compliance, while the central committee 

concern assumption at the interim reporting stage has been 
affected. The directors have formed a judgement that there is a 
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources 
to continue to operate for the foreseeable future, and therefore 
continue to adopt the going-concern basis in the preparation of 
the financial statements.

Employment equity and transformation

Workforce diversity
Our transformation goals aim to reflect the demographic profile 
of South Africa, in line with the economically active population 
at all levels. These goals are set to address areas of under-
representation in terms of diversity by race and gender at all 
levels. To realise our growth strategy, we focus on the attraction, 
development and retention of skills within the Group and in the 
broader South African context.

Initiatives to promote BBBEE 
Omnia regards BBBEE as a business fundamental that is crucial 
to the future of South Africa and its economy. It is an essential 
process required to bring about increasing black participation in 
the South African economy and reducing the existing disparity 
between income inequalities. 

Our BBBEE imperatives are based on the principles that:

  Poverty can only be effectively dealt with in a high-growth 
environment.

  Wealth must be generated and opportunities created to 
ensure a more equitable society.

  It is a moral necessity, required to address the legacy 
of a past in which the majority of South Africa’s citizens 
were excluded, on the basis of their race, from enjoying 
the benefits to be derived from being participants in the 
mainstream economy.

Omnia has completed its financial year 2009 (based on the 
annual report for the year ended 31 March 2009) BBBEE formal 
verification and it has, in line with its strategy, achieved a 
Level 5 status, with an overall score of 58,42 in terms of the 
Department of Trade and Industry’s (the DTI’s) BBBEE Codes 
of Good Practice. Omnia’s verification was conducted by 
Empowerdex, a SANAS-accredited verification agency. 

A Level 5 status affords a BBBEE procurement recognition of 
80% for customers of the Omnia Group. A copy of the new 
certificate and report is available on the intranet and the Omnia 
website at www.omnia.co.za.

Omnia performed well in terms of skills development, enterprise 
development and socio-economic development, having 
exceeded some of the targets set by the Codes in these 
categories. This is a reflection of the Group’s focus on 
developing employees and communities, and addressing the 
skills challenge faced by the Group. The Group has also done 
well in preferential procurement. We are hopeful that ownership 
will improve in the 2010 financial year verification, when our 
employee share scheme, Sakhile 2 is included. Our concerted 
efforts towards employment equity within all divisions will, 
however, continue. Omnia is within six points (a score equal to 
or greater than 65) of achieving a Level 4 status with a 100% 
BEE recognition level, which is in line with our target for 2010.



Description Male Female Total

African Coloured Indian White African Coloured Indian White

Top management – – – 8 – 1 – – 9

Senior management – 2 2 16 1 – – 1 22

Professional 15 3 17 133 3 4 4 40 219

Skilled 115 33 27 277 37 18 29 105 641

Semi-skilled 571 39 29 67 128 42 28 179 1 083

Unskilled 237 5 1 5 32 1 1 3 285

Total permanent 938 82 76 506 201 66 62 328 2 259*

* RSA employees only.
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During the year, the representation of black men and women in 
management, professional and skilled positions moved from 
33,6% to 34,9%, and overall black representation in the Group 
was 63,1%.

Procurement
Where possible, the Group seeks opportunities to increase its 
procurement of products and services from accredited BBBEE 
suppliers. In 2009, 49,2% of total procurement spend was with 
such suppliers, an increase of 14% over the previous year. At the 
same time, spend with enterprises that have a 50% black 
ownership increased from less than 1% to 8,95%.

Enterprise development
We believe entrepreneurs form the backbone of a vibrant 
economy. To this end, Protea Chemicals has developed strong 
business relationships with several black-owned businesses, 
providing assistance in the form of shared infrastructure, 
extended payment terms and by imparting business knowledge 
and expertise.

Omnia’s Agriculture division contributes to the vitally important 
agricultural sector of the economy with practical assistance on 
agricultural best practices in a wide range of agronomic 
applications. Government is planning to redistribute 20 million 
hectares to emerging farmers by 2014. If this land were to be 
divided into plots averaging 200 hectares in size, 100 000 new 
farms would be created. Agronomic assistance is a critical 
success factor in the economic viability and sustainability of 
these new farmers, and Omnia is committed to helping 
emerging farmers establish their own farming businesses.

Moreover, with agriculture as one of Omnia’s primary areas of 
focus, we have long been aware of the disparity that exists 
within the South African agricultural economy, which is 
characterised by a well-developed commercial sector and poorer, 
subsistence farming operations.

To address this disparity, Omnia actively provides development 
and emerging farmers with assistance and advice by making 
available the expertise of our trained agronomists. We offer 

assistance and support to new entrepreneurs to set up their 
own businesses wherever possible, contributing to the 
sustainability of enterprise development in the sector by offering 
input and practical assistance through agricultural best practices, 
not only in plant nutrition but also in other agronomic practices, 
for example soil cultivation, tillage systems and environmental 
programmes. Reduced tillage systems not only increase 
farmers’ profitability and reduce their production risk, but are 
also more environmentally friendly. Through the use of Omnia’s 
in-house developed technology, including OmniSap®, OmniBio™ 
and OmniPrecise™, our agriculturalists are able to further 
increase farmers’ margins and reduce their financial risk.

A dedicated agricultural unit, established specifically to assist 
emerging farmers, spent R9,9 million during the year under 
review on helping farmers establish their enterprises. Selection 
is made on the basis of farmer ability and agronomic due 
diligence – the potential of the farmer and the farm to be 
economically viable and sustainable in the long term.

Dryden Project
In 2006, Omnia, ABSA and Monsanto initiated a collaborative 
approach to support individual black farmers become sustainable 
commercial farmers. Implemented in the Delmas area, the 
Dryden project is now in its fourth year, and is fast becoming 
one of our most successful projects. 

Initially in 2006, two farmers planting on 260 hectares were 
supported to ensure a successful and sustainable 
implementation process. Unfortunately, extreme drought 
resulted in poor yields and a subsequent loss made by the 
two farmers. As we took a long-term approach to this project, 
the partners agreed to write off the bad debt and continue 
the initiative. In 2007, the intervention grew to five farmers 
planting on 1 000 hectares, with a total finance requirement of 
R6 million. This second year resulted in much better yields and 
small profits. 2008 saw seven participating farmers planting 
maize and sunflower on 1 600 hectares, with a total finance 
requirement of R8 million. During this year, farmers increasingly 
began to use their own equipment, reducing their reliance on 
contractors. A basic form of precision farming was also 

the committees have empowered employees at plant-level to 
take ownership of the employment equity process, and serve 
as a platform for employees to voice a broad range of concerns 
which are then escalated within the division and Group. 

Omnia’s employment equity status for the year under review is 
reflected in the table below.

evaluates progress against set objectives and targets in each 
business on a quarterly basis. All committees have received 
training as to their roles, and produce annual reports on 
their progress.

The introduction of plant-level committees has proven highly 
effective. Beyond setting and driving compliance with targets, 
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contributes agronomic advice, farming skills and fertilizer 
products. This 110-hectare apple project has been very 
successful and the majority of the produce is destined for 
the export market.

Batswa ko Pele
A collaborative project with the NWK co-operative to support 
20 black farmers growing maize and sunflower on about 
3 000 hectares in the North West, this project is now in its 
third year. Although implementation during the first year proved 
problematic, mainly due to difficulties in sourcing adequate 
finance, “teething” problems have been overcome and the 
farmers are going from strength to strength. In the last two 
years of the intervention, all the farmers were profitable. 
Omnia is a full-time partner in this project, providing dedicated 
agronomic support, products, services and training.

Agristart
Although the Agristart initiative has been in existence for a few 
years, it has experienced difficulties due to a lack of finance and 
the non-continuity of financiers. Based in the previous 
Bophuthatswana homeland, it also holds a unique challenge in 
that farmers rarely own more than 15 hectares each – really too 
small to establish viable commercial enterprises. This requires 
that progressive farmers need to rent substantial tracts of 
additional land. In 2008, the project saw the introduction of the 
NWK co-operative as a long-term financier, with support from 
the Northwest Department of Agriculture, and has become very 
successful. It now consists of about 90 participating farmers 
planting maize and sunflower on close to 1 100 hectares. 
Omnia is a full-time partner in this intervention, providing 
dedicated agronomic support, products, services and training. 

In 2010, the Agristart and Batswa ko Pele projects were 
combined to create a system where individual farmers can grow 
their businesses as viable, sustainable agricultural enterprises, 
and is now known as the NWK project.

To further assist these farmers, NWK has embarked on a training 
programme which includes a broad spectrum of subjects – from 
financial management to cattle and crop farming – with the latter 
module presented by Omnia personnel.

OVK Project
A collaborative project in the South-eastern Free State with OVK, 
Grain SA and other role-players, this initiative has grown from 
humble beginnings to deliver very positive results. Now in its 
third year of implementation, the project is poised to grow 
significantly to 12 farmers planting 3 000 hectares in 2010. 

VKB Project
Omnia’s expertise in Agri-BEE projects has seen a new 
collaborative partnership established in 2008 with VKB in the 
eastern Free State. Starting out with six commercial farmers 
planting maize on 700 hectares but lacking proper support, the 
project already achieved significant positive results in its first 
year of operation, and grew to more than 8 500 hectares in 
2009. Omnia is a full-time partner in this initiative, providing 
project management, dedicated agronomic support, and 
products, services and training.

Brooksby Project
The Brooksby project is a unique initiative conceived by a white 
commercial farmer to uplift his neighbouring community by 

implemented to introduce a technological approach to farming, 
and the principle of investing 50% of profits back into inputs 
for the next season has been agreed with the farmers.

Yields of up to eight ton per hectare of maize have been 
recorded and all of the 14 farmers currently participating in 
the initiative are profitable. This project has grown to more 
than 3 700 hectares in 2009, with a finance requirement of 
R20 million as these farmers expanded their farming operations. 
Crop rotation practices have been introduced, as well as further 
investment in equipment. 

One of the challenges going forward will be to increase the 
farmers’ footprint so they can operate on a more commercial 
scale and leverage the benefits of economies of scale.

Omnia is a full-time partner in the initiative, providing project 
management, dedicated agronomical support, products, services 
and training support.

In 2010, Omnia obtained finance from the Land Bank to assist 
participating farmers in the Dryden project, as well as 10 farmers 
from the Free State. The project was subsequently renamed the 
Land Bank project, and a section 21 company, the Grain Farmer 
Development Agency (GFADA), was established through the 
Value Chain Network. 

Two of Omnia’s personnel function as project managers in the 
Dryden and the Free State areas where the project is being 
implemented, and are also involved in marketing the grain 
produced. They successfully negotiated and established a 
partnership with NU-Pro commodities in Bethlehem to assist 
with the forward contracting of grain, which means that about 
50% of farmers’ grain was contracted at a price almost 
R250 per ton higher than the current SAFEX price – a big step 
in making these farmers more profitable.

Discussions with the Land Bank are also under way to increase 
the number of farmers in this project for the next season, while 
discussions have been initiated with the Bank to assist the VKB, 
OVK and NWK co-operatives, with whom Omnia has established 
further agricultural development projects. If Omnia’s negotiations 
with the Land Bank to assist these co-operatives and share their 
risk are successful, these initiatives will be in a position to 
expand much more rapidly. 

Lowveld emerging farmers
Omnia’s involvement with emerging farmers in the Lowveld 
commenced in 1998, with the South African Sugar Association’s 
launch of the first sugar cane projects in the area. Omnia 
disseminates knowledge of plant nutrition management and the 
principles of sugar cane fertilization during numerous farmers’ 
days held at the different projects. This assists emerging 
farmers to build successful businesses, as they are able to gain 
an understanding of all aspects of sugar cane production. More 
recently, finding solutions for finance availability for these 
farmers has become an additional focal point.

The Bethlehem Farmers’ Trust
The Bethlehem Farmers’ Trust (BFT) was established in 
Bethlehem in 1998, with the intent of progressing land reform 
in South Africa by establishing emerging farmers in local 
communities to produce apples in the eastern Free State as 
a sustainable agriculture project. The project is financed by 
the Industrial Development Corporation (IDC), and Omnia 



specifically those involved in grain production, to make a 
meaningful and focused contribution to the commercialisation 
of black farmers. Omnia is playing a leading role in co-ordinating 
this effort, and supports the organisation in various ways, such 
as creating partnerships for Agri-BEE projects, finding solutions 
to long-term finance and insurance challenges, and liaising with 
the Departments of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, and 
Rural Development and Land Reform to create more successful 
land reform and post-settlement support. At ground level, we 
provide project management, advisory and training services, and 
agricultural products. We believe the GVCN will have a profound 
impact on the mainstreaming of black commercial farmers, as 
the success of the approach has been proven beyond doubt.

Education
Mathematics and science skills underpin Omnia’s intellectual 
capital base. As such, the promotion of education, especially 
in these disciplines, is a key focus for the Group.

Zakhe Agricultural College
Omnia is a sponsor of Zakhe Agricultural College in KwaZulu-
Natal, which gives young people the skills and motivation 
required to succeed in the modern agriculture environment. 
Besides teaching subjects such as mathematics, science, 
biology and various agricultural specialisations, the college 
provides a practical learning experience, with students running 
their own farming projects during the year. All participating 
students are black.

Elgin Community College
The Elgin Community College aims to promote job creation by 
providing training in all aspects of deciduous fruit farming through 
a two-week winter school programme. The students are mostly 
farm workers from Elgin and Grabouw in the Western Cape.

Buhle Farmers’ Academy
The Buhle Farmers’ Academy is a renowned training institution 
at Delmas that provides training and practical experience to 
aspirant black farmers in a host of agricultural specialisations. 
With the support of various private sector partners, the Academy 
has trained over 1 400 farmers since its inception in 2000. 
Omnia sponsors all fertilizer used on the 90-hectare farm where 
students have the opportunity to hone their practical skills. 
Omnia personnel are also part of the teaching staff, specifically 
focusing on crop production. Omnia’s involvement further 
extends to assisting farmers, on completion of their studies, to 
access finance from financial institutions such as the Land Bank. 
We also play a pivotal role in sourcing land for graduates through 
our close association with the Department of Rural Development 
and Land Reform. In these ways, Omnia plays an active role in 
the alleviation of poverty and the promotion of sustainable 
economic development and resource use in South Africa.

Unobhala school in rural KwaZulu-Natal
Unobhala is one of the many disadvantaged rural schools 
situated in the Nkanyezini area in KwaZulu-Natal. The school has 
been operating in difficult conditions since 1983. Starting out as 
a Junior Secondary School, Unobhala gained Senior Secondary 
School status in 1997 and has about 375 pupils, 55 of whom are 
in Grade 12.

providing inputs, mechanisation and technical expertise to black 
farmers, which have enabled them to plant 1 100 hectares of 
maize. His dedication to and the successes he has achieved in 
the development of emerging farmers prompted Omnia to 
support this initiative, and since 2008 Omnia and NWK have 
provided dedicated expertise.

Small-scale farmer development
Although Omnia’s main focus is on creating profitable and 
sustainable black commercial farmers, we are cognisant of the 
huge challenges inherent in finding lasting solutions for the 
upliftment of small-scale farmers in rural areas – home to 
millions of people often caught in a poverty trap. The initiative 
includes products such as seed, fertilizer and chemicals being 
made available to project participants, enabling such 
entrepreneurs to become intermediary input suppliers by selling 
these products and at the same time training more people in 
their communities. 

Socio-economic development
Investing in communities
Omnia understands that contributing to the development of the 
communities in which it operates makes good business sense. 
Over its more than 50 years of operation, Omnia’s agriculture 
business has earned a strong reputation as a champion of the 
farming community, and continues to play an active role in the 
development of the domestic agriculture sector. Omnia’s 
contributions centre on supporting the development of emerging 
farmers, and actively contributing to agriculture and 
environmental education. In this way, we hope to support the 
sustainable development of African agriculture at both the formal 
and informal level by transferring skills and best practice.

As indicated earlier in this report, Omnia plays an important 
role in the development of emerging farmers to enable them 
to establish and manage commercially sustainable businesses. 
Our expertise and experience enable us to provide superior 
education services to emerging farmers, reducing their risk 
in a tough, competitive environment. But Omnia employees 
also offer their time and knowledge to assist with various 
complementary developmental projects in the agricultural 
environment.

In 2010, Omnia expanded its involvement in two projects in 
the North West Province – at Marotse Primary School and at 
the Uitkyk village feeding scheme – by donating two family drip 
irrigation systems with tanks for vegetable growing. Omnia 
personnel also provides advice on growing these vegetables, 
contributing to food security in vulnerable communities. 

Omnia’s socio-economic development spend in 2010 amounted 
to 3% of net profit after tax, against a target of 1%, compared to 
0,94% in 2009. In addition to our involvement in developing the 
emerging agricultural sector, Omnia has established partnerships 
in a variety of agricultural projects, including the following:

Grain Value Chain Network (GVCN)
The GVCN, an NGO established by a number of members, 
including Omnia and Grain SA, aims to co-ordinate the efforts 
and resources of role-players in commercial agriculture, 
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make a significant difference in the lives of generations to come, 
as true freedom and better livelihood choices are only introduced 
through access to improved education. 

Two full-time teachers ensure the learners receive relevant 
tuition, while BME funds the building maintenance and part 
of the running costs. The project is also important for BME 
employees’ morale, and both the country manager and financial 
manager are involved in looking after the project’s finances 
and infrastructure. 

Importantly, within each stage of building the school, various 
partnerships were established to ensure those community 
members involved in the project had certain responsibilities to 
undertake and achieve. Given that the people of the area are 
also involved in feeding schemes and brick-making, we believe 
this partnership will be long-lasting and sustainable. Founded on 
the principle of continued support, our integrated approach 
ensures the viability and success of the project. 

There has been a marked improvement in the fortunes of 
Unobhala High School since Zetachem stepped in with practical 
support in 2003.

Zetachem, together with Protea Chemicals KZN and African 
Amines, have supported the school well beyond their original 
pledge, as we believe a properly functioning school is critical to 
this community. Our hope is to see the learners and community 
of Nkanyezini continue to benefit from the project and that the 
community and the learners use the opportunity to succeed.

Education and infrastructure development support in Zambia
During the period under review, BME Zambia built a school, 
which also functions as an orphanage, for about 60 children in 
the Chingola area of Zambia, close to the company’s offices. The 
project is of enormous value to the company and the 
community, as the intention is a genuine attempt to uplift people 
of the surrounding area where the company operates, and to 

The table below reflects the Omnia Group’s socio-economic development spend for the year under review, compared to the previous 
two reporting periods.

2010 (R) 2009 (R) 2008 (R)

Omnia Group 198 000 168 000 105 513

Agriculture 493 604 525 972 746 592

Mining 342 249 137 421 –

Chemicals 1 083 600 1 285 574 446 000

Total annual spend 2 117 453 2 116 967 1 298 105

Economic performance

The Group’s sound financial performance contributes to creating 
employment opportunities and to the socio-economic aspirations 
of South Africans through payments to governments, suppliers 
and employees, as well as investor returns (these contributions 
are enumerated in the value added statement on page 1). 

In the year under review, total economic value added by 
the Group was R1,2 billion, compared to R1,8 billion in the 
previous year. 

However, the unprecedented market conditions which prevailed 
in the 2009 financial year, together with a 23% stronger rand, 
led to depressed earnings in the year ended 31 March 2010. 

Commodity prices continued their downward spiral into the 
second half of 2009. This, combined with lower levels of 
economic activity, led to all three divisions facing challenges from 
a combination of softer volumes, pricing pressures and weaker 
export prices. The subsequent reduction in earnings is amplified 
by the comparison with the unprecedented buoyant market 
conditions that had prevailed in the previous financial year.

Although prices were significantly lower, volumes were 
maintained and cash generation was strong, giving us a robust 
balance sheet going forward.

The commentary on the Group’s growth prospects included 
elsewhere in this report, specifically in the chairman’s statement 
and Group managing director’s review, provides a detailed view 

of how Omnia contributes to the growth of the sectors and 
geographies in which we operate. Our contribution to growth 
and development is made by providing specialised expertise and 
value added products to our customers, and also through our 
support of focused socio-economic initiatives.

Promoting a vibrant agricultural sector in Africa is important not 
only in terms of food security and global competitiveness, but 
also in assisting small farmers to practice agriculture on a viable, 
commercial scale. The Agriculture division’s specific initiatives in 
this regard have been described in further detail from page 50.

Mining is a crucial industry in Africa, given the continent’s 
substantial and as yet largely untapped store of mineral 
resources. In South Africa, precious metals account for about 
20% of total goods exports. The industry is also the country’s 
largest employer, with around 460 000 employees and another 
400 000 employed by the suppliers of goods and services to 
mining companies.

South Africa’s chemical industry, which includes fuel, plastics 
fabrication and pharmaceuticals, is the largest of its kind in Africa 
and has been identified by the government as a key driver of 
economic growth. The industry dominates manufacturing in 
South Africa, adding more value to the economy than any other 
sector and accounting for over half of the jobs created by 
manufacturing as a whole. The development of the chemical 
industry in other African countries offers opportunities for further 
growth and diversification of their economies.
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Foreseeing the possibility of a significant increase in the demand 
for mining and fertilizer products in the future and to ensure 
local supply security, Omnia is making a R1,4 billion capital 
investment in the construction of a world-class nitric 
acid complex.

This demand has been driven by significant growth in South and 
southern Africa’s mining sector – an 11% year-on-year increase 
in South Africa, in spite of economic downturn constraints, 
according to Statistics SA – and fuelled by an increasing demand 
for fertilizer to help South and southern Africa provide solutions 
to the world’s food security challenge, and drive sustainable 
development across the continent.

This will be the first nitric acid plant of its kind to be built in 
South Africa since 1984, representing a milestone 30-year 
investment in the development of South African capacity to 
produce nitric acid and ammonium nitrate. The initiative will 
bring world-class technology to South Africa and guarantee the 
local supply of critical raw materials to Omnia’s downstream 
mining and agriculture businesses.

The growth in both the agricultural and mining markets has been 
driven by international demand and development trends which 
are set to continue. The high demand in particular in the mining 
industry has placed significant pressure on the sector’s supply 
chains and subsequently revealed weaknesses in local 
supply security. 

The pressure on local product manufacturers has meant that 
suppliers had to consider sourcing additional product from 
overseas. However, importing ammonium nitrate is not a 
sustainable solution for the South African explosives industry, as 
it undermines the cost-effectiveness and competitiveness of the 
local industry. There is also increased demand for nitrogen-
related chemicals in agriculture and this industry would also be 
negatively impacted by constraints on local availability.

Omnia has felt this pressure by experiencing an increasing 
shortage of a critical raw material, ammonium nitrate, a major 
component required for the production of fertilizer and 
explosives, which prompted us to start assessing the feasibility 
of building a second nitric acid plant complex. We have been 
building the market for 10 years and this investment will enable 
us to meet increased demand in both explosives and fertilizers, 
allowing us to leverage supply-side synergies between 
these businesses.

Omnia sees the plant as a much-needed investment in the 
future of South Africa’s agricultural sector, enabling us to add 
greater value for South Africa’s farmers. Since Omnia’s existing 
plant is already operating at capacity – which means that the 
availability of nitric acid for our fertilizer usage has been 
restricted – the growth of our fertilizer business has been based 
on alternative raw material solutions, such as using urea and 
other nitrogenous products, as well as sourcing nitrate products 
from other producers. 

The plant is one of our biggest investments to date in South 
Africa and demonstrates the Group’s commitment to South 
Africa’s mining and agricultural sectors.

This second nitric acid plant complex, developed in Sasolburg 
adjacent to our existing plant, will produce 1 000 tons per day, 
nearly 50% more than our current plant, and is scheduled to 
come on stream in 2012. 

The plant is expected to start production on the first day of 
operation at 60% to 70% of its full capacity, and is estimated to 
generate internal cost savings of about R280 million per annum 
at this capacity level. 

To implement this project, Omnia is raising R1 billion in capital 
from our shareholders, who have given us their full support. 
It is significant that we have been able to raise 42,5% of our 
market cap in the form of additional shares in the turmoil of 
financial markets. And to raise it not as a rescue package – 
which many companies are having to do – but for growth shows 
the confidence that the management, board and shareholders 
have in the long-term future of the Group and its growth 
prospects. Raising the major portion of the capex required 
through equity leaves us with a very strong balance sheet to 
take up suitable growth opportunities and be well set for any 
further volatility in world financial markets, thereby significantly 
reducing the financial risks associated with embarking on a 
project of this nature.

The remaining funding requirement for the project will be 
covered through a combination of internally generated funds and 
long-term project finance. 

We are confident that this investment will be highly capital 
efficient, as the company is set to benefit from the negotiation 
of favourable construction contracts during the economic 
downturn and favourable imported equipment prices achieved 
on the back of a strong rand. In addition, about one-half of the 
project value will be sourced locally. 

The new facilities will use best-in-class technology conforming 
to the highest standards of sustainable environmental 
development. Plant emissions will be significantly below 
legislation requirements. The facilities will have co-generation 
capacity, and will generate sufficient energy for their own 
requirements while contributing about 50% of the current 
factory’s energy needs, significantly cutting Omnia’s existing 
electricity supply requirements. This energy saving is important 
in the context of South Africa’s power stresses and could also 
form the basis of a bid to secure clean development mechanism 
funding for the investment.

The new plant logistics also include investment in rail 
infrastructure, via state-of-the-art rail tankers, to comply 
with best-practice safety transportation standards. 

Omnia’s second nitric acid plant complex will boost local supply security
in mining and agricultural supply chains
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Ongoing learning is facilitated through a range of initiatives and 
includes on-the-job training, in-house development projects and 
financial assistance for external studies ranging from Adult Basic 
Education and Training (ABET) to post-graduate degrees.

The identification and development of talent within the Group 
is an established principle and part of Omnia’s advocacy of a 
learning culture. Underpinning the learning culture is a dedication 
to encouraging discussion, forming partnerships to solve 
problems and mentoring programmes to facilitate personal 
development.

The Group value proposition of leveraging intellectual capital to 
provide differentiated products and services finds expression in 
the offering of training and development opportunities available 
to staff at all levels within the organisation.

Impacting on training is the new National Skills Act, which came 
into effect during 2009, and the establishment of the Quality 
Council for Trades and Occupations (QTCO), which will see the 
enforcement of work skills plans being required in terms of the 
new Organisation Framework of Occupational Codes that 
replaces the previous occupational categories.

Although this requires that Omnia will need to review its training 
initiative, significant progress has been recorded in the training 
and development of employees.

During 2010, the average number of training days recorded 
across the Group increased from 4,5 days to 6 days per 
employee. Our training days target per employee has until 
recently been 5 days; however, benchmarking against 
international companies as well as our counterparts within the 
chemical sector indicated that this target should be reviewed. 
A best-practice benchmark is deemed to be a 7 to 10 day target 
per employee. 

2,5% of the leviable payroll was spent on training (compared 
to 2,18% in 2009). According to the DTI BBBEE Codes of Good 
Practice, the target for training of black employees is 3% of the 
leviable payroll. We have adopted the 3% target across the 
board for training spend on all employees, regardless of race.

Social performance

Recognising our people
We recognise that our people play a fundamental role in 
achieving sustainable business success. Our broad-based 
approach to the management of our people – which includes 
defined strategies to attract and retain talent, enhance 
motivation amongst staff and increase attention to positioning 
the Group as the chemical sector’s employer of choice – is 
crucial to the sustainability of Omnia. 

Employee turnover dropped significantly to a five-year low of 
10% during the period under review.

Remuneration policy
The Group’s remuneration policies are integral to our retention 
strategy. To remain competitive, remuneration is benchmarked 
against the broader industry, and revised annually through 
internal mechanisms such as remuneration committee 
meetings, as well as discussions at industry bargaining 
unit forums.

In addition to competitive salaries and benefits, we offer 
short-term incentives such as performance-based commissions 
and bonuses. Short-term incentives for senior management are 
based on an economic value added (EVA) formula. EVA 
incentives are calculated as a percentage of EVA the Group 
generates annually and then pooled, with allocations rolled over 
a three-year period.

Developing talent
Training and developing our current and potential workforce are 
cornerstones of our strategy. In addition to ensuring a pool of 
motivated, skilled employees, building individual capabilities 
contributes fundamentally to more sustainable societies. 
Development initiatives are underpinned by a focused effort to 
identify and address specific training needs at every level. In 
addition, these initiatives are aimed at entrenching a culture of 
lifelong learning and giving our people the life and technical skills 
they require to succeed in a rapidly changing world.

The split of training costs and training days between black and white employees are reflected below:

2010 2009

Percentage 
of costs

Percentage of 
training days

Percentage 
of costs

Percentage of 
training days

Black employees 57% 61% 51% 52%

White employees 43% 39% 49% 48%

Total 100% 100% 100% 100%
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Training hours by category and training spend during the period under review compared to the prior period were as follows:

2010 2009

Course category Training hours Training hours

Total  100% 103 963 100% 64 430

Technical training  29% 30 215 18% 11 743

Management and leadership development 17% 17 773 6% 3 940

Finance and administration 13% 13 065 5% 3 399

SHEQ 11% 11 767 16% 10 445

Marketing and sales 7% 7 650 10% 6 468

Equity 5% 5 670 11% 7 076

Information technology 4% 3 720 11% 7 077

Personal development 3% 2 828 4% 2 837

Logistics 3% 3 399 1% 685

Product service management 2% 2 188 7% 4 502

Induction and general company communication 2% 1 882 4% 2 330

Life skills 2% 1 718 3% 2 247

Legal framework 2% 1 665 2% 971

People management 0% 399 1% 710

Science 0% 24 0% 0

 

Training spend

Course category
2010
Rand

2009 

Rand
Total 15 180 288 9 971 919

Management and leadership 
development 3 122 484 912 607

Technical training 2 257 712 733 971

SHEQ 1 643 714 1 703 901

Marketing and sales 1 395 670 1 064 051

Equity 1 300 858 1 384 998

Finance and administration 1 260 770 941 185

Logistics 780 107 227 891

Personal development 763 494 781 009

Product service management 599 847 511 691

Information technology 493 603 219 100

Science 318 459 39 946

Engineering 278 463 767 755

Legal framework 256 380 155 354

Explosives management 225 275 109 137

Life skills 209 400 170 820

Business 107 804 53 123

Induction and general 
company communication 84 526 93 555

People management 71 108 100 747

Human resources 10 614 1 078

Training and development initiatives during the year included:

  The skills development section of the BEE verification audit 
was completed and submitted to Empowerdex for auditing. 
Based on the information supplied for verification purposes, 
Omnia reached a target of 6,8% – which exceeds the 
BBBEE target requirement that learnerships awarded to 
black employees must represent 5% of total headcount.

  The Group provided financial assistance through bursary 
programmes for tertiary education at universities and tertiary 
institutions in disciplines ranging from accounting, agriculture 
and engineering to information technology, marketing and 
general business management. BME, achieved its target of 

having at least seven students studying various engineering 
disciplines and ended the year with eight students, one of 
whom has joined BME in a permanent capacity. The Group 
recruited three new students in the IT and engineering fields 
of study, whilst a chemical engineering student, supported by 
Protea Chemicals, completed her studies and has joined the 
Chemicals Division in the Western Cape. 15 external bursary 
students, seven of them black, will continue their studies 
in 2010. 

  Omnia has facilitated the training of 47 artisans, of whom 
45 representing various disciplines were employed with 
Omnia Fertilizer. Accredited as a training site for artisans, 
Omnia Fertilizer qualified 10 artisans during the year. 
In addition, 22 chemical operators achieved National 
Qualifications Framework (NQF) Level 3 and 4 accreditation. 
Several workplace experience grants were made available, 
enabling employees with practical “on-the-job” experience to 
work towards formally recognised qualifications.

  Protea Chemicals facilitated a process that enabled 
16 employees, of whom 14 are black, to undertake 
NQF Level 3 qualification studies for general management. 

  Across the Group, 105 employees, of whom 88 were black, 
participated in learnerships during the period under review.

  Financial assistance for part-time studies was extended to 
157 employees (compared to 133 employees in 2009), of 
whom 55% were black. The students registered for diploma 
and degree qualifications in management development, 
logistics and supply chain management, engineering and 
financial disciplines.

  Registered as a Training Outside Public Practice (TOPP) 
provider for accountants by the South African Institute of 
Chartered Accountants (SAICA), Omnia focused on providing 
training that meets the exacting requirements of the 
accounting industry. During the year, due to the loss of one 
student and the failure of another to make sufficient 
progress in two calendar years, the TOPP acceptance criteria 
were amended to include a minimum entrance qualification 
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Agriculture Division to create a favourable soil environment 
and manage the life cycle of crops to increase production 
and improve farmer profitability, the Nutriology® training 
is instrumental in creating a strong, sustained relationship 
between Omnia and its agricultural customers.

Developing leaders
The Omnia Leadership Development Programme (LDP) was 
established in 2009, in conjunction with the GIBS Business 
School at the University of Pretoria, to promote the development 
of a strong leadership cadre within Omnia. The initial offering at 
GIBS included a Fundamental Management Programme and a 
Programme for Management Development, both of which were 
completed in May 2010. A graduation ceremony will take place 
in August 2010, where we expect to see 24 students, of whom 
13 are black, graduate from the Fundamental Management 
Programme, and a further 29, of whom 12 are black, from the 
Programme for Management Development.

As an integral part of both programmes, students were expected 
to complete “Action Learning Projects”. These projects, 
undertaken by syndicate teams comprising at least six Omnia 
employees each, were required to address problems or 
challenges within the company. Each team was expected 
to suggest solutions to the identified business challenge 
and present their findings to Omnia senior management. 
A professional GIBS coach assisted the teams through the 
entire problem-solving exercise.

Managing and monitoring performance
Managers conduct regular sessions with their staff to discuss 
performance, training and career paths, and to ensure that they 
receive continuous and relevant training. The spirit of these 
sessions is one of jointly finding ways to maximise performance 
and ensure appropriate career development.

for new students of a Certificate in the Theory of Accounting 
(CTA). Four black male students who met this requirement 
were enrolled as TOPP students.

  Training offered through the Omnia Academy of Learning, 
which is overseen by senior management, has been 
expanded. The Academy is tasked with the delivery of 
training developed within Omnia to meet the specific 
demands of the business and ensuring that knowledge is 
transferred across the Group to enhance skills and company 
service levels.

  Personal skills development courses offered through the 
Academy of Learning continued to be well supported by 
employees, and included modules on management, personal 
and inter-personal effectiveness, selling skills, presentation 
skills and finance for non-financial managers.

  Qlikview, originally developed as a business information tool 
for financial reporting, has been expanded and is now used 
to provide a high level of transparency and integrity in the 
management of human resources information. The 
expanded Qlikview now also covers equity reporting by 
measuring ratios of appointments and actual headcount. 
In the BEE Skills Development Matrix, it assists in identifying 
the additional, secondary costs associated with managing 
the BME Training Centre optimally.

  Besides the Nutriology® curriculum training introduced in 
2009, a new supply chain course covering an introduction 
to sales and operations training and demand forecasting 
has been developed to inculcate skills required by the 
Quality Assurance Division (QAD) in the area of demand 
management. The intake of employees on holistic 
Nutriology® training was curbed during the year because 
of the number of employees already trained during the 
previous reporting period. Developed by the Omnia 

A cause for concern within the South African open cast mining 
industry is the retention of blast specialist expertise, which 
has become increasingly difficult with more and more skilled 
South Africans opting to emigrate or work abroad. 

A skills deficit in the explosives industry results in the 
outsourcing of skilled explosives handling to companies such 
as BME. While the company is able to provide the necessary 
skills for its customers, it wants to contribute to the 
development of the local skills base. BME has therefore 
established a skills training centre based at its Douglas site, 
near Emalahleni as one way of achieving this aim. The centre 
is used to train BME employees and clients who want to 
develop their in-house mining explosives skills.

In addition, intellectual capital is a concern and a scarce 
commodity, and BME has various staff retention schemes 
in place. However, socio-political influences and career 
opportunities abroad can, unfortunately, not be overridden 
by training and monetary incentives alone. BME’s multilevel 

practical recruitment and retention strategy is aimed at providing 
its employees with a basket of opportunities to improve 
themselves.

So, while the company strives to ensure that it adopts market-
related remuneration practices, it boasts a robust skills 
development programme. When employees join the company, 
they are provided with structured induction training. Employees 
also receive in-house training for job-specific activities to create 
a core competence within the company.

Further, BME engages third parties for specialist training 
in a wide variety of business institutions and trade training 
workshops, which cater for the employees’ personal 
development needs as identified in the personal development 
programmes. The company has a variety of programmes 
run by tertiary education providers to provide employees 
with other opportunities to take theoretical knowledge and 
apply it to their work environment.

BME addresses the skills deficit in the mining explosives industry
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environmental performance, we strive to align our business with 
the global Responsible Care® principles, which requires us to:

  Conduct our operations in a manner that minimises adverse 
environmental impacts and protects the health and safety 
of our employees and the public.

  Manage the triple bottom line of our operations as an 
integral part of our business.

  Integrate health, safety and environmental considerations 
into our planning for new products and processes.

  Use resources efficiently and minimise waste.

  Engage and work with people to understand and address 
their concerns and expectations.

  Co-operate with governments and organisations in the 
development and implementation of effective regulations 
and standards.

  Provide help and advice to foster the responsible 
management of chemicals by those who manage and use 
them along the product chain.

Industrial relations
Trade union membership has remained constant at about 
33% of the permanent South African workforce of Omnia. 
Membership is spread across five unions, with the largest 
union representing 14% of the workforce.

During negotiations around the 2009 wage increases, two of the 
four participating unions, the Chemical, Energy, Paper, Printing, 
Wood and Allied Workers Union (CEPPWAWU) and the General 
Industries Workers Union of South Africa (GIWUSA), called a 
national strike which lasted for 10 days but did not garner the 
support of all union members.

Safety, health and environmental 

(SHE) performance 

Our policy
Omnia is an active member of the Chemical and Allied 
Industries’ Association (CAIA) and a signatory to the 
association’s Responsible Care initiative. Committed to continual 
improvement in all aspects of our health, safety and 

In an effort to bring the country on  par with best-practice safety 
standards in the mining industry, the South African National 
Standard 551 code for mining  explosives has been drafted 
by the South African Bureau of Standards, in collaboration 
with industry role-players, including Omnia, and will be enforced 
in 2010.

The new standards enable the formalisation and standardisation 
of the approval tests required for the authorisation of all 
explosives used in the local commercial explosives industry, 
and regulate most aspects of the industry – from explosives 
transportation to safe handling and security of all explosives.

Although local manufacturers and suppliers of explosives 
products have always internally adopted internationally accepted 
methodologies relating to product design, quality and safety, 
a formal national standard only existed for permitted explosives 
and permitted detonators used in coal-mining operations.

This changed in 2006, when a working committee comprising 
role-players from industry approached government and 
expressed the need for a national  standard, which has become 
necessary with the diversification of the industry. BME was one 
of the companies on this committee.

A number of companies supply explosives to the mining industry 
and they have often adopted international best practices 
governing the industry. The new regulations incorporate 
international best practices, most of which come from Europe 
and Canada, but have been adjusted to suit South African 
conditions.

BME cautions, though, that while the standards introduced 
will regulate the industry, they are still only the minimum 

standards and there is significant room for improvement on 
the part of companies.

Addressing Africa’s challenges
BME also supplies a number of countries in Africa, with a 
primary focus on the southern and West Africa regions, 
where it has seen significant mining expansion interest, 
particularly for gold in West Africa.

Growth in mining development across the continent will 
positively benefit the mining supply industry. BME’s extensive 
understanding of the unique aspects of doing business in 
Africa is an advantage that international product suppliers are 
sometimes unable to match.

However, some of the challenges in Africa that supply chain 
companies need to overcome include logistics because of 
varying infrastructure standards across the continent. Explosives 
that are supplied to mines need to be transported on existing 
transport infrastructure, such as roads, and this is a factor which 
cannot be controlled by the supplier but needs to be  accounted 
for in planning. 

In the explosives sector, an additional challenge is the lack 
of comprehensive legislation governing the use of explosives 
and the processes of importing them for business purposes. 
BME has been involved in assisting some countries to 
develop legislation in this regard, including participation in the 
development of an Explosives Act in Mauritania, in West Africa.

BME facilitates new explosives code for South Africa
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products and services, have been implemented during the 
period under review. Opportunities for improvement still exist 
following our philosophy of continued improvement and specific 
projects will be launched in the next financial year to address 
priority issues.

SHE expenditure
The Group’s total expenditure on safety, health and 
environmental aspects for the period under review increased 
from R61 million in F2009 to R77 million in F2010. Capital spend 
during 2010 included R24 million for a co-generation project, 
which involved the installation of a 1 920 kW turbo-generator at 
the Omnia Fertilizer factory in Sasolburg, which was successfully 
commissioned during the year. 

Transport
Transport incidents
The number of transport-related incidents is a cause for concern. 
Specific measures were implemented for the approval of 
contractors used for deliveries, vehicle checklists and directives 
on load securement. The total number of transport incidents 
decreased from 57 in F2009 to 55 in F2010. All of these 
incidents have been dealt with in a responsible way and 
rehabilitation was introduced where required.

Transport incidents include all transport incidents over land, sea, 
air and rail which involve raw materials, intermediates, final product, 
own vehicles and contractor vehicles. They exclude claims relating 
to insurance incidents on employee motor fleet vehicles.

Incidents per ton manufactured
Transport incidents per 100 000 ton of product manufactured 
increased from 2,81 to 3,02 due to a decrease in the volume 
of products manufactured and an increase in the amount of 
products traded.

Legal incidents
The number of legal incidents, which include SHE-related fines, 
warnings summonses and penalties, increased significantly 
from two during F2009 to 17 in F2010. At Omnia Fertilizer, 

To entrench these commitments throughout the Group, 
we have committed ourselves to implementing an Integrated 
Management System (IMS), which is based on ISO 9001, 
ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001 guidelines. The roll-out of the 
IMS has been completed at Omnia Fertilizer and BME, and is 
anticipated to be completed at Protea Chemicals by the end 
of 2011.

In addition to health and safety committees at all sites, a joint 
Safety, Health, Environment and Quality (SHEQ) committee is in 
place, chaired by the Group general manager for engineering 
projects and services. The SHEQ committee meets on a 
quarterly basis to discuss SHEQ projects and issues of mutual 
interest within the Group, and to transfer knowledge and best 
practice between divisions.

SHEQ aspects, impacts and risks per site are continuously 
evaluated and recorded on the respective registers for all our 
sites in terms of the IMS. Occupational health and safety risk 
assessments are also conducted on each site once every two 
years as per the requirements of the Occupational Health and 
Safety (OHS) Act.

The results of these assessments are communicated to the 
health and safety committees of all sites, and remedial projects 
are identified, implemented and monitored. A summary of major 
risks is included in the Omnia Group risk management report 
which is reviewed by the Omnia Group risk committee in its 
bi-annual meetings.

The Group has also decided to formulate more stringent product 
requirements for its international suppliers. Checks by qualified 
Omnia personnel are now standard procedure on internationally 
supplied materials. These quality measures are applied 
throughout the supply chain, from the supplier’s facilities to the 
point of delivery. 

Measuring our performance
Several initiatives to continually improve Omnia’s safety, health, 
and environmental performance, and the quality of Omnia’s 

In mid 2009, BME commissioned a shocktube production plant 
in Losberg in the North West province to improve its service 
offering to the mining industry by providing another safer 
alternative to fuse igniter cord. The production facility, a 
significant investment for the company, is situated near 
Carltonville – famous for housing some of the deepest mines 
in the world.

BME has been researching and developing its shocktube 
technology for a number of years and has been using it 
extensively in surface mining applications. Now it is driving its 
shocktube technology for underground applications – where its 
market share has been relatively modest – as a priority.

With shocktube blasting, the tube acts as a signal transmitter 
between the detonators in each blasthole. The hollow tube is 
lined with a fine layer of explosives powder.  When lit, this 

powder detonates and generates a pressure wave that travels 
down the tube to the detonator in the explosives in the hole. 
With conventional fuse-and-igniter-cord technology, the 
disadvantages are that the blasthole firing times can be 
inaccurate.  Ideally, in a blast, it is best to have all holes firing 
as closely as possible to their designed firing times; this is very 
hard to achieve with fuse technology as fuses burn at variable 
speeds.  This may result in poor fragmentation, hanging-wall 
damage and an uneven face advance.

BME’s technology therefore allows mines to achieve improved 
overall efficiency, and save money.

In addition, more effective safety  practices – such as this 
technology introduces – are of vital importance in the use 
of mining explosives. BME partners with its clients to assist 
them in ensuring the best safety practice when dealing 
with explosives.

BME’s new shocktube production plant provides a safer alternative in underground mining applications
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Waste
General waste to landfill 
Due to construction activities at our Sasolburg factory, where 
building rubble is removed to the local municipality landfill site, 
the Group’s total volume of general waste disposed of during 
the period under review increased from 2 050 tons in F2009 
to 4 761 tons in F2010. 

Hazardous waste to landfill
The total volume of hazardous waste rose during F2010, but 
disposal was to a registered waste site in accordance with legal 
requirements. 828 tons was disposed of compared to 686 tons 
in F2009. Waste removed to landfill sites increased due to the 
cleaning of acid dams in the Fertilizer division. An improved 
waste management and classification system, introduced at 
Protea Chemicals’ East London and Port Elizabeth sites, also 
contributed to the rise in the disposal of hazardous waste.

Recycled waste
A decrease in the volume of waste recycled – from 5 729 tons 
in F2009 to 759 tons in F2010 can be attributed to increased 
internal recycling and reworking of products at Omnia Fertilizer’s 
Sasolburg site.

Environmental incidents
The Omnia Group experienced a slight increase in the number of 
environmental incidents, from 92 in F2009 to 94 in F2010, but all 
have been dealt with according to the NEMA principles. Eight of 
these incidents – three occurring at our Fertilizer division, four at 
Protea Chemicals and one incident at BME – can be classified as 
major incidents.

Major environmental incidents are defined as:

  Incidents involving the release of greater than 1 ton of 
chemicals/diesel fuel, oxidiser etc be it in the solid, liquid 
or gaseous form.

  Damage to ecosystems outside of the site/factory 
(for example, fish, bird or wildlife kills, and damage to flora).

  “Written” notices from government departments 
demanding action.

  Emergency services involving larger spills/leaks attracting 
media attention and/or causing visible damage 
to ecosystems (for example, bird or fish kills, and 
dead vegetation).

  Major deviations from effluent specifications for long 
periods of time.

the Department of Labour investigated and completed three 
lost-time injuries in a satisfactory manner. The fourth incident 
at this division related to a visit from the Department of 
Environmental Affairs for a compliance audit on a Record 
of Decision that was issued based on an Environmental 
Impact Assessment.

At Protea Chemicals Division, six effluent contravention notices 
were received from the Nelson Mandela Local Municipality for 
off-specification effluent. Three section S24G administrative 
fines were also paid. The Ethikwini Municipality issued an 
effluent contravention notice to Zetachem and KwaZulu-Natal 
Quality Street, while a complaint relating to dust and effluent at 
the division’s Springs site was investigated and managed.

Water consumption
The Group’s total water consumption increased from 
861 219 kilolitres in F2009 to 1 192 378 kilolitres in F2010, 
while our water consumption per ton of product increased from 
0,357 kilolitres/ton of product during F2009 to 0,436 kilolitres/ton 
in F2010. These increases were mainly due to greater water 
usage at our Sasolburg site because of a decrease in cycles at 
the nitric acid cooling tower and an increase in production. 
However, water management changes have been implemented, 
which significantly optimise our re-use of water and decrease 
our municipal water use.

Energy consumption
The Group’s total energy consumption decreased from 
8 690 113 gigajoules (GJ) in F2009 to 8 100 529 GJ in F2010, 
while total energy consumption/ton of product manufactured 
dropped from 3,6 GJ/ton to 3,0 GJ/ton over the same period.

This reduction in energy use can mainly be attributed to 
optimisation efforts and the implementation of a new generator 
at our fertilizer plant in Sasolburg, while our Rustenburg 
fertilizer plant consumed less energy because of lower 
production volumes.

Zetachem and PFP use HFO boilers, which make the 
manufacturing process, at PFP in particular, energy intensive, 
negatively affected Protea Chemicals’ energy use figures. 
At Zetachem’s hypochlorite plant, membrane damage due to 
power outages experienced in 2008 is now in evidence, and 
reflected in higher than normal power consumption per 
kilogram of hypochlorite.
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  –  Employee business travel, including flight destinations 
associated with marketing and management.

  – External distribution logistics. 

  –  Use/disposal of company products and services.

  – Transportation within the company supply chain.

 –  The following emissions from the sites were, in line 
with the above protocol, considered for purposes of 
the calculation of GHG emissions:

  –  Direct GHG emissions (scope 1) from the sites, 
including the combustion of fuel such as coal, natural 
gas, as well as on-site diesel consumption.

  –  Energy indirect emissions (scope 2), including 
emissions associated with the production and 
distribution of electricity from the national grid, 
which is coal-based.

  –  Other indirect emissions (scope 3), including emissions 
from all outsourced activities, such as employee 
business travel, external distribution logistics, use and 
disposal of company products and services, company 
supply chain, etc. This is in compliance with the gate 
to gate principle – defined as an inventory that consists 
of all activities controllable between the gates of the 
supplier and the gates of the consumer – and will 
ensure a complete picture of the baseline GHG 
footprint. (The diagram included below was obtained 
from the GHG reporting protocol, and is an overview 
of scopes and emissions across a value chain.)

The contributions of each of Omnia Group’s divisions towards 
total GHG emissions can be summarised as follows:

Divisions
Equivalent

ton CO2

Agriculture 640 049

Mining 81 320

Chemicals 8 523

Group 3 279

Total 733 171

  A follow-up GHG emissions survey to calculate and evaluate 
progress in terms of the reduction of GHG emissions for the 
financial year April 2009 to March 2010 is scheduled to be 
completed by the end of July 2010. In addition, a 
management practice standard, which serves as a guideline 
for the monitoring and reporting of GHG, was recently 

At Omnia Fertilizer, all incidents related to transport, with 
vehicles being involved in accidents while transporting product 
to customers. Three of the incidents at Protea Chemicals related 
to storm water contamination at the Cape Killarney Gardens 
site and at Nkomati mine. The last incident was reported at 
the Inlands Springs site where white precipitate emanated 
from historical pollution due to leaking of the contaminated 
storm water dam on the site. The incidents were reported to 
authorities and measures have been taken to reduce the impact. 
The incident at BME occurred at bulk distribution when a driver 
had a heart attack while transporting product to a customer.

Environmental initiatives

Air quality
The following initiatives were implemented as part of the Omnia 
Group’s commitment to continually improve the air quality 
management within the Group.

Monitoring and reporting of greenhouse gas emissions (GHG)
Omnia acknowledges its responsibility to monitor and report on 
the emission of greenhouse gases associated with its activities 
and also to report on its strategy to continually reduce its GHG 
emissions. Omnia’s approach can be summarised as follows:

  An external consultant was appointed during 2008 to 
conduct a baseline GHG emissions inventory for the Omnia 
Group, which consists of Omnia Group Services, Omnia 
Fertilizer, Protea Chemicals and BME. The GHG gas 
emissions were calculated for the period 1 April 2006 to 
31 March 2007. This baseline inventory is intended to be 
used as a reference to demonstrate future improvement in 
terms of the reduction in such emissions. The methodology 
applied to calculate GHG emissions involved:

 –  ISO 14064 Part 1: “Specification with guidance at the 
organisational level for the quantification and reporting of 
greenhouse gas emissions and removals“ was used as 
the basis for the calculation of GHG emissions. 

 –  Guidelines provided by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol 
were also considered during the calculation of the GHG 
emissions. 

 –  Using the ISO 14064-1 (2006) principles and 
requirements, data was then collected on: 

  – Total purchased electricity.

  –  Energy consumption on manufacturing sites such 
as diesel, coal and natural gas.

  –  Nitrous oxide emissions due to the production of 
nitric acid.
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updated, and are being converted to the new format 
required in terms of the National Environmental 
Management Air Quality Act. The reviewed permit 
applications were submitted to the National Department 
of Environmental Affairs for approval and issuing of new 
permits in terms of the National Environmental Management 
Air Quality Act.

  Protea Specialities Chemicals has purchased equipment to 
monitor exhaust emissions from its vehicles. The equipment 
will be used to monitor the legal compliance of emissions 
from all of its vehicles on a three-monthly basis.

  Omnia Fertilizer has launched an Air Quality Compliance 
project to confirm existing emissions and determine 
mitigation measures that may be required to comply with 
the new limits.

Water, waste and effluent management
  At Omnia Fertilizer, a new Safety, Health and Environmental 

Manager, who is also a specialist in water quality 
management, has been appointed. The new manager’s 
crucial tasks include reviewing and improving water quality 
management on all sites within Omnia Fertilizer. Projects 
commissioned to improve water quality management within 
Omnia Fertilizer can be summarised as follows:

 –  A project to improve water management at the Sasolburg 
site has been commissioned as part of the Integrated 

developed by the CAIA as part of its Responsible Care 
Initiative®. We will use this management practice standard 
as a guideline to calculate and report on GHGs in future.

  The Executive Board of the Clean Development Mechanism 
Protocol issued some 504 795 assurances in terms of our 
Certified Emission Reductions (CERs) from February 2008 to 
date for the successful operation of Omnia’s EnviNox® plant, 
which was implemented during February 2008. The 
objective of this project is to reduce the NOx and N2O 
emissions from the nitric acid plant at Omnia Fertilizer in 
Sasolburg. Nitrogen oxide (NOx) emissions are regulated in 
terms of the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention Act (73 of 
1965), but N2O emissions are not currently regulated. N2O is 
classified as a GHG with a Global Warming Potential (GWP) 
estimated to be 310 times greater than that of CO2. GHG 
emissions, including N2O, is believed to contribute towards 
global climate change. Omnia identified the reduction of 
NOx and N2O emissions from its nitric acid plant as an 
opportunity to contribute towards the improvement of the air 
quality of the Vaal Triangle, which is a declared National 
Priority Area in terms of the National Environmental 
Management Air Quality Act (Act 39 of 2004).

Air quality permits and compliance
  Existing Air Quality Certificates in terms of the Atmospheric 

Pollution Prevention Act (45 of 1965) were reviewed and 

CO2 SF5 CH4 N2O HFCs   PFCs

SCOPE 2      SCOPE 3

SCOPE 1

Purchased electricity
for own use

Production of 
purchased materials

Fuel combustion Outsourced activities

Company 
owned vehicles

Product use

Contractor 
owned vehicles

Waste disposal

Employee 
business travel
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Recordable case rate (RCR)
Recordable cases are defined as work-related fatalities 
and those work-related injuries which result in losses of 
consciousness, restriction of work or motion, transfer to another 
job, or require medical treatment beyond first aid. Thus all 
fatality cases, lost workday cases and work-related injuries 
as detailed above are recordable cases.

The recordable case rate increased from 1,9 to 2,3 and remains 
a concern, despite various initiatives that have been 
implemented to improve employees’ safety awareness. 
We have initiated a special project which will look at the 
Group-wide implementation of a safety culture, a near-miss 
reporting drive, awareness through safety campaigns and 
greater application of the national standards.

Employee wellbeing

HIV/Aids
Voluntary counselling and testing (VCT) programmes have been 
carried out within the Omnia Group. We recognise that Omnia 
has a duty to inform, educate and assist our employees who 
have been impacted by the pandemic. We assist through 
providing a comprehensive programme, which includes:

  Providing treatment against the opportunistic diseases 
to which HIV-positive employees are more susceptible. 
They are also encouraged to seek appropriate anti-retroviral 
treatment at state hospitals or through their medical 
aid scheme.

  Subsidising medical costs for HIV-positive employees 
who do not belong to a medical aid scheme.

  Educating our workforce through programmes offered 
in conjunction with external health service providers 
which are available across the Group’s South African 
and African operations.

  Making condoms freely available at all Group sites.

Employee assistance programme
Employee support within Protea Chemicals Inland includes 
a pilot wellness project which was launched during the year 
with an independent counselling and advisory service. Through 
a call centre managed by experienced counsellors, employees 
requiring assistance are referred to the appropriate services. 
In addition, on-site awareness programmes are also offered.

The programme is now being rolled out to Protea Chemicals 
sites in the Western Cape and KwaZulu-Natal and to BME sites.

Initiatives to improve on our SHE performance

Integrated SHE management system

As detailed earlier in this report, integrated management systems 
were successfully implemented and certified at most of the 
facilities within Omnia Fertilizer and BME, while surveillance audits 
were conducted according to schedule on all of the certified 
integrated management systems (IMS) of both operations. 

The roll-out of the implementation of the IMS to all facilities 
within Protea Chemicals is still under way, and is scheduled to 
be completed within the current financial year. Protea Chemicals 
Inland was the first to successfully implement and obtain 
certification on all standards for its IMS. The total number of 
internal and external audits within the Omnia Group increased 
significantly due to the implementation and roll-out of the 
IMS facilities.

Water Use Licence Application (IWULA) submitted to the 
Department of Water Affairs. The following important 
initiatives are included in this project: 

  –  Development of a storm water management plan 
and the installation of infrastructure to separate 
storm water run-off from potentially contaminated and 
clean areas. The capacity of the existing storm water 
effluent dams in Sasolburg was also increased at an 
estimated cost of R8 million. 

  –  An investigation into alternatives to improve the quality 
of cooling water flows down from the nitric acid plant’s 
existing cooling towers.

  –  A project to update and improve the water balance 
for the Sasolburg factory. 

  –  Upgrading the water management systems for each 
of the production units at the Sasolburg factory.

  –  Reduction in water use through optimisation 
of the use of the cooling towers on the site.

  –  Assessment and optimisation of the waste and effluent 
management practices at the Sasolburg factory. 

  –  An Integrated Water and Waste Management 
Plan (IWWMP) has been submitted.

 –  The Integrated Water Use Licence Application and 
Integrated Water and Waste Management Plan for 
Rustenburg has been drafted, but needs to be revised 
to include the mothballing alternative. The following 
important initiatives are included in this project:

  –  Development of a storm water management plan 
for the site and the upgrade of existing infrastructure 
on the site.

  –  An investigation to refine and improve the water 
balance for the site.

  – Alternative water management practices.

  –  Assessing of waste and effluent management 
practices on site.

   Protea Chemicals’ initiatives to improve water, effluent 
and waste management can be summarised as follows:

 –  A number of areas at Protea Chemicals Inland’s Wadeville 
site were identified to be hard-surfaced to prevent soil 
and ground water pollution. The hard surfacing of all of 
these areas will require substantial capital investment 
and will therefore be phased in according to priority over 
the next five years. 

 –  A project to improve the hard surfacing at Protea 
Chemicals Inland’s site in Springs has been completed.

 –  The establishment and implementation of ground water 
monitoring programmes at all Protea Chemicals facilities 
are current priority areas.

Occupational health and safety

Fatalities
In terms of safety, Omnia’s view is that even one injury is an 
injury too many. Regrettably, two fatal injuries occurred during 
the period under review. One of the incidents related to a 
worker who died of malaria at one of BME’s international sites; 
the other to a worker who died of a heart attack while 
transporting product at one of BME’s local sites.



64 OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 SUSTAINABILITY REPORT continued

Audits

The number of external and internal SHE audits steadily 
increased over the reporting period – an indication of greater 
participation in the IMS implemented and our commitment to 
continual improvement. Divisions schedule their own internal 
or external audits, with assistance from internal SHE resources 
as well as Group SHE for second-party audits.

Other SHE initiatives during F2010 include:

  Routine medical surveillance tests continued according to 
schedule on all sites.

  A water spraying system has been installed on the bulk 
ammonia storage facility at our liquid fertilizer production 
plant at Wesselsbron. 

  The construction of a new enclosed chlorine storage facility 
for the bulk storage of chlorine gas cylinders at Protea 
Chemicals Cape Killarney Gardens site has been completed. 
The commissioning of this facility will significantly reduce 
the risks associated with the storage of chlorine cylinders 
at the site. 

  Upgrade of acid repacking areas has been initiated. 
A number of containment measures have been installed, 
for example, additional bunds/channels in solvents areas 
and warehouses. 

  In terms of energy conservation, a co-generation project 
which involves the installation of a 1 920 kW Turbo-
Generator was successfully commissioned at the Omnia 
Fertilizer factory in Sasolburg. The implementation of this 
project will result in a direct electricity saving of about 
10% at the Sasolburg site. 

Legal compliance

Several initiatives to improve compliance with safety, health 
and environmental legislation at all divisions of the Omnia Group 
have been introduced during the period under review. Important 
initiatives implemented to improve the legal compliance of all 
facilities within the Group can be summarised as follows: 

  Omnia, through CAIA and Business Unity South Africa 
(BUSA), participated in various initiatives to assist with 
the formulation of: 

 – The National Waste Act

 – Minimum emissions standards for point sources

 – Contaminated land in terms of the National Waste Act

 – A new national waste minimisation strategy

 – The new National Transport Act

 – NEMAQA-listed activities

 – EIA processes in terms of the National Waste Act

 – Air priority working groups

 –  SANS standards relating to MHI, electrical issues, tanks 
standards and pressure vessels.

  A project to evaluate legal compliance with the conditions 
of all applicable legal requirements, including authorisations 
and permits, was launched by the Group Engineering 
Projects and Services Department. Two audits in the 
Fertilizer division, four at the Protea Division, one at 
BME and three EIA environmental authorisations have 
been conducted. 

  Legal compliance assessments at our international sites are 
in process. A project plan, which sees all our international 
sites being evaluated over a three-year period, has been 
approved. As part of these assessments, contract 
management will also be included and compliance to local 
depots and warehouses will be extended beyond the current 
assessments. As part of our international compliance 
assessment, the current legal register will be extended to 
key international sites and smaller local sites.

Public participation
Attendance of the following environmental forums 
is ongoing:

  Industry Forums

 – CAIA and Responsible Care® workshops

 – Sasolburg Inter-company Response Meeting

 – NapCof

 – Institute of Safety Management

  Environmental participation

 – Vaal Triangle Priority Area Air Meeting

 – Vaal Triangle Priority Area Air Technical Task Team

 –  Leeu-Taaibosch Forum (and Technical Task Team), 
with one of our employees voted as chairperson for 
the LTF Forum

 – Sasolburg Rejuvenation Committee

 –  Highveld Priority Area Air Quality Officer Forum 
and Multi-stakeholder Reference Group

  Community Forums

 – Sasolburg Community Working Group

 – Local Security Forum
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 STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

 CERTIFICATE BY THE COMPANY SECRETARY

and available cash resources. These financial statements support 
the viability of the company and the Group.

The internal Code of Corporate Practices and Conduct has been 
substantially adhered to.

The financial statements have been audited by the independent 
auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., who were given 
unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, 
including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the Board 
of directors and committees of the Board. The independent 
auditors were invited to and participated in the audit committee 
meetings. The directors believe that all representations made 
to the independent auditors during their audit are valid and 
appropriate.

The audit report of PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. and the 
financial statements were approved by the Board of directors 
on 29 July 2010 and are signed on its behalf by

NJ Crosse
Chairman

RB Humphris
Group managing director

DL Eggers
Group finance director

29 July 2010

The directors are responsible for the preparation, integrity and 
fair presentation of the financial statements of Omnia Holdings 
Limited and its subsidiaries (the Group). The financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the Companies Act of South 
Africa, and include amounts based on judgements and estimates 
made by management.

The directors consider that having applied IFRS in preparing the 
financial statements, they have used the most appropriate 
accounting policies, consistently applied and supported by 
reasonable prudent judgements and estimates, and that all IFRS 
that they consider to be applicable have been followed. The 
financial statements fairly present the results of operations for 
the year and the financial position of the Group and the company 
at year end in accordance with IFRS. The directors also prepared 
the financial information included in the annual report and are 
responsible for both its accuracy and its consistency with the 
financial statements.

The directors have responsibility for ensuring that accounting 
records are kept. The accounting records should disclose, with 
reasonable accuracy, the financial position and results of the 
Group to enable the directors to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the relevant legislation.

Omnia operates in an established control environment, which 
is documented and regularly reviewed. This incorporates risk 
management and internal control procedures, which are 
designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance 
that assets are safeguarded and the risks facing the business 
are being controlled. Nothing has come to the attention of 
the directors to indicate that any material breakdown in the 
functioning of these controls, procedures and systems has 
occurred during the year under review.

The going concern basis has been adopted in preparing the 
financial statements. The directors have no reason to believe 
that the Group or any company within the Group will not be 
going concerns in the foreseeable future, based on forecasts 

To the best of my knowledge as company secretary, I hereby confirm, in terms of section 268(d) of the Companies Act 61 of 1973 (the 
Act), that for the financial year ended 31 March 2010, the company has lodged with the Registrar of Companies all such returns as are 
required of a public company in terms of the Act and that such returns are true, correct and up to date.

C Appollis
Group company secretary

29 July 2010
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INTERNAL AUDIT

The audit committee fulfils an oversight role regarding the 
Group’s financial statements and the reporting process, including 
the system of internal financial control. It is responsible for 
ensuring that the Group’s internal audit function is independent 
and has the necessary resources, standing and authority within 
the organisation to enable it to discharge its duties. Furthermore, 
the audit committee oversees co-operation between the internal 
and external auditors, and serves as a link between the Board of 
directors and these functions.

ATTENDANCE

The internal and external auditors, in their capacity as auditors 
to the Group, attended and reported at all meetings of the audit 
committee. The group risk management function was also 
represented. Executive directors and relevant senior managers 
attended meetings by invitation. A table detailing attendance at 
meetings is included on page 48.

CONFIDENTIAL MEETINGS

The audit committee charter provides for confidential meetings 
between the committee members and the external auditors.

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS

During the year under review the audit committee reviewed 
a representation by the external auditors and after conducting 
its own review, confirmed the independence of the auditors.

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF FINANCE DIRECTOR

As required by JSE Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the audit 
committee has satisfied itself that the finance director has 
appropriate expertise and experience.

DC Radley
Audit committee chairperson

29 July 2010

The audit committee has pleasure in submitting this report, 
as required by sections 269A and 270A of the Companies Act 
(the Act).

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee has adopted formal terms of reference, 
delegated to it by the Board of directors, as its audit 
committee charter.

The audit committee has discharged the functions in terms of 
its charter and ascribed to it in terms of the Act as follows:

  Reviewed the interim, provisional and year end financial 
statements, culminating in a recommendation to the Board 
to adopt them. In the course of its review the committee:

 –  takes appropriate steps to ensure that the financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner 
required by the Companies Act of South Africa;

 –  considers and, when appropriate, makes 
recommendations on internal financial controls;

 –  deals with concerns or complaints relating to accounting 
policies, internal audit, the auditing or content of annual 
financial statements, and internal financial controls; and

 –  reviews legal matters that could have a significant impact 
on the organisation’s financial statements.

  Reviewed the external audit reports on the annual 
financial statements;

  Approved the internal audit charter and audit plan;

  Reviewed the internal audit and risk management reports, 
and, where relevant, recommendations are made to 
the Board;

  Evaluated the effectiveness of risk management controls 
and the governance processes;

  Verified the independence of the external auditors, 
nominated PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the auditors for 
2010 and noted the appointment of Mr Eric Mackeown 
as the designated auditor;

  Approved the audit fees and engagement terms of the 
external auditors;

  Determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit 
and approved the contract terms for the provision of 
non-audit services by the external auditors.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE AND 

ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

The audit committee consists of Mrs DC Radley, Mr FD Butler 
and Mrs HH Hickey and meets at least three times per annum in 
accordance with the audit committee charter. All members act 
independently as described in section 269A of the Companies 
Act. Details of meetings are set out on page 48.

 REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
for the year ended 31 March 2010
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misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal controls relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all 
material respects, the consolidated and separate financial 
position of Omnia Holdings Limited as at 31 March 2010, and 
its consolidated and separate financial performance and its 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and 
in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa.

Pricewaterhouse Coopers Inc.
Director: Eric Mackeown
Registered Auditor

Johannesburg

29 July 2010

TO THE MEMBERS OF OMNIA HOLDINGS LIMITED

We have audited the Group annual financial statements and 
annual financial statements of Omnia Holdings Limited, which 
comprise the directors’ report, the consolidated and separate 
balance sheets as at 31 March 2010, the consolidated and 
separate income statements, the statements of comprehensive 
income, changes in equity, and the cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes, as set out on pages 69 to 126.

Directors’ responsibility for the financial statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in the 
manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa. This 
responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining 
internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate 
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are 
reasonable in the circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 
statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit 
in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. 
Those standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements 
are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 

 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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The prior financial period brought to a close the five-year target 
set for management by shareholders in 2004. This target was to 
achieve a 10% real growth in earnings per annum over the five 
years that ended 31 March 2009. The 2010 financial year marks 
the beginning of the Group’s fourth five-year target cycle.

Revenue for the year fell by 21% to R8,8 billion (2009: 
R11,1 billion) and, after the initial downward stock adjustment of 
R350 million and further downward price movements, net profit 
for the year declined by 88% to R58 million (2009: R491 million). 
Included in revenue is an amount of R50 million from the sale of 
the first tranche of 400 000 carbon credits. Net production costs 
for these carbon credits amounted to R7 million.

A loss of profits claim in respect of a plant failure in the prior 
year amounting to R32 million and a R20 million profit on the 
transfer of businesses to the Nalco associate are included in the 
R77 million other operating income.

Administrative expenses reduced by 11% to R487 million 
(2009: R546 million) while distribution expenses increased by 
5% to R674 million (2009: R639 million).

Finance costs of R217 million (2009: R205 million) comprise 
interest paid, foreign exchange gains or losses and forward 
cover costs. A combination of lower interest rates and lower 
values of working capital needing to be funded resulted in 
interest charges reducing by 12% to R185 million (2009: 
R210 million) while exchange rate losses on foreign bank 
accounts and forward cover costs amounted to R23 million 
(2009: R5 million gain).

Profits were impacted by non-tax deductible items comprising 
amongst other things, mainly non-cash share-based payments 
of R41 million, and a further R32 million incurred in net non-tax 
deductible expenses, including interest from funding the 
acquisition of shares in Zetachem, which resulted in the 
effective charge for taxation to be high at 47%.

With the strengthening of the rand, the foreign currency 
translation reserve needed to be adjusted negatively by 
R228 million, this being the main reason for the reduction in 
other reserves to R54 million (2009: R286 million) and thus 
also the main reason for the R166 million reduction in total 
equity to R1 971 million (2009: R2 137 million).

Intangible assets increased by R20 million following the 
acquisition of Petroleum Fine Products, a producer of basic 
personal care ingredients, petroleum jelly and technical oil, and 
the capitalisation of ERP implementation costs. Mainly as a 
result of entering into an associate with Nalco, a world leader in 
water treatment activities, as announced on 28 January 2010, 
investments in associates grew by R44 million to R84 million 
(2009: R40 million).

Resulting from the reduction in commodity prices and the 
relatively high carryover inventory from the previous year, 
net working capital reduced by 67% to R514 million (2009: 
R1 542 million) contributing significantly to the cash generation 
from operations of R1 045 million (2009: R143 million utilised) 
as reflected in the cash flow statement.

Cash outflow from investing activities increased by 81% to 
R466 million (2009: R257 million) of which R309 million 
represents the net investment in property, plant and equipment 
with the balance being mainly corporate activity from the 
acquisition of Petroleum Fine Products, Protea Polymers Eastern 
Africa, and the associate with Nalco.

The directors are pleased to present this report, which forms 
part of the audited financial statements of the company and the 
Group for the year ended 31 March 2010.

NATURE OF BUSINESS

The Group, through its subsidiaries, is a specialist chemical 
services company providing customised chemical solutions in 
the chemical, mining and agriculture markets. The subsidiaries of 
the Group are involved in the manufacture, distribution and trade 
of chemicals, mining explosives and accessories, fertilizers and 
speciality fertilizers.

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The financial results are reported in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The financial 
results and related information is disclosed in the independent 
auditor’s report. 

The principal policies used in the preparation of the results for 
the year ended 31 March 2010 are consistent with those applied 
for the year ended 31 March 2009, unless otherwise stated.

The financial results for the year under review indicate the 
sensitivity of the Group’s earnings to declining commodity prices 
and the strengthening of the rand.

In the previous financial year, as a consequence of the buying 
pattern changes which brought abnormally high demand from 
agriculture in the first six months, the second half of the 
previous financial year saw significantly reduced sales levels. 
The Group was thus left holding substantial fertilizer stocks at 
the March 2009 year end. The decline in commodity prices 
which started during the latter part of the 2009 financial year 
continued into the current year and, combined with the effect of 
further rand strength, necessitated a R350 million write-down in 
the value of fertilizer inventory by the September interim stage. 
Commodity prices continued their downward spiral into the 
second half of the year, when the peak fertilizer season normally 
occurs, while the rand also continued to strengthen.

The combined effect of the decline in commodity prices, rand 
strength and lower levels of economic activity arising from 
conditions of global recession, led to all three divisions facing 
challenges from a combination of softer volumes, pricing 
pressures and weaker export prices. The inevitable reduction 
in earnings that came about is amplified by the comparison 
with the unprecedented buoyant market conditions that 
prevailed in the previous 2009 financial year.

The continuing strong rand remains one of the major 
contributors to the weaker financial performance of the Group 
in the short term, impacting negatively on each of the three 
business divisions – chemicals, mining and agriculture. This 
rand strength is also having a negative impact on the Group’s 
customers, particularly those in the Chemicals Division, who find 
themselves in turn uncompetitive in export markets and having 
to compete with cheap imported finished goods in the 
domestic market.

Although there has been an improvement in volume sales in the 
second half of the 2010 financial year, the persistent strength 
of the rand, the stock write-downs and a share-based payment 
charge of R41 million relating mainly to the two new share 
participation plans implemented in January 2010 has resulted in 
Group earnings for the year reaching only R58 million (2009: 
R491 million).
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Mr JG Pretorius retired on 23 October 2009, and
Mr RR Masebelanga resigned on 19 February 2010.

MANAGEMENT BY THIRD PARTIES

None of the businesses of the company or its subsidiaries had, 
during the financial year, been managed by a third party or a 
company in which a director had an interest.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

No material contracts in which the directors have an interest 
were entered into during the current year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of directors’ remuneration are set out in note 30 to the 
financial statements.

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

A summary of shareholder spread as at 31 March 2010 has 
been included on page 127.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS

According to information received by the directors, the following 
are the only shareholders holding, directly or indirectly, in excess 
of 5% of the share capital as at 31 March 2010.

 
Number 

of shares  %
Oasis Asset Management 6 855 300 14,5
Coronation Fund managers 6 188 081 13,1
Regarding Capital 5 498 438 11,6
Dr WT Marais & Associates 5 457 776 11,6
OMIGSA 4 448 760 9,4
Total 28 448 355 60,2

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

Details of the company’s principal subsidiaries, joint ventures 
and associates are set out on page 121. The attributable interest 
of the holding company in the income earned and losses 
incurred after taxation by its subsidiaries, is set out in note 10 
on page 96.

GOING CONCERN

The directors endorse and are of the opinion that the Group has 
sufficient resources to maintain the business for the future. 
Consequently, the going concern basis for preparing the financial 
statements is adopted. The Board statement in this regard 
appears in the statement of responsibility of directors for the 
annual financial statements.

The Board minutes the facts and assumptions used in the 
assessment of the going concern status of the Group at financial 
year end. At the interim reporting stage, the directors consider 
their assessment at the previous year end of the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern and determine whether any of 
the significant factors in the assessment have changed to such 
an extent that the appropriateness of the going-concern 
assumption at the interim reporting stage has been affected.

AUDITORS

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue office in accordance 
with Section 270 (2) of the Companies Act, 1973.

Arising from the excellent cash generation, net interest-bearing 
debt has reduced to R404 million (2009: R952 million) resulting 
in a debt:equity ratio of 20% compared to the 45% that 
prevailed at the end of the prior year.

Non-current interest-bearing borrowings have increased by 
a net R134 million to R804 million (2009: R670 million) with 
the injection of term loans following the Nanotron and Sakhile 2 
transactions relating to management and staff participation plans 
that were approved by shareholders on 11 December 2009.

DIVIDEND

Given the need to raise capital for the development and 
construction of the nitric acid complex the Board has decided 
not to propose a dividend for the year.

STATED CAPITAL

Stated Capital increased by R117 million to R318 million 
following the issue of shares to management in terms of the 
Third Partnership with Management Scheme, the five year 
target to financial year end 2009 having been achieved, as well 
as the capitalisation award in lieu of a cash dividend that took 
place during the year. 

The authorised share capital has remained unchanged at 
75 million ordinary shares of no par value, and 10 million 15% 
cumulative redeemable preference shares of 1 cent each since 
the prior year. 

The total number of issued shares on 31 March 2010, net 
of treasury shares, stood at 46 490 987 shares (2009: 
44 370 004 shares), an increase of 2 120 983 shares.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group’s world-class state-of-the-art fertilizer and explosives 
process plants have again performed well.

Capital expenditure on tangible assets amounted to R366 million 
(2009: R238 million) comprising maintenance expenditure and 
ordinary replacement capital, as well as expansion capital 
expenditure mainly in respect of plant, equipment and vehicles. 
Capital expenditure on intangible assets amounted to R19 million 
(2009: R20 million).

The Board has approved an amount of R1,4 billion for the 
construction of a second nitric acid complex at the facilities in 
Sasolburg. The nitric acid complex is to be developed adjacent to 
Omnia’s existing plant, which for some time has operated at 
capacity and will produce some 1 000 tons per day, which equates 
to about 140% of the existing plant’s capacity. It is estimated that 
it will generate internal cost savings of approximately R280 million 
per annum (operating at 60% capacity level).

DIRECTORS AND SECRETARY

Details regarding the directors and secretary in office at the date 
of this report appear on pages 14 and 15 of the annual report.

In terms of the company’s articles of association, Mr TR Scott 
and Dr WT Marais will retire at the forthcoming annual general 
meeting. Being eligible, they offer themselves for re-election. 
Mr DL Eggers has announced his retirement from the Board 
with effect from 31 August 2010.
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Director Total
Direct 

beneficial
Indirect 

beneficial

Indirect 
non- 

beneficial

FD Butler 6 500 6 500 – –

NJ Crosse 827 300 149 800 677 500 –

DL Eggers 190 332 145 332 45 000 –

NKH Fitz-Gibbon 51 700 – 51 700 –

RB Humphris 814 846 594 410 210 000 10 436

Dr WT Marais 5 457 776 564 5 039 693 417 519

JG Pretorius* 5 000 – – 5 000

7 353 454 896 606 6 023 893 432 955

*Retired 23 October 2009

as at 30 June 2010

Director Total
Direct 

beneficial
Indirect 

beneficial

Indirect 
non- 

beneficial

FD Butler 6 500 6 500 – –

NJ Crosse 827 300 149 800 677 500 –

DL Eggers 190 332 145 332 45 000 –

NKH Fitz-Gibbon 51 700 – 51 700 –

RB Humphris 814 846 594 410 210 000 10 436

Dr WT Marais 5 457 776 564 5 039 693 417 519

 7 348 454 896 606 6 023 893 427 955

as at 31 March 2009

Director Total
Direct 

beneficial
Indirect 

beneficial

Indirect 
non- 

beneficial

FD Butler 6 500 6 500 – –

NJ Crosse 827 300 149 800 677 500 –

DL Eggers 164 832 152 832 12 000 –

DL Eggers – Single stock futures 3 500 3 500 – –

NKH Fitz-Gibbon 25 300  – 25 300 –

RB Humphris 730 846 510 410 210 000 10 436

Dr WT Marais 5 975 198 550 4 929 693 1 044 955

JG Pretorius 5 000 – – 5 000

 7 738 476 823 592 5 857 393 1 057 391

 DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDING
 as at 31 March 2010
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GROUP BALANCE SHEET
at 31 March 2010

Notes
2010

Rm
2009

Rm

ASSETS

Non-current assets  1 944  1 686

Property, plant and equipment 2  1 295  1 114

Intangible assets 3  537  517

Available-for-sale financial assets 4  19  1

Investment in associates 5  84  40

Deferred income tax assets 12  9  14

Current assets  3 243  4 071

Inventories 6  1 315  2 391

Trade and other receivables 7  1 365  1 521

Cash and cash equivalents 27  563  159

Total assets  5 187  5 757

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Capital and reserves attributable to the equity holders of the company  1 973  2 139

Stated capital 8  318  201

Treasury shares 8 (8) (11)

Other reserves 9  54  286

Retained earnings 10  1 609  1 663

Minority interest in equity 11 (2) (2)

Total equity  1 971  2 137

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities  885  789

Deferred income tax liabilities 12  80  118

Provisions 15  1  1

Interest-bearing borrowings 13  804  670

Current liabilities  2 331  2 831

Trade and other payables 14  2 166  2 370

Current portion of interest-bearing borrowings 13  108  68

Current income tax liabilities  2  20

Bank overdrafts 27  55  373

Total liabilities  3 216  3 620

Total equity and liabilities  5 187  5 757

The notes on pages 77 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT

Notes
2010

Rm
2009

Rm

Continuing operations

Revenue 16  8 827  11 111

Cost of sales (7 438) (9 045)

Gross profit  1 389  2 066

Other operating income 17  77  30

Administrative expenses (487) (546)

Distribution expenses (674) (639)

Operating expenses (26) (34)

Operating profit 18  279  877

Finance expenses 19 (217) (205)

Finance income  44  41

Share of profits of associates 5  3  5

Profit before taxation  109  718

Income tax expense 20 (51) (227)

Profit for the year  58  491

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the company  56  491

Minority interest  2  – 

 58  491

Earnings per share from profit attributable to equity holders of the 
company during the year

Basic earnings per share (cents) 21  122,0  1 107,4 

Diluted earnings per share (cents) 21  121,7  1 062,2 

The notes on pages 77 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Profit for the year  58  491

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Currency translation differences

 Group (218)  121

 Associates (10)  6

Cash flow hedge (8)  – 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (178)  618

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the company (180)  618

 Minority interest  2  – 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (178)  618

The notes on pages 77 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

GROUP STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

Attributable to the equity holders 
of the company

 Stated
 capital

 Rm

Treasury 
shares

Rm

Other
reserves

Rm

Retained
earnings

Rm

Minority
interest

Rm
Total

Rm

At 31 March 2008  201 (13)  127  1 268 (2)  1 581

Total recognised income and expense for the year  –  –  127  491  –  618

Net profit for the year ended 31 March 2009  –  –  –  491  –  491

Currency translation difference  –  –  127  –  –  127

Ordinary dividends paid  –  –  – (96)  – (96)

Treasury shares sold  –  2  –  –  –  2

Share-based payment – value of services provided – –  32 – –  32

At 31 March 2009  201 (11)  286  1 663 (2)  2 137

Total recognised income and expense for the year  –  – (236)  56  2 (178)

Net profit for the year ended 31 March 2010  –  –  –  56  2  58

Cash flow hedge  –  – (8)  –  – (8)

Currency translation difference  –  – (228)  –  – (228)

Ordinary dividends paid and capitalisation 
shares issued  26  –  – (66)  – (40)

Treasury shares sold  –  3  –  –  –  3

Share-based payment – value of services provided  –  –  49  –  –  49

Share-based payment – ordinary shares issued  91  – (45) (44) (2)  – 

At 31 March 2010  318 (8)  54  1 609 (2)  1 971

The notes on pages 77 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
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 GROUP CASH FLOW STATEMENT
for the year ended 31 March 2010

Notes
2010

Rm
2009

Rm

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities  1 045 (143)

Cash generated from operations 24  1 329  309

Interest paid (217) (210)

Interest received  44  41

Income taxes paid 25 (111) (283)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Net cash outflow from investing activities (466) (257)

Property, plant and equipment additions: 

 Replacement (107) (56)

 Expansion (260) (182)

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment  55  1

Acquisition of business – net of cash acquired 28 (66)  – 

Purchase of intangible assets (18) (20)

Acquisition of available-for-sale financial assets (18)  – 

Investment in associates (52)  – 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Net cash inflow from financing activities  140  293

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares  3  2

Proceeds from interest-bearing borrowings  177  387

Dividends paid to company's shareholders 26 (40) (96)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  719 (107)

Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year (214) (103)

Exchange gains on cash and bank overdrafts  3 (4)

Net cash and cash equivalents at end of year 27  508 (214)

The notes on pages 77 to 120 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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In particular, the amendment requires disclosures of fair value 
measurements by level of a fair value measurement hierarchy. 
As the change in accounting policy only results in additional 
disclosures, there is no impact on the earnings per share.

IAS 1 (revised) Presentation of Financial Statement (effective 
1 April 2009). The main objective of the revision is to aggregate 
information on the basis of shared characteristics. Therefore, 
changes in equity (net assets) during the period arising from 
transactions with owners in their capacity as owners is shown 
separately from other changes in equity. All other changes in 
equity are referred to as “non-owner” changes in equity. The 
revised standard prohibits the presentation of comprehensive 
income (that is, “non-owner changes in equity”) in the 
statement of changes in equity. The statement requires 
“non-owner changes in equity” to be presented separately from 
owner changes in equity in a statement of comprehensive 
income. As a result the Group presents in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity all owner changes in equity, 
whereas all non-owner changes in equity are presented in the 
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Comparative 
information has been restated so that it is in conformity with the 
new standard. As the change in accounting policy impacts 
presentation aspects only, there is no impact on earnings 
per share.

IFRS 2 (amendment) Share-based Payment (effective 
1 April 2009) deals with vesting conditions and cancellations. 
It clarifies that vesting conditions are specified conditions that 
must be satisfied. These are service and performance conditions 
only. Any other conditions, such as a requirement to save, of a 
share-based payment are non-vesting conditions. These features 
would need to be included in the grant date fair value for 
transactions with employees and others providing similar 
services; they would not impact the number of awards expected 
to vest or the valuation thereof subsequent to grant date. 
All cancellations, whether by the entity or by other parties, 
should receive the same accounting treatment. The Group and 
company have adopted IFRS 2 (amendment) from 1 April 2009. 
The amendment does not have a material impact on the Group 
or company’s financial statements.

IFRS 8, Operating Segments – effective 1 April 2009. IFRS 8 
replaces IAS 14, Segment Reporting Under IAS 14; segments 
were identified and reported on a risk and return analysis. Under 
IFRS 8, segments are components of an entity that are regularly 
reviewed by an entity’s chief operating decision makers in order 
to allocate resources to the segment and assess its 
performance. Items will be reported based on the internal 
system of financial reporting rather than using the accounting 
policies used for external reporting as currently required. As the 
change in accounting policy only impacts presentation aspects, 
there is no impact on earnings per share.

IAS 32 (amendment), Financial Instruments: Presentation and 
IAS 1 (amendment), Presentation of Financial Instruments – 
Puttable Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on 
Liquidation (effective 1 April 2009). The amended standards 
require entities to classify puttable financial instruments and 
instruments, or components of instruments that impose on the 
entity an obligation to deliver to another party a pro rata share of 

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Omnia Holdings Limited (the company) and its subsidiaries 
(together, the Group) distribute speciality, functional and effect 
chemicals and polymers, offer a broad spectrum of products and 
services to the mining industry and produce granular, liquid and 
speciality fertilizers. The Group has operations throughout South 
Africa and Africa, as well as in New Zealand, Brazil and Australia.

The company has its primary and only listing on the JSE Limited 
stock exchange.

Accounting policies

1.1 Basis of preparation

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of 
these consolidated financial statements are set out below. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all years 
presented, unless otherwise stated.

All policies declared in the financial statements relate to the 
Group and the companies within the Group. The financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2010 were prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and interpretations issued by the International Financial 
Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), effective at the 
time of preparing these financial statements and in compliance 
with the Listings Requirements of the JSE Limited. 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of financial 
assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at 
fair value through profit or loss.

Assets and liabilities are classified as either current or non-
current on the balance sheet. Assets are classified as current 
when they are realised within 12 months after the balance sheet 
date or held primarily for the purpose of being traded. All other 
assets as non-current. Liabilities due within 12 months after 
balance sheet date are classified as current liabilities. Liabilities 
which the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months from the balance sheet date are classified 
as non-current.

The income statement is presented by function with additional 
disclosure regarding the nature of expenses such as depreciation, 
amortisation and employee benefits provided in the notes.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS 
requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period based on management’s 
best knowledge of current events and actions. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates. Areas involving a high degree 
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the Group financial statements are 
disclosed in notes 1.2 to 1.5 below.

Adoption of new and revised standards

(a) Interpretations effective in 2010
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments – Disclosures (amendment) 
(effective 1 April 2009). The amendment requires enhanced 
disclosures regarding fair value measurement and liquidity risk. 

for the year ended 31 March 2010

 NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

According to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and 
Contingent Assets, the Group is required to disclose contingent 
liabilities, and not recognise the contingent liability. IAS 19 has 
been amended to be consistent with the requirements of IAS 37.

IAS 39 (amendment) Financial Instruments: Recognition and 
Measurement (effective 1 April 2009). The amendment is part of 
the IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008. 
This amendment clarifies that it is possible for there to be 
movements into and out of the fair value through profit or loss 
category where a derivative commences or ceases to qualify as 
a hedging instrument in cash flow or net investment hedge. 
The definition of a financial asset or financial liability at fair value 
through profit or loss as it relates to items that are held for 
trading is also amended. This clarifies that a financial asset or 
liability that is part of a portfolio of financial instruments 
managed together with evidence of an actual recent pattern 
of short-term profit-taking is included in such a portfolio on 
initial recognition.

The current guidance on designating and documenting hedges 
states that a hedging instrument needs to involve a party 
external to the reporting entity and cites a segment as an 
example of a reporting entity. This means that in order for hedge 
accounting to be applied at segment level, the requirements for 
hedge accounting are required to be met by the applicable 
segment. The amendment removes the example of a segment 
so that the guidance is consistent with IFRS 8 Operating 
segments – that requires disclosure for segments to be based 
on information reported to the chief operating decision-maker. 
Currently, for segment reporting purposes, each subsidiary/
division designates contracts with Group treasury as fair value or 
cash flow hedges so that the hedges are reported in the 
segment to which the hedged items relate. This is consistent 
with the information viewed by the chief operating decision-
maker. The hedge will continue to be reflected in the segment 
to which the hedged items relate (and information provided to 
the chief operating decision-maker), but the Group will not 
formally document and test this relationship on an annual basis.

When remeasuring the carrying amount of a debt instrument on 
cessation of fair value hedge accounting, the amendment 
clarifies that a revised effective interest rate calculated at the 
date fair value hedge accounting ceases is to be used. The 
amendment has not had an impact on the Group’s income 
statement.

IAS 29 (amendment) Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary 
Economies (effective 1 April 2009). The amendment is part of 
the IASB’s annual improvements project published in May 2008. 
The guidance has been amended to reflect the fact that a 
number of assets and liabilities are measured at fair value 
rather than historical cost. The amendment does not have 
a material impact on the Group or company’s financial 
statements.

IAS 31 (amendment) Interests in Joint Ventures (and 
consequential amendments to IAS 32 and IFRS 7) 
(effective 1 April 2009). The amendment is part of the IASB’s 
annual improvements project published in May 2008. Where an 
investment in a joint venture is accounted for in accordance with 

the net assets of the entity only on liquidation as equity, 
provided the financial instruments have particular features and 
meet specific conditions. The amendment is not applicable to 
the Group or company.

IFRS 1 (amendment) First-Time Adoption of IFRS and IAS 27 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (effective 
1 April 2009). The amended standard allows first-time adopters 
to use a deemed cost of either fair value or the carrying amount 
under previous accounting practice to measure the initial cost of 
investments in subsidiaries, jointly controlled entities and 
associates in the separate financial statements. The amendment 
also removes the definition of the cost method from IAS 27 
and replaces it with a requirement to present dividends as 
income in the separate financial statements of the investor. 
The amendment does not have any impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

IAS 28 (amendment) Investments in Associates (and 
consequential amendments to IAS 32 Financial Instruments: 
Presentation and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures) 
(effective 1 April 2009). The amendment is part of the IASB’s 
annual improvements project published in May 2008. An 
investment in associate is treated as a single asset for the 
purposes of impairment testing. Any impairment loss is not 
allocated to specific assets included within the investment, for 
example, goodwill. Reversals of impairment are recorded as an 
adjustment to the investment balance to the extent that the 
recoverable amount of the associate increases. 

IAS 36 (amendment) Impairment of Assets (effective 1 April 
2009). The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual 
improvements project published in May 2008. Where fair value 
less costs to sell is calculated on the basis of discounted cash 
flows, disclosures equivalent to those for value-in-use 
calculations should be made.

IAS 38 (amendment) Intangible Assets (effective 1 April 2009). 
The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual improvements 
project published in May 2008. A prepayment may only be 
recognised in the event that payment has been made in advance 
of obtaining right of access to goods or receipt of services. The 
Group has applied IAS 38 (amendment) from 1 April 2009. It has 
not had a material impact on the Group’s financial statements.

IAS 19 (amendment) Employee Benefits (effective 1 April 2009). 
The amendment is part of the IASB’s annual improvements 
project published in May 2008. The amendment clarifies that a 
plan amendment that results in a change in the extent to which 
benefits are affected by future salary increases is a curtailment, 
while an amendment that changes benefits attributable to past 
service gives rise to a negative past service cost if it results in a 
reduction in the present value of the defined benefit obligation. 
The definition of return on plan assets has been amended to 
state that plan administration costs are deducted in the 
calculation of return on plan assets only to the extent that such 
costs have been excluded from the measurement of the defined 
benefit obligation. The distinction between short term and long 
term employee benefits will be based on whether benefits are 
due to be settled within or after 12 months of employee 
services having been rendered.
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intangible asset acquired in a business combination and it 
permits the grouping of intangible assets as a single asset, if 
each asset has similar useful economic lives. The amendment 
will not result in a material impact on the Group or company’s 
financial statements.

IFRS 5 (amendment) Measurement of Non-Current Assets (or 
disposal groups) Classified as Held-for-Sale. The amendment is 
part of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in 
April 2009. The amendment provides clarification that IFRS 5 
specifies the disclosures required in respect of non-current 
assets (or disposal groups) classified as held-for-sale or 
discontinued operations. It also clarifies that the general 
requirements of IAS 1 still apply, particularly paragraph 15 (to 
achieve a fair presentation) and paragraph 125 (sources of 
estimation uncertainty) of IAS 1. The Group and the company 
will apply IFRS 5 (amendment) from 1 April 2010. It is not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group or the 
company’s financial statements.

IAS 1 (amendment) Presentation of Financial Statements. The 
amendment is part of the IASB’s annual improvements project 
published in April 2009. The amendment provides clarification on 
the fact that the potential settlement of a liability by the issue of 
equity is not relevant to its classification as current or non-
current. By amending the definition of a current liability, the 
amendment permits a liability to be classified as non-current 
(provided that the entity has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement by transfer of cash or other assets for at least 
12 months after the accounting period) notwithstanding the fact 
that the entity could be required by the counterparty to settle in 
shares at any time. The Group and company will apply IAS 1 
(amendment) from 1 April 2010. It is not expected to have a 
material impact on the Group or the company’s financial 
statements.

IFRS 2 (amendment), Group Cash-settled and Share-based 
Payment Transactions. In addition to incorporating IFRIC 8, 
Scope of IFRS 2 and IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 Group and Treasury 
Share Transactions, the amendments expand on the guidance in 
IFRIC 11 to address the classification of Group arrangements 
that were not covered by the interpretation. The new guidance 
is not expected to have a material impact on the Group’s 
financial statements.

(c) The Group did not early adopt any new standards that 
have been issued at year end but are not yet effective.

Significant accounting policies

1.2 Property, plant and equipment

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the item will flow to the company and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All property, plant 
and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation. 
Historical cost includes all costs directly attributable to bringing 
the assets to a working condition for their intended use. Certain 
direct costs incurred on major projects during the period of 
development or construction are capitalised.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or 
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is 

IAS 39, only certain, rather than all disclosure requirements in 
IAS 31 need to be made in addition to the disclosures required 
by IAS 32 and IFRS 7. The amendment does not have an impact 
on the Group or company’s financial statements.

IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation 
(effective 1 April 2009). IFRIC 16 clarifies the accounting 
treatment in respect of net investment hedging. This includes 
the fact that net investment hedging relates to differences in 
functional currency not presentation currency, and hedging 
instruments may be held anywhere in the Group. The 
requirements of IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign 
Exchange Rates apply to the hedged item. IFRIC 16 does 
not have a material impact on the Group or company’s 
financial statements.

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to existing 
standards that are not yet effective and have not been early 
adopted by the Group
IFRIC 17 Distribution of Non-Cash Assets to Owners (effective 
1 April 2010). This interpretation provides guidance on 
accounting for arrangements whereby an entity distributes 
non-cash assets to shareholders either as a distribution of 
reserves or as dividends. IFRS 5 has been amended to require 
that assets are classified as held for distribution only when they 
are available for distribution in their present condition and the 
distribution is highly probable. The Group and company will apply 
IFRIC 17 from 1 April 2010. It is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Group or company’s financial statements.

IAS 27 (revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements 
(effective 1 April 2010). The revised standard requires the 
effects of all transactions with non-controlling interests to be 
recorded in equity if there is no change in control and these 
transactions will no longer result in goodwill or gains and losses. 
The standard specifies the accounting treatment to be applied 
when control is lost. Any remaining interest in the entity is 
re-measured at fair value, and a gain or loss is recognised in 
profit or loss. The Group will apply IAS 27 (Revised) 
prospectively to transactions with non-controlling interests 
from 1 April 2010. 

IFRS 3 (revised) Business Combinations (from 1 April 2010). The 
revised standard continues to apply the acquisition method to 
business combinations, with some significant changes. For 
example, all payments made to purchase a business are to be 
recorded at fair value at the acquisition date, with contingent 
payments classified as debt subsequently re-measured through 
the income statement. There is a choice, on an acquisition-by-
acquisition basis, to measure the non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree either at fair value or the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets. All acquisition-
related costs should be expensed. The Group will apply IFRS 3 
(revised) prospectively to all business combinations from 
1 April 2010.

IAS 38 (amendment), Intangible Assets. The amendment is part 
of the IASB’s annual improvements project published in April 
2009 and the Group and the company will apply IAS 38 
(amendment) from the date IFRS (revised) is adopted. The 
amendment clarifies guidance in measuring the fair value of an 
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not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the 
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss of 
assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or 
amortisation, other than goodwill, is recognised immediately in 
the income statement.

1.4 Revenue recognition

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received 
or receivable for the sale of goods and services in the ordinary 
course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of 
value-added tax, returns, rebates and discounts and after 
eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can 
be reliably measured and it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the entity and when specific criteria have 
been met as described below. The amount of revenue is not 
considered to be reliably measurable until significant 
contingencies relating to the sale have been resolved. The 
Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into 
consideration the type of customer, the type of transaction and 
the specifics of each arrangement. 

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when all of the 
following conditions have been satisfied:

  the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks 
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement 
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor 
effective control over the goods sold;

  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
transactions will flow to the Group; and

  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
transaction can be measured reliably.

Revenue from the provision of services is recognised in the 
accounting period in which the services are rendered, by 
reference to completion of the specific transaction assessed on 
the basis of the actual service provided as a proportion of the 
total services to be provided, when the following conditions 
have been satisfied:

  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

  it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
transactions will flow to the Group;

  the stage of completion of the transaction at the balance 
sheet date can be measured reliably; and

  the costs incurred for the transaction and the costs to 
complete the transaction can be measured reliably.

Other revenue earned by the Group is recognised on the 
following basis:

  dividend income: when the Group’s right to receive payment 
is established. 

  interest income: based on the effective interest rate 
method.

probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of replaced parts is 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the income statement during the financial period in which they 
are incurred.

Borrowing costs incurred for the construction of any qualifying 
assets are capitalised during the period of time that is required 
to complete and prepare the assets for their intended use. 
Borrowing costs relating to the construction of a plant were 
capitalised. Other borrowing costs are expensed. 

Freehold land is not depreciated. Other classes of property, plant 
and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation 
and any impairment losses. Where the carrying amount of an 
asset is greater than its estimated recoverable amount, it is 
written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of property, plant 
and equipment, including assets under finance leases to their 
residual value, over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line 
basis. Improvements to leasehold property are depreciated over 
the lesser of 50 years or the period of the lease. Expected 
useful lives are as follows:

  Buildings 50 years

  Plant and machinery 4 – 20 years

  Furniture, vehicles and equipment 3 – 5 years

Annually, at the balance sheet date, an estimate is done of the 
remaining useful lives and residual values of property, plant and 
equipment. Adjustments are made prospectively to the 
depreciation charge to reflect the change in the useful life or 
residual value.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing 
proceeds with the carrying amount and are included in other 
operating income in the income statement.

1.3 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life (for example, goodwill) 
are not subject to amortisation. These assets are tested annually 
for impairment and whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Assets 
that have a definite useful life and are subject to amortisation are 
reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in the income 
statement for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. 
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash-generating units).

At each reporting date an assessment is made whether there 
is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior 
periods for assets may no longer exist or may have decreased. 
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amounts of those 
assets are estimated. The increased carrying amount of the 
asset attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does 
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1.6.2 Joint ventures
The Group’s interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted 
for by proportionate consolidation.

The Group combines its share of the joint ventures’ individual 
income and expenses, assets and liabilities and cash flows on a 
line-by-line basis with similar items in the Group’s financial 
statements.

The Group recognises the portion of gains or losses on the sale 
of assets by the Group to the joint venture that is attributable to 
other venturers. The Group does not recognise its share of 
profits or losses from the joint venture that result from the 
Group’s purchase of assets from the joint venture until it resells 
the assets to an independent party. A loss on the transaction is 
recognised immediately if it provides evidence of a reduction in 
the net realisable value of current assets, or an impairment loss. 
Joint ventures’ accounting policies have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group.

1.6.3 Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant 
influence but not control, generally accompanying a shareholding 
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in 
associates are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting and are initially recognised at cost. The Group’s 
investment in associates includes goodwill (net of any 
accumulated impairment loss) identified on acquisition. 

The Group’s share of its associates’ post-acquisition profits or 
losses is recognised in the income statement, and its share of 
post-acquisition movement in reserves is recognised in reserves. 
The cumulative post-acquisition movements are adjusted against 
the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s share 
of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the 
associate, including any other unsecured receivables, the Group 
does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its 
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in 
the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the 
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset 
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been 
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the 
policies adopted by the Group.

The Group’s associate, Nalco Africa, has a December year end to 
coincide with Nalco Company in the United States of America.

1.7 Intangible assets

1.7.1 Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition 
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the net identifiable 
assets of the acquired subsidiary/associate at the date of the 
acquisition. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in 
intangible assets. Goodwill on acquisition of associates is 
included in investments in associates and is tested for 
impairment as part of the overall balance. Goodwill is tested 
annually on 30 September for impairment and whenever events 
or circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be 

1.5 Cost of sales

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those 
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-
down of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of 
inventories are recognised as an expense in the period in which 
the write-down or loss occurs.

Other Accounting Policies

1.6 Basis of consolidation

Group financial statements include those of Omnia Holdings 
Limited and its subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates.

1.6.1 Subsidiaries
Subsidiary undertakings (including special purpose entities), 
which are those companies in which the Group, directly or 
indirectly, has an interest of more than half of the voting rights, 
or otherwise has power to exercise control over the financial and 
operating policies, have been consolidated. The existence and 
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or 
convertible are considered when assessing whether the Group 
controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. 
Subsidiaries are no longer consolidated from the date that 
control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to account for 
the acquisition of subsidiaries by the Group. The cost of the 
acquisition is measured at the fair value of the assets given, 
equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed 
at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition. Identifiable assets and liabilities acquired and 
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date, 
irrespective of the extent of any minority interest. The 
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the 
Group’s share of the identifiable net assets acquired is 
recorded as goodwill. If the cost of acquisition is less than 
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognised directly in the income 
statement. Refer to note 1.7.1 for the accounting treatment 
of goodwill. All intercompany transactions, balances and 
unrealised surpluses or deficits on transactions between 
Group companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated.

Subsidiaries’ accounting policies have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group.

The Group’s subsidiaries domiciled in Mali, Mauritania and 
Senegal have December year ends as required by the respective 
authorities.

The Group applies a policy of treating transactions with minority 
interests as transactions with equity owners of the Group. For 
purchases from non-controlling interests, the difference 
between any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired 
of the carrying value of the net assets of the subsidiary is 
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-
controlling interests are also recorded in equity.
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design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised 
as intangible assets when it is probable that the project will be a 
success, considering its commercial and technological feasibility, 
and costs can be measured reliably. 

Other development expenses are recognised as an expense 
as incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an 
expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period. 
Development costs that have a finite useful life and that have 
been capitalised are amortised from the commencement of the 
commercial production of the product on a straight-line basis 
over the period of its expected benefit.

1.8 Financial assets

(i) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following 
categories: at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
receivables, and available-for-sale. The classification depends on 
the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. 
Management determines the classification of its financial assets 
on initial recognition.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial 
assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in this 
category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the 
short-term. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading 
unless they are designated as hedges. 

(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with 
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market. They are included in current assets, except for 
maturities greater than 12 months after the balance sheet date. 
These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s loans 
and receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash 
and cash equivalents in the balance sheet.

(c) Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are 
either designated in this category or not classified in any of the 
other categories. They are included in non-current assets unless 
management intends to dispose of the investment within 
12 months of the balance sheet date.

(ii) Recognition and measurement
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised 
on the trade date – the date on which the Group commits to 
purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at 
fair value plus transaction costs for all financial assets not carried 
at fair value through profit and loss. Financial assets carried at 
fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair 
value, and transaction costs are expensed in the income 
statement. Financial assets are derecognised when the right to 
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have 
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. 
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of 
“financial assets at fair value through profit or loss” category 

recoverable and carried at cost less accumulated impairment 
losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not reversed. Gains 
and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying 
amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. Goodwill is 
allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment 
testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating units or 
groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit 
from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.

1.7.2 Other intangible assets
An intangible asset is recognised when it is probable that the 
expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the 
asset will flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably. Separately acquired intangible assets are 
initially recognised at historical cost. Intangible assets acquired in 
a business combination are recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Thereafter they are amortised using the 
straight-line method over the asset’s estimated useful life. 
Annually, the estimated remaining useful life is reviewed. 
Intangible assets are not re-valued. The estimated useful lives of 
intangible assets are as follows:

  Trademarks and trade secrets 20 years

  Patents 5 – 10 years

  Distribution contracts 10 years

  Software 5 – 10 years

Costs associated with maintaining computer software 
programmes are recognised as an expense when incurred. 
Costs that are directly associated with the development of 
identifiable and unique software products controlled by the 
Group, and that will probably generate economic benefits 
exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible 
assets when all of the following criteria are met:

  it is technically feasible to complete the software product so 
that it will be available for use;

  management intends to complete the software product and 
use it;

  there is an ability to use or sell the software product;

  it can be demonstrated how the software product will 
generate probable future economic benefits;

  adequate technical, financial and other resources to 
complete the development to use or sell the software are 
available; and

  the expenditure attributable to the software product during 
its development can be reliably measured.

Costs include employee costs incurred as a result of developing 
software and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads. Other 
development expenditures that do not meet the criteria are 
recognised as an expense as incurred. Development costs 
previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an 
asset in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are 
amortised over their useful lives.

1.7.3 Research and development
Research expenditure is recognised as an expense when 
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating to the 
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recognised in the income statement with finance costs. The gain 
or loss relating to the effective portion of forward exchange 
contracts, hedging export sales, is recognised in the income 
statement within other gains/losses. However, when the 
forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of 
a non-financial asset (for example, inventory or fixed assets), 
the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred 
from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost 
of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised 
in cost of goods sold in the case of inventory, or in depreciation 
in the case of fixed assets.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge 
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains 
in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain 
or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred 
to the income statement with other gains/losses.

1.9 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred 
tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other 
comprehensive income.

1.9.1 Current income tax assets and liabilities
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the 
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date in the countries where the company’s subsidiaries and 
associates operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate on 
the basis of amounts expected to be paid to tax authorities. 

Current income tax for current and prior periods is, to the extent to 
which it is unpaid, recognised as a liability. If the amount already 
paid in respect of current and prior periods exceeds the amount 
due for those periods, the excess is recognised as an asset.

1.9.2 Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full using the liability method, 
for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying values in the consolidated 
financial statements. However, the deferred income tax is not 
accounted for if it arises for the initial recognition of an asset or 
a liability in a transaction other than a business combination that 
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor 
taxable profit and loss. Deferred income tax is determined using 
tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted at the balance sheet date and are expected to apply 
when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled. 

The principal temporary differences arise from depreciation of 
property, plant and equipment and tax losses carried forward. 
Deferred tax assets relating to the carry forward of unused tax 
losses are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which the unused tax 
losses can be utilised.

are presented in the income statement within other income in 
the period in which they arise. Dividend income from financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in the 
income statement as part of other income when the Group’s 
right to receive payment is established. At 31 March 2010, the 
Group had no assets in the “financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss” category.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in 
foreign currency and classified as available-for-sale are analysed 
between translation differences resulting from changes in 
amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying 
amount of the security. The translation differences on monetary 
securities are recognised in profit and loss; translation 
differences on non-monetary securities are recognised in equity. 

The fair values of quoted instruments are based on the current 
bid prices. At 31 March 2010, the Group had no investments in 
quoted instruments.

For unlisted securities, and for financial assets for which there is 
no active market, the Group establishes fair value by using 
valuation techniques. These include recent arm’s length 
transactions, reference to other instruments that are 
substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, and 
option pricing models; making maximum use of market inputs 
and relying as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.

The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there 
is objective evidence that a financial asset or group of financial 
assets is impaired. 

1.8.1 Accounting for derivative financial instruments 
and hedging activities
Fair value hedges
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised on the 
balance sheet at fair value on the date the derivate contract is 
entered into and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value. 
The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss is 
dependent on the nature of the item being hedged. During the 
year, the Group’s derivative transactions in respect of forward 
exchange contracts, while providing effective economic hedges 
under the Group’s risk management policies, do not qualify for 
hedge accounting under the specific rules of IAS 39. Forward 
exchange contracts are entered into on a pooled basis and are 
not transaction specific. Changes in the fair value of any 
derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting 
are recognised immediately in the income statement.

Cash flow hedges
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives 
that are designated and qualify for cash flow hedges are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
a separate reserve within equity. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income 
statement within other gains/losses.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified into the income 
statement in the periods during which the hedged items affect 
profit or loss (for example when the forecast sale that is hedged 
takes place). The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of 
interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is 
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allowance account, and the amount of the provision is 
recognised in the income statement, within distribution 
expenses. When the trade receivable is uncollectible, it is 
written off against the allowance account for trade and other 
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously 
written off are credited against distribution expenses in the 
income statement. 

1.12 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits on 
call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less and bank overdrafts. 
Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities 
on the balance sheet.

Bank balances, deposits and cash are initially recognised at 
fair value, including transaction costs where applicable. 
Subsequently, these assets are carried at amortised cost, 
which includes appropriate adjustments for impairment. 
The carrying value approximates the fair value.

1.13 Share capital and equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Where the company, its Share Incentive Scheme or its 
subsidiaries purchase the company’s equity share capital, 
the consideration paid, including any attributable transaction 
costs is treated as treasury shares until the shares are 
cancelled. The consideration paid is deducted from equity 
attributable to the company’s equity holders until the 
shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such shares are 
subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received 
is included in shareholders’ equity attributable to the 
company’s equity holders.

Incremental external costs directly attributable to the issue 
of new shares, other than in connection with a business 
combination, are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. Share issue costs incurred directly in 
connection with a business combination are included in the 
cost of the acquisition.

1.14 Employee benefits

Defined contribution and defined benefit plans
The Group operates defined benefit and defined contribution 
plans, the assets of which are generally held in separate trustee 
administrated funds. The pension plans are generally funded by 
the payment from employees and by the Group companies, 
taking account of advice from independent qualified actuaries.

A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount 
of pension benefit to be provided, usually as a function of one or 
more factors such as age, years of service or compensation. 
A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the 
Group pays fixed contributions into a separate entity (a fund) and 
will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further 
contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all 
employees’ benefits relating to employee service in the current 
and prior periods.

The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of 
defined benefit pension plans is the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet date less the 

Deferred income tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that future taxable profit will be available against 
which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences 
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except 
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is 
controlled by the Group, and it is probable that the temporary 
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Provision 
for taxes, mainly withholding taxes which could arise on the 
remittance of retained earnings, principally in relation to 
subsidiaries, is only made when there is a current intention to 
remit such earnings. 

1.9.3 Secondary tax on companies (STC)
South African resident companies are subject to a dual corporate 
tax system, one part of the tax being levied on taxable income 
and the other, a secondary tax called STC, on distributed 
income. A company incurs STC charges on the declaration or 
deemed declaration of dividends (as defined under tax law) to its 
shareholders. STC is not a withholding tax on shareholders, but 
a tax on companies.

The STC tax consequence of dividends is recognised as a 
taxation charge in the income statement in the same period that 
the related dividend is accrued as a liability. The STC liability is 
reduced by dividends received during the dividend cycle. Where 
dividends declared exceed the dividends received during a cycle, 
STC is payable at the current STC rate on the net amount. 
Where dividends received exceed dividends declared within a 
cycle, there is no liability to pay STC. The potential tax benefit 
related to excess dividends received is carried forward to the 
next dividend cycle as an STC credit. Deferred tax assets are 
recognised on unutilised STC credits to the extent that it is 
probable that the Group will declare future dividends to utilise 
such STC credits.

1.10 Inventories

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value. 
Cost is determined on a first-in, first-out (FIFO) basis and 
includes transport and handling costs but excludes borrowing 
costs. In the case of manufactured products, cost includes all 
direct expenditure and production overheads based on the 
normal level of production activity. Net realisable value is the 
estimate of the selling price in the ordinary course of business, 
less costs of completion and selling costs.

1.11 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method, less provision for impairment. A provision 
for impairment of trade receivables is made when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not collect the amount as 
per the original terms of receivables. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or delinquency 
in payments are considered indicators that a trade receivable has 
been impaired. The provision is the difference between the 
assets’ carrying value and the present value of future cash 
flows, discounted at the effective original interest rate. The 
carrying amount of an asset is reduced through the use of an 

 NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued



  OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 85

Share-based compensation
The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based 
compensation plans under which the entity receives services 
from employees as consideration for equity instruments 
(options) of the Group. The fair value of the employee 
services received in exchange for the grant of the options is 
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be expensed 
over the vesting period is determined by reference to the 
fair value of the options granted on grant date, excluding the 
impact of any non-market vesting conditions and 
performance vesting conditions (for example, profitability 
and sales growth targets and remaining an employee of the 
entity over a specified time period). Non-market vesting 
conditions are included in assumptions about the number of 
options that are expected to vest. The total amount 
expensed is recognised over the vesting period, which is the 
period over which all the specified vesting conditions are to 
be satisfied. At each balance sheet date, the entity revises 
its estimates of the number of options that are expected to 
vest. It recognises the impact of the revision to original 
estimates, if any, in the income statement, with a 
corresponding adjustment to equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable costs are 
credited to stated capital when the options are exercised.

The Group also operates a share appreciation rights plan, which 
is cash-settled. For cash-settled share-based payments, a liability 
equal to the portion of the goods or services received is 
recognised at the current fair value determined at each balance 
sheet date. 

1.15 Provisions and contingencies

Provisions for environmental restoration, restructuring costs and 
legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal 
or constructive obligation as a result of past events, and it is 
probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable 
estimate of the obligation can be made. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood 
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to 
any one item included in the same class of obligations may 
be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s 
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation at the balance sheet date. The discount rate used 
to determine the present value reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the increases 
specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to 
passage of time is recognised as an interest cost.

Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised.

1.16 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective 
interest rate method.

fair value of plan assets, together with adjustments for 
unrecognised actuarial gains or losses and past service 
costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually 
by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit 
method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation 
is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates of high-quality corporate bonds 
that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits 
will be paid, and that have terms to maturity approximating 
the terms of the related pension liability.

Cumulative actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions in excess of 
the greater of 10% of the value of plan assets or 10% of the 
defined benefit obligation are spread over income over the 
employees’ expected average remaining working lives.

Past-service costs are recognised immediately in income, unless 
the changes to the pension plan are conditional on the 
employees remaining in service for a specified period of time 
(the vesting period). In this case, the past-service costs are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over the vesting period.

The Group’s contributions to defined contribution plans are 
charged to the income statement and are included in staff 
costs in the period to which the contributions relate. Once the 
contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment 
obligations. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to 
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in future payments 
is available.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are payable when employment is 
terminated before the normal retirement date, or when an 
employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these 
benefits. The Group recognises termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably committed to either terminating the employment 
of current employees according to a detailed formal plan without 
the possibility of withdrawal; or providing termination benefits as 
a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
Benefits falling due more than 12 months after balance sheet 
date are discounted to present value.

Short-term employee benefits
Annual leave
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when 
they accrue to employees. An accrual is made for the estimated 
liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the balance sheet date.

Bonus plan
A liability for employee benefits in the form of bonus plans is 
recognised in accrued expenses where there is no realistic 
alternative but to settle the liability, and at least one of the 
following conditions is met:

  there is a formal plan and the amounts to be paid are 
determined before the time of issuing the financial 
statements; or

  past practice has created a valid expectation by 
employees that they will receive a bonus and the 
amount can be determined before the time of issuing 
the financial statements.
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  all amounts (ie. assets, liabilities, equity items, income and 
expenses, including comparatives) are translated at the 
closing rate at the date of the most recent balance sheet, 
except that

  when amounts are translated into the currency of a 
non-hyperinflationary economy, comparative amounts are 
those that were presented as current year amounts in the 
relevant prior year financial statements (ie. not adjusted for 
subsequent changes in the price level or subsequent 
changes in exchange rates).

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the 
translation of the net investment in foreign entities, and of 
borrowings and other currency instruments designated as 
hedges of such investments are taken to shareholders’ equity. 
When a foreign entity is partially disposed of or sold, exchange 
differences that were included in equity are recognised in the 
income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on the acquisition of a 
foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign 
entity and translated at the closing rate.

1.19 Segmental reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with 
the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-
maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible 
for allocating resources and assessing performance of the 
operating segments, has been identified as the Board of 
directors that is responsible for making strategic decisions. 

1.20 Dividends

Dividends payable to the company’s shareholders are recorded 
as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the period in 
which they are approved by the company’s directors.

1.21 Leased assets

Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group 
assumes substantially all the benefits and risks of ownership 
are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are 
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the lower of the 
fair value of the leased asset or the estimated present value 
of the underlying lease payment. Each lease payment is 
allocated between the liability and the finance charges to 
achieve a constant rate on the finance balance outstanding. 
The corresponding rental obligations, net of finance charges 
are included in interest-bearing borrowings. The interest 
element of the finance lease is charged to the income 
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability at each period. Property, plant and equipment 
acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the 
shorter of the useful life of the leased asset and the 
lease term.

Assets purchased under installment sale agreements are 
capitalised and the relevant obligations are recorded as liabilities. 
Interest incurred in respect of such obligations is brought to 
account in the period to which it relates.

Leases of assets under which all the risks and benefits of 
ownership are effectively retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases are 
charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the period of the lease.

1.17 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of proceeds 
received, net of transaction costs incurred, when the Group 
becomes party to the contractual provisions. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method; any difference between proceeds and the 
redemption value is recognised in the income statement over 
the period of the borrowing as interest.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised 
as transaction costs of the loan to the extent that some or all of 
the facility will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred 
until the draw down occurs. To the extent that there is no 
evidence that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be 
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for liquidity 
services and amortised over the period of the facility to which it 
relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group 
has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for 
at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

1.18 Translation of foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s 
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (functional currency). The 
consolidated financial statements are presented in South African 
rands, which is the Group’s presentation currency and the 
company’s functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at 
year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income 
statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash 
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses are allocated to the relevant line item 
in the income statement. Foreign exchange gains and losses 
that relate to borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are 
presented in the income statement within finance income or 
cost. All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented 
within operating profit in the income statement. 

Group companies
Financial statements of foreign subsidiaries, except those 
operating in hyperinflationary economies, are translated to the 
presentation currency as follows:

  Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented 
are translated at the closing rate at the date of the 
balance sheet.

  Income and expenses for each income statement are 
translated at average exchange rates.

  All resulting exchange differences are recognised as a 
separate component of equity in the form of a foreign 
currency translation reserve.

The results and financial position of foreign subsidiaries whose 
functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary 
economy are translated into a different presentation currency 
as follows:
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Interest rate risk
As the Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, the 
Group’s income and operating cash flows are substantially 
independent of changes in market interest rates. 

The Group’s interest rate risk arises from borrowings. The Group 
sometimes borrows at variable rates and uses interest rate 
swaps as cash flow hedges of future interest payments, which 
have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating 
rates to fixed rates. The interest rate swaps allow the Group to 
raise long-term and short-term borrowings at floating rates and 
swap them into fixed rates. Under the interest rate swaps the 
Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified 
intervals (mainly quarterly), the difference between fixed 
contract rates and floating rate interest amounts calculated by 
reference to the agreed notional principal amounts.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer 
or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s 
receivables from customers and from cash and cash equivalents.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, due to 
its wide spread of customers. The Group has policies to ensure 
that sales of products and services are made to customers with 
an appropriate credit history. Where the credit risk is perceived 
to be higher than appropriate credit history, insurance cover is 
put in place. Individual risk limits are set based on internal and 
external ratings in accordance with limits set by management. 
The utilisation of credit limits is regularly monitored. Derivative 
counterparties and cash transactions are limited to high credit 
quality financial institutions. The Group has policies that limit the 
amount of credit exposure to any one financial institution. 

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet 
its financial obligations as they fall due. Prudent liquidity risk 
management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the 
availability of funding through an adequate amount of credit 
facilities. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying 
businesses, Group treasury maintains flexibility in funding by 
maintaining availability under credit lines.

The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far 
as possible, that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its 
liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the 
Group’s reputation. Management monitors rolling forecasts of 
the Group’s liquidity reserves (comprising undrawn borrowing 
facilities and cash and cash equivalents) on the basis of 
expected cash flow. This is generally carried out at a local level 
in the operating companies of the Group in accordance with 
practice and limits set by the Group. In addition, the Group’s 
liquidity management policy involves projecting cash flows in 
major currencies and considering the level of liquid assets 
necessary to meet these; monitoring balance sheet liquidity 
ratios against internal and external requirements; and 
maintaining debt financing plans.

1.22.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to 

1.22 Financial risk management

1.22.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: 
market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and price 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group 
uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward exchange 
contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge certain risk 
exposures. 

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department 
(Group treasury) under policies approved by the Board of 
directors. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges 
financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating 
units. The Board provides written principles for the overall risk 
management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, 
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use 
of derivative financial instruments and investing excess liquidity.

The Group audit committee oversees how management 
monitors compliance with the Group’s financial risk management 
policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to the financial risks faced 
by the Group. Internal audit assists the Group audit committee 
in its oversight role. Internal audit undertakes both regular 
and ad hoc reviews of financial risk management controls 
and procedures, the results of which are reported to the 
audit committee.

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as 
foreign exchange rates and interest rates, will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments. The 
objective of market risk management is to manage and control 
market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising the return on risk.

Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk on sales, 
purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a currency 
other than the respective functional currencies of the Group 
companies, primarily with respect to the US dollar. In addition, 
the Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign 
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures. 

The Group’s policy is to consider the net position between 
commitments for imports and receivables resulting from 
exports. The Group companies are required to hedge their net 
foreign exchange risk exposure with the Group treasury. To 
manage their foreign exchange risk arising from future 
commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities, 
entities in the Group use forward contracts, transacted with 
Group treasury. 

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose 
net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk. 
Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the Group’s 
foreign operations is managed primarily through borrowings 
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.
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Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimation and judgements are continually evaluated and are 
based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any 
impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
note 1.7.1. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units 
have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These 
calculations require the use of estimates. (Refer note 3).

Impairment of trade and other receivables

A provision for impairment of trade receivables is made when 
there is objective evidence that the Group will not collect the 
amount as per the original terms of receivables. Significant 
financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and default or 
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that a trade 
receivable has been impaired. The provision is the difference 
between the assets’ carrying value and the present value of 
future cash flows, discounted at the effective interest rate. This 
provision requires the use of management judgement.

Share-based payment

Share-based compensation transactions are subject to significant 
assumptions and judgements. Please refer to note 36 for further 
details.

Retirement benefit obligations

The present value of the pension obligations depends on a 
number of factors that are determined on an actuarial basis 
using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in 
determining the net cost (income) for pensions include the 
discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the 
carrying amount of pension obligations.

The Group determines the appropriate discount rate at the end 
of each year. This is the interest rate that should be used to 
determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows 
expected to be required to settle the pension obligations. In 
determining the appropriate discount rate, the Group considers 
the interest rates of high quality corporate bonds that are 
denominated in the currency that benefits will be paid and that 
have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related 
pension liability. 

Other key assumptions for pension obligations are based on 
past and current market conditions. Additional information is 
disclosed in note 32.

provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other 
stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to 
reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group 
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return 
capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to 
reduce debt.

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors 
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated 
as net debt divided by equity. Net debt is calculated as total 
borrowings (including current and non-current borrowings 
as shown in the consolidated balance sheet) less cash 
and cash equivalents. Equity is shown as in the 
consolidated balance sheet.

During 2010, the Group’s strategy, which was unchanged from 
2009, was to maintain the gearing ratio within 20 to 50%. 
The Group also has specific financial covenants in place with 
various financial institutions to govern its debt. The gearing 
ratios at 31 March 2010 and 2009 were as follows:

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Total borrowings 967 1 111

Less: cash and cash 
equivalents (563)  (159)

Net debt 404 952

Total equity 1 971 2 137

Gearing ratio 20% 45%

The decrease in the gearing ratio during 2010 resulted primarily 
from the decrease in call loans.

1.22.3 Fair value estimation
The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets 
(such as trading and available-for-sale securities) is based on 
quoted market prices at the balance sheet date. The quoted 
market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the 
current bid price at 31 March 2010. The Group had no financial 
instruments traded in active markets on its balance sheet.

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an 
active market (for example, over-the-counter derivatives) is 
determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a 
variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on 
market conditions existing at each balance sheet date. Quoted 
market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments are used 
for long-term debt. Other techniques, such as estimated 
discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the 
remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate 
swaps is calculated as the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows. The fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts 
is determined using quoted forward exchange rates at the 
balance sheet date.

The carrying value less impairment provision of trade receivables 
and payables is assumed to approximate their fair values. The 
fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is 
estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at 
the current market interest rate that is available for the Group for 
similar financial instruments.
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Freehold
land and 
buildings

Rm

Plant and
machinery

Rm

Furniture,
equipment 

and vehicles
Rm

Total
Rm

2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Owned assets

At 31 March 2010

Cost  204  1 329  226  1 759

Accumulated depreciation (31) (441) (97) (569)

 173  888  129  1 190

Year ended 31 March 2010

Opening net book amount  166  782  104  1 052

Additions  14  241  62  317

Disposals  – (52) (4) (56)

Acquisition of business (refer note 28)  –  1  –  1

Effect of foreign currency movement (1) (12) – (13)

Depreciation charge (6) (72) (33) (111)

Closing net book amount  173  888  129  1 190

At 31 March 2009

Cost  191  1 177  190  1 558

Accumulated depreciation (25) (395) (86) (506)

 166  782  104  1 052

Year ended 31 March 2009

Opening net book amount  152  668  77  897

Additions  19  166  53  238

Disposals  –  – (1) (1)

Impairment (3)  –  – (3)

Effect of foreign currency movement  3  16  3  22

Depreciation charge (5) (68) (28) (101)

Closing net book amount  166  782  104  1 052

At 1 April 2008

Cost  173  998  134  1 305

Accumulated depreciation (21) (330) (57) (408)

 152  668  77  897
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Plant and
machinery

Rm

Furniture,
equipment 

and vehicles
Rm

Total
Rm

2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

Leased assets

At 31 March 2010

Cost 135 7 142

Accumulated depreciation (31) (6) (37)

104 1 105

Year ended 31 March 2010

Opening net book amount 61 1 62

Additions 50 – 50

Effect of foreign currency movement 1 – 1

Depreciation charge (8) – (8)

Closing net book amount 104 1 105

At 31 March 2009

Cost 83 7 90

Accumulated depreciation (22) (6) (28)

61 1 62

Year ended 31 March 2009

Opening net book amount 67 1 68

Effect of foreign currency movement (5) – (5)

Depreciation charge (1) – (1)

Closing net book amount 61 1 62

At 1 April 2008

Cost 87 7 94

Accumulated depreciation (20) (6) (26)

67 1 68

Freehold
land and 
buildings

Rm

Plant and
machinery

Rm

Furniture,
equipment 

and vehicles
Rm

Total
Rm

Net book amount – year ended 31 March 2010

Owned assets 173 888 129 1 190

Leased assets – 104 1 105

173 992 130 1 295

Net book amount – year ended 31 March 2009

Owned assets 166 782 104 1 052

Leased assets – 61 1 62

166 843 105 1 114

In terms of IAS 8 – Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors, an assessment of the expected future 
benefits associated with property, plant and equipment was determined. Based on the latest available and reliable information, 
there was no change in the estimated useful life and residual values.

Depreciation expense of R75 million (2009: R69 million) has been charged to cost of sales, R25 million (2009: R20 million) to 
distribution expenses and R19 million (2009: R13 million) to administrative expenses.
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Notes
2010

Rm
2009

Rm

2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT continued

The value of capital work-in-progress included in property, plant and 
equipment amounts to 228 105

Certain land and buildings, plant, equipment and vehicles are encumbered under loan, suspensive sale and finance lease 
agreements (refer note 13).

The directors are of the opinion that the recoverable amount of each class of property exceeds the carrying value at which it is 
included in the balance sheet.

Details of freehold land and buildings are contained in registers which are open for inspection by members or their duly authorised 
agents at the registered office of the company.

 
Goodwill

Rm

Trademarks,
trade secrets

and patents
Rm

Distribution
contracts

Rm
Software

Rm
Total
Rm

3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

At 31 March 2010

Cost 332 209 58 82 681

Accumulated amortisation – (71) (32) (41) (144)

332 138 26 41 537

Year ended 31 March 2010

Opening net book amount 325 141 23 28 517

Additions – 1 – 17 18

Effect of foreign currency movement (1) – – (1) (2)

Acquisition of business (refer note 28) 37 10 9 56

Businesses contributed to associates (29) – – – (29)

Amortisation charge (refer note 18) – (14) (6) (3) (23)

Closing net book amount 332 138 26 41 537

At 31 March 2009

Cost 325 195 49 65 634

Accumulated amortisation – (54) (26) (37) (117)

325 141 23 28 517

Year ended 31 March 2009

Opening net book amount 324 155 27 11 517

Additions – – – 20 20

Effect of foreign currency movement 1 – – – 1

Amortisation charge (refer note 18) – (14) (4) (3) (21)

Closing net book amount 325 141 23 28 517

None of the intangible assets included above have an indefinite useful life.

Amortisation charge of R5 million (2009: R1 million) is included in the income statement in administrative expenses, R11 million 
(2009: R12 million) distribution expenses and R7 million (2009: R8 million) in other operating expenses.

Impairment tests for goodwill

Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGUs) identified according to location of operation and business segment.

 



92 OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 31 March 2010

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

3 INTANGIBLE ASSETS continued

A segment-level summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below:

Cash-generating units

Chemicals segment

Protea Speciality Chemicals 42 51

Protea Polymers and African Polymers 40 41

Protea Chemicals – Inland 54 54

Protea Chemicals – Cape 101 112

Protea Chemicals – KZN 20 22

Zetachem 36 42

Petroleum Fine Products 37 – 

330 322

Fertilizer segment

Omnia Specialities Australia 2 3

332 325

Goodwill represents the above cash-generating units’ ability to generate future cash flows, which is a direct result of various 
factors, including the quality of the workforce acquired, possible future synergies and customer and supplier relationships.

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash flow 
projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year 
period are extrapolated based on the estimated growth rates stated below. The growth rate does not exceed the long-term 
average growth rate for the chemicals business in which the CGU operates.

Management believes that any reasonable possible change in the key assumptions on which the above CGU’s carrying amounts 
are based would not cause the carrying amount of any of the CGUs to exceed their recoverable amount.

2010
%

2009
%

Key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations:

Annual revenue growth 16 6

Annual growth in other income 16 8

Gross margin %(1) 14 14

Annual increase in expenses 13 15

Annual increase in fixed costs 7 15

Discount rate(2) 9 12

1) Budgeted gross margin
2) Pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash flow projections

These assumptions have been used for analysis of each CGU within the business segment. Management determined budgeted 
gross margin based on past performance and its expectations of the market development. The annual growth rates are determined 
based on the budget for the forthcoming financial year. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the 
relevant CGUs.

No impairment charge to goodwill was required based on the above value-in-use calculations.

Effect of variances in assumptions used

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
note 1.7.1. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These 
calculations require the use of estimates (refer note 1.1 and note 1.3).

If the revised estimated gross margin at 31 March 2010 reduced from 14% to 12%, there would be no impairment of goodwill.

If the revised estimated sales growth per annum had been 14% rather than management’s estimate at 31 March 2010 of 16%, 
there would be no impairment of goodwill.

If the revised estimated pre-tax discount rate applied to the discounted cash flows increased from 9% to 12%, there would be no 
impairment of goodwill.
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

4 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Unlisted shares in local and foreign companies 19 1

The investments are carried at fair value.

There were no disposals or impairment provisions on available-for-sale 
financial assets in 2010.

Directors’ valuation of unlisted shares 19 1

The available-for-sale financial assets are denominated as follows:

US dollar 18 – 

Rand 1 1

19 1

5 INVESTMENT IN ASSOCIATES

At 1 April 40 –

Reclassification from available-for-sale financial assets – 29

Acquisition 50 – 

Loans advanced 2 – 

Equity share of profit* 3 5

Dividends received (1) – 

Exchange differences (10) 6

84 40

* Share of profit is after tax.

R41 million (2009: R nil) goodwill is included in the investment in associates balance.

During the year, the Group acquired significant influence in Nalco Africa (Pty) Limited.

The Group’s share of the results of ETC Bio-Energy Limited incorporated in Zambia is as follows:

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Assets 44 54

Liabilities 11 14

Revenues 18 26

Profit 2 5

% interest held 10% 10%

The Group’s share of the results of Nalco Africa (Pty) Limited incorporated in South Africa is as follows:

Assets 4 – 

Liabilities 3 – 

Revenues 19 – 

Profit 1 – 

% interest held 49,9% – 

The Group has a less than 20% ownership in ETC Bio-Energy Limited, but it has been classified as an associate as significant 
influence is established through board representation.

The valuation of this unlisted investment, as approved by the directors amounted to R84 million (2009: R40 million).
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

6 INVENTORIES

Raw materials 344 1 329

Finished goods 890 1 015

Consumables 81 47

1 315 2 391

Historical cost of inventories 1 336 2 424

Allowance for write-down to net realisable value (21) (33)

Value as above 1 315 2 391

Inventory written-down during the current period 370 137

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in cost of sales amounted to R6 805 million (2009: R8 478 million).

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

7 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade and other receivables 1 237 1 360

Less: allowance for impairment of receivables (79) (141)

Net trade receivables (refer note 30) 1 158 1 219

Prepayments 24 33

Value-added tax 44 51

Forward exchange contract 6 179

Other receivables 133 39

1 365 1 521

The value of impairment loss recognised during the year is R8 million (2009: R97 million).

This impairment loss has been included within distribution expenses in the income statement.

The fair values of trade and other receivables approximate their book values as shown above.

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

8 STATED CAPITAL

Authorised:

Stated capital

75 000 000 (2009: 75 000 000) ordinary shares of no par value

Issued and fully paid up:

Stated capital

47 249 825 (2009: 45 177 461) ordinary shares of no par value 318 201
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Treasury shares

 

Number 
of shares

’000

Stated 
capital

Rm

Number 
of shares

’000

Capital
value

Rm
Net total

Rm

8 STATED CAPITAL continued

The movement in capital may be 
analysed as follows:

Balance at 31 March 2008 45 177 201 (914) (13) 188

Treasury shares sold – – 107 2 2

Balance at 31 March 2009 45 177 201 (807) (11) 190

Shares issued 2 073 117 117

Treasury shares sold – – 49 3 3

Balance at 31 March 2010 47 250 318 (758) (8) 310

Refer to note 36 for disclosures in respect of the Omnia Share Incentive Scheme.

In terms of a resolution of the shareholders, the directors are authorised to allot unissued ordinary shares of the company at their 
discretion subject to a limit of 5% of the issued share capital. The power remains effective until the next annual general meeting.

 

Share-
based

payment
reserve

Rm

Foreign
currency

translation
reserve

Rm

Other
reserves

Rm
Total
Rm

9 OTHER RESERVES

At 31 March 2008 45 79 3 127

Share-based payment – value of services provided 32 – – 32

Increase in foreign currency translation reserve – 127 – 127

At 31 March 2009 77 206 3 286

Share-based payment – value of services provided 49 – – 49

Share-based payment – ordinary shares issued (45) – – (45)

Decrease in foreign currency translation reserve – (228) – (228)

Cash flow hedge – – (8) (8)

At 31 March 2010 81 (22) (5) 54

The share-based payment reserve is adjusted when the entity revises its estimates of the number of share options that are 
expected to become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, in the income statement, 
with a corresponding adjustment to this reserve in equity for equity-settled plans. The fair value of share options issued to 
employees is accounted for in the share-based payment reserve over the vesting period.

The foreign currency translation reserve relates to exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign subsidiaries’ and 
joint ventures’ income statements at average rates for the year and their balance sheets at the ruling exchange rates at the 
balance sheet date.

Other reserves consist of cash flow hedge and a non-distributable reserve in respect of the net discount arising in previous years 
on the acquisition of shares of subsidiaries.
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

10 RETAINED EARNINGS

Consolidated retained earnings comprises:

Company (22) 22

Subsidiaries 1 623 1 636

Associates 8 5

1 609 1 663

11 MINORITY INTEREST IN EQUITY

264 000 convertible redeemable cumulative 

Preference shares in Omnia Group Investments Limited – 2

Minority interest in equity (2) (4)

(2) (2)

12 DEFERRED INCOME TAXES

Deferred taxation is calculated on all temporary differences under the liability 
method using a principal tax rate of 28% (2009: 28%).

Deferred income tax assets (9) (14)

Deferred income tax liabilities 80 118

71 104

Gross movement in the deferred income tax assets account:

Opening balance at beginning of the year (14) (8)

Income statement charge (refer note 20) 5 (6)

Closing balance at end of the year (9) (14)

Gross movement in the deferred income tax liabilities account:

Opening balance at beginning of the year 118 104

Tax rate adjustment (refer note 20) (6) – 

112 104

Acquisition of business (refer note 28) 5 – 

Income statement charge (refer note 20) (37) 14

Closing balance at end of the year 80 118

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally 
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when 
deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority.

The deferred taxation balance is attributable to the following items:

Capital allowances 169 169

Inventory 3 (8)

Provisions and prepayments (32) (46)

Taxation losses (80) (8)

Acquisition of business 5 – 

Other 6 (3)

71 104

Portion to be recovered after more than 12 months 100 158

Portion to be recovered within 12 months (29) (54)

71 104
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

13 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS

Secured 176 160

Unsecured 736 578

912 738

Portion repayable within one year transferred to current portion of 
interest-bearing borrowings (108) (68)

804 670

Non-current interest-bearing borrowings are repayable as follows:

2010/2011 – 30

2011/2012 146 61

2012/2013 511 480

2013/2014 86 80

2014/2015 41 19

Repayable thereafter 20 – 

804 670

All borrowings are denominated in rand.

Details of secured borrowings

Book value of assets encumbered in favour of secured lenders:

Freehold land, buildings and improvements to leasehold properties 36 36

Plant, equipment and vehicles under finance lease agreements 126 43

162 79

Closing rate of interest

 
Years of

redemption
2010

%
2009

%
2010

Rm
2009

Rm

Details of interest-bearing borrowings

Secured

Suspensive sale obligations 2009 – 2013 11,4 13,3 24 38 

Finance for Envinox plant 2010 – 2014 9,5 – 27 – 

Finance for Nitrophos plant 2010 – 2014 9,5 – 35 – 

Finance for warehousing and 
distribution hub 2009 – 2013 9,3 11,8 11 12 

Finance for acquisition of Zetachem 2009 – 2013 9,3 13,5 73 101 

Finance for computer hardware 2009 – 2012 12,0 12,0 6 9 

Unsecured

Finance for Sakhile 2008 – 2014 10,2 12,5 150 173 

Finance for Sakhile 2 2011 – 2017 9,0 – 55 – 

Finance for Nanotron 2011 – 2015 10,8 – 126 – 

Domestic Medium Term Note Programme 2009 – 2012 12,1 12,1 405 405 

912 738 

Portion repayable within one year (108) (68)

804 670 

Long-term liabilities bear interest at rates linked to either the prime overdraft rate or the three month bankers’ acceptance rate as 
quoted by the lending bank.

Average monthly payments amounted to R6 million (2009: R4 million).

The fair value of borrowings equal their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

In terms of the Articles of Association of the company, the company’s borrowings may not exceed the aggregate from time to 
time of 250% of the issued and paid-up capital together with the aggregate of all reserves and share premium accounts.
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2010

Carrying
amount

Rm

Fair
value

Rm

13 INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS continued

Total borrowings

The carrying amount and fair value of non-current borrowings are as follows:

Bank loans 780 780 

Suspensive sale obligation 24 24 

804 804 

2009

Carrying
amount

Rm

Fair
value

Rm

Bank loans 637 637 

Suspensive sale obligation 33 33 

670 670 

The fair value of current borrowings equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the borrowing rate of 10,3% (2009: 12,4%). 

The carrying amount of short-term borrowings approximate their fair value.

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Trade payables 1 291 982

Advances from customers 257 392

Accrued expenses 430 403

Forward exchange contracts 62 396

Interest rate swaps – 1

Value-added tax 31 18

Share-based payment liability 3 2

Other payables 92 176

2 166 2 370
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Environ-
mental 

restoration 
Rm

Total 
Rm

15 PROVISIONS

At 1 April 2008 1 1

Charged to income statement – – 

At 31 March 2009 1 1

Charged to income statement – – 

At 31 March 2010 1 1

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Analysis of total provisions

– non-current 1 1

– current – – 

1 1

Provisions totalling R1 million have been raised, in terms of the Group’s obligations for environmental restoration by the 
mining segment.

In the opinion of the directors no significant losses beyond these amounts provided at 31 March 2010 are expected to arise.

The timing of payment of the non-current portion is uncertain.

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

16 REVENUE

Sales of goods 8 737 10 866

Rendering of services 90 245

8 827 11 111

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

17 OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Insurance claim 32 20

Profit on businesses contributed to associate 20 – 

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (refer note 2) (1) – 

Other 26 10

77 30
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

18 OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):

Remuneration other than to employees for 4 19

– Managerial services 3 3

– Technical services 1 16

Auditors’ remuneration 8 8

– Fees for audit 7 7

– Other services 1 1

Depreciation (refer note 2) 119 102

Buildings and improvements to leasehold properties 6 5

Plant and machinery

– owned 72 68

– leased 8 1

Furniture, vehicles and equipment

– owned 33 28

Impairment of property, plant and equipment (refer note 2) – 3

Amortisation of intangible assets (refer note 3) 23 21

Rentals under operating leases 46 25

– Land and buildings 36 23

– Plant and machinery 8 – 

– Furniture, equipment and vehicles 2 2

Research and development expenditure 10 2

Forward contract transactions not designated as hedges 17 66

Forward cover cost 14 102

Fair value loss on interest rate swaps – 2

Staff costs 701 692

– Wages and salaries 630 630

– Social security costs 2 2

– Equity-settled share-based payment expense 42 32

– Cash-settled share-based payment expense 1 2

– Provident costs – defined contribution plans 22 21

– Pension costs – defined benefit plans (refer note 32) 4 5

Staff costs have been charged to: 701 692

– Administrative expenses 281 330

– Selling and distribution expenses 293 257

– Cost of sales 127 105

Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress (125) 82

Raw materials and consumables used 6 930 8 395

Movement in provision for impairment of trade receivables (62) 79

Movement in the provision on inventories (12) 16

Inventory written-down during the year 370 137
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

19 FINANCE EXPENSES

Interest paid

Short-term interest-bearing borrowings 97 145

Long-term interest-bearing borrowings 89 65

186 210

Interest capitalised (1) – 

Net foreign exchange losses/(gains) on conversion of foreign bank balances 32 (5)

1 329 205

A capitalisation rate of 11,56% was used to determine the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

20 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

South African normal taxation

– Current year 69 118

– Prior year (6) 3

Secondary taxation on companies 4 3

Foreign taxation 23 95

90 219

Deferred taxation

– Current year (33) 8

– Tax rate adjustment (6) – 

Taxation for the year 51 227

The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would 
arise using the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated 
companies as follows:

Profit before taxation 109 718

Tax calculated at 28% (2009: 28%) 31 201

Adjusted for:

Secondary taxation on companies 4 3

Permanent differences

– Share-based payments 11 9

– Prior year adjustment 12 7

Change in tax rate (1) – 

Other (6) 7

Tax charge 51 227

The weighted average applicable tax rate was 46,8% (2009: 31,6%). 

The increase is caused mainly by the higher proportion of share-based payment in the current year compared to the Group’s profit 
before taxation, combined with non-tax deductible expenditure of R32 million.
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

21 EARNINGS PER SHARE AND DIVIDENDS PER SHARE

a) Basic and headline earnings

Basic and headline earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable 
to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
during the year, excluding the weighted average number of ordinary shares held by 
the Share Incentive Scheme and ordinary shares held as treasury shares.

Basic earnings per share:

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the company 56 491

Divided by the weighted number of shares in issue: (‘000’s)

(excluding treasury shares) 45 904 44 316

Basic earnings per share (cents) 122,0 1 107,4 

Headline earnings per share:

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the company 56 491

Adjusted for loss on disposal of fixed assets 1 – 

Adjusted for profit on businesses contributed to associate (20) –

Impairment of assets – 3

37 494

Divided by the weighted number of shares in issue: (‘000’s) 45 904 44 316

(excluding treasury shares)

Headline earnings per share (cents) 80,6 1 114,2 

b) Fully diluted earnings and headline earnings per share

For fully diluted earnings per share the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue is adjusted to assume conversion of 
all dilutive potential ordinary share options. For dilutive potential share options, a calculation is done to determine the number of 
shares that could have been acquired at market price (determined as the average annual share price of the company’s shares) 
based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding options. This calculation serves to determine the 
unpurchased shares to be added to the ordinary shares outstanding for the purposes of calculating the dilution. No adjustment is 
made where the effect of the dilutive potential ordinary shares is considered to be anti-dilutive.

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Fully diluted earnings and headline earnings per share

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for diluted earnings and diluted 
headline earnings per share is calculated as follows:

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (‘000’s) 45 904 44 316

Adjustments for

– Share options in respect of the Share Incentive Scheme (‘000’s) 123 255

– Preference shares convertible into ordinary shares (‘000’s) – 1 633

46 027 46 204

Net profit attributable to equity holders of the company 56 491

Fully diluted earnings per share (cents) 121,7 1 062,2 

Headline earnings (as calculated above) 37 494

Fully diluted headline earnings per share (cents) 80,4 1 068,7 
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

21 EARNINGS PER SHARE AND DIVIDENDS PER SHARE continued

c) Dividends per share

Final dividend per share declared and paid during the year (cents) 
in respect of the prior year^ 150,0 117,0 

Interim dividend declared and paid in respect of current year (cents) – 100,0 

^ Shareholders could elect to receive 145 cents per share instead of the capitalisation award.

22 BANK BORROWINGS

In terms of the company’s Articles of Association, the Group’s borrowing powers 
are limited to 250% of the ordinary shareholders’ interest.

Borrowing capacity in terms of the Articles of Association 4 928 5 342

Total net borrowings (404) (952)

Unutilised borrowing capacity 4 524 4 390

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:

Floating rate:

– Expiring within one year 2 602 2 458

2 602 2 458

The banking facilities of the company are secured by unlimited letters of suretyship from Group companies.

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

23 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure approved by the directors but not contracted for 420 91

Capital expenditure approved and contracted for but no delivery has taken place 9 9

429 100

Funds to meet those commitments will be provided from cash flow from operations 
and facilities negotiated.

This expenditure relates to property, plant and equipment.

(b) Operating lease commitments

The future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases 
are as follows:

Not later than 1 year 20 17

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 79 22

Later than 5 years 9 1

108 40

The Group leases various offices, warehouses, vehicles and office equipment under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. 
The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The lease expenditure charged to the income statement 
during the year is disclosed in note 18.
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

24 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Operating profit 279 877

Adjustments for:

Depreciation (refer note 2) 119 102

Amortisation of intangible assets (refer note 3) 23 21

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 – 

Increase in share-based payment expense 49 32

Movement in foreign currency translation reserve (228) 127

Reclassification of foreign currency movements in working capital and non-current 
assets and liabilities 246 (105)

Reclassification of foreign currency movements on opening cash and cash equivalents (3) 4

Decrease/(increase) in inventory 956 (958)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (32) 80

(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (119) 134

Other non-cash items 38 (5)

1 329 309

25 INCOME TAXES PAID

Unpaid at beginning of year (20) (79)

Charged to the income statement (51) (227)

Foreign currency translation (4) (5)

Movement in deferred taxation (33) 8

Deferred tax acquired from acquisition of business (refer note 28) (5) – 

Unpaid at end of year 2 20

(111) (283)

26 DIVIDENDS PAID

Unpaid at beginning of year – – 

Ordinary dividend declared and paid during the year (40) (96)

Unpaid at end of year – – 

(40) (96)

27 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Bank balances and cash 563 159

Bank overdrafts (55) (373)

508 (214)

The effective interest rate on borrowings was 10,26% (2009: 12,30%). 

The carrying amount of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the 
following currencies:

Rand (4) (258)

US dollar (3) (71)

Other currencies (48) (44)

(55) (373)

The fair value of current bank overdrafts equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

 NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued



  OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 105

28 ACQUISITION OF BUSINESS

In December 2009, the Group acquired 100% of the net assets of Petroleum Fine Products, for a purchase consideration of 
R66 million (net of cash acquired of R2 million), which was settled in cash. This interest was consolidated in the current year 
financial statements from 1 December 2009. The acquired business contributed revenues of R28 million and operating profit of 
R2 million to the Group for the period 1 December 2009 to 31 March 2010 and its assets and liabilities at 31 March 2010 are 
R34 million and R32 million respectively.

If the acquisition had occurred on 1 April 2009, Group revenue would have been R8 930 million, and operating profit would have 
been R297 million. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the 
business to reflect the additional depreciation and amortisation that would have been charged assuming the fair value adjustments 
to property, plant and equipment and intangible assets had applied from 1 April 2009, together with the consequential tax effects.

2010
Rm

Purchase consideration 68

Fair value of assets acquired 31

Goodwill 37

Fair 
value

Rm

Acquiree’s
carrying amount

Rm

The assets and liabilities arising from the acquisitions are as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents 2 2

Property, plant and equipment (as per note 2) 1 1

Trademarks (as per note 3) 10 – 

Distribution contracts (as per note 3) 9 – 

Inventories 4 4

Trade and other receivables 18 18

Trade and other payables (8) (8)

Deferred tax liabilities (as per note 12) (5) – 

Fair value of asset acquired 31 17

Goodwill (as per note 3) 37

Total purchase consideration 68

Cash and cash equivalents of subsidiary acquired (2)

Cash outflow on acquisition 66

There were no acquisitions in the year ended 31 March 2009.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.
Trade receivables that are less than one month past due are not considered impaired. As of 31 March 2010, trade receivables of 
R315 million (2009: R522 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate to a number of independent customers from whom 
there is no recent history of default, or for whom credit insurance is in place.

2010 2009

Gross
Rm

Impairment
Rm

Gross
Rm

Impairment
Rm

The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:

Fully performing 843 – 697 – 

Past due 31 – 60 days 191 (8) 219 (1)

Past due 61 – 90 days 64 (4) 79 (6)

Past due 91 – 120 days 29 (6) 73 (9)

More than 120 days 110 (61) 292 (125)

1 237 (79) 1 360 (141)

The carrying amount of trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Rand 749 591

US dollar 322 514

Euro 9 8

Other currencies 78 106

1 158 1 219

The movement in the provision for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

2010 
Rm

2009 
Rm

At 1 April (141) (62)

Allowance for receivable impairment (4) (80)

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible 60 9

Unused amounts reversed 4 1

Foreign currency movement 2 (9)

At 31 March (79) (141)

As of 31 March 2010, trade receivables of R79 million (2009: R141 million) were impaired and provided for.

The creation and release of provisions for impaired receivables have been included in distribution expenses in the income 
statement. Amounts charged to the provision accounts are generally written off, when there is no expectation of recovering 
additional cash. Unwinding of discount is included in finance costs in the income statement.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. The Group has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and 
services are made to customers with appropriate credit history. The Group limits the amount of credit exposure to any one 
financial institution. In addition, the Group has insurance cover over certain of its receivables.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above.

The Group does not hold any collateral as security.
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Exposure to liquidity risk

The table below analyses the financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than
1 year

Rm

Between 1
and 2 years

Rm

Between 2
and 5 years

Rm

Over 
5 years

Rm
Total

Rm

At 31 March 2010

Bank (563) – – – (563)

Interest-bearing borrowings 109 553 205 45 912

Bank overdraft 55 – – – 55

Trade and other payables 2 122 – – – 2 122

Net liquidity position 1 723 553 205 45 2 526

At 31 March 2009

Bank (159) – – – (159)

Interest-bearing borrowings 138 95 502 1 736

Bank overdraft 373 – – – 373

Trade and other payables 2 222 30 27 – 2 279

Net liquidity position 2 574 125 529 1 3 229

The table below analyses the financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance 
sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 

Less than
1 year

Rm

Between 1
and 2 years

Rm

Between 2
and 5 years

Rm

Over 
5 years

Rm
Total

Rm

At 31 March 2010

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Outflow (67) – – – (67)

Inflow 6 – – – 6

(61) – – – (61)

Level 1* Level 2 Level 3 Total

Fair value measurement at end of 31 March 2010

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Trading derivatives – (61) – (61)

Total – (61) – (61)

Effective 1 April 2009, the Group adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for financial instruments that are measured in the balance 
sheet at fair value, this requires disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

*Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (that is, 
as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3 – Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).
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29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Less than
1 year

Rm

Between 1
and 2 years

Rm

Between 2
and 5 years

Rm

Over 
5 years

Rm
Total
Rm

At 31 March 2009

Forward foreign exchange contracts

Outflow (396) – – – (396)

Inflow 179 – – – 179

(217) – – – (217)

The Group’s liquidity risk consists mainly of the amount borrowed from time to time. The details of undrawn facilities are disclosed 
in note 22. The liquidity risk is managed by monitoring the daily borrowing levels and by conducting cash flow forecasts at regular 
intervals in order to maintain sufficient funds to fund the business from cash generated by operations and funds available from 
committed credit facilities.

Exposure to currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange rate risk arising from various currency exposures primarily 
with respect to the US dollar.

Companies in the Group use forward contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign currency risk.

The exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows based on notional amounts:

 
USD

million
Euro

million
Other

million

31 March 2010

Trade receivables 49 1 – 

Trade payables (112) (4) (13)

Gross balance sheet exposure (63) (3) (13)

Estimated forecast sales 85 – – 

Estimated forecast purchases (72) (2) –

Gross exposure (50) (5) (13)

Forward exchange contracts 58 14 13

Net exposure 8 9 – 

USD
million

Euro
million

31 March 2009

Trade receivables 80 1

Trade payables (69) (1)

Gross balance sheet exposure 11 – 

Estimated forecast sales 47 – 

Estimated forecast purchases (9) (5)

Gross exposure 49 (5)

Forward exchange contracts (38) (1)

Net exposure 11 (6)
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2010
millions

2009
millions

29 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT continued

Imports for the period ending 31 March

USD 1 281 2 934

Euro 31 175

Other 27 25

Exports for the period ending 31 March

USD 456 2 770

Euro 3 136

Other 3 – 

Sensitivity analysis

At the reporting date, if the rand had strengthened by 10% (2009: 30%) with all other variables held constant, post-tax profit for 
the year would have been R68 million (2009: R6 million) higher, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains on translation of 
foreign denominated borrowings and trade payables compensated by foreign exchange losses on translation of foreign 
denominated cash and cash equivalents. 

A 10% weakening of the rand at 31 March would have had the equal but opposite effect on the basis that all other variables 
remain constant.

Exposure to interest rate risk

The Group has entered into forward rate and swap agreements that entitle the Group to receive interest at floating rates on 
notional principal amounts and oblige the Group to pay interest at fixed rates on the same amounts. The interest rate swap 
agreements allow the Group to raise long-term and short-term borrowings at floating rates and swap them into fixed rates that are 
lower than those available if they borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under the interest rate swaps, the Group agrees with other 
parties to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between the fixed rate and the floating rate interest amounts calculated 
by reference to the agreed notional principal amounts. The remaining terms and notional principal amounts of the outstanding 
forward rate and swap agreements at 31 March were:

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Less than 1 year – 100 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years – – 

Sensitivity analysis

An increase of 100 basis points (2009: 250 basis points) in the interest rates at the reporting date would have decreased profit or loss 
by R3 million (2009: R4 million). This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant.

A decrease of 100 basis points in the interest rates at the reporting date would have had the equal opposite effect.

Net fair values

The net fair values of the Group’s derivative financial instruments at the balance sheet date were:

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Unfavourable interest rate swap contracts – (1)

Unfavourable foreign exchange contracts (56) (217)
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into transactions and has balances with a number of related parties, including joint ventures, directors and 
entities under common control. Transactions that are eliminated on consolidation are not included.

The transactions with related parties are effected at arm’s length.

The transactions and balances with related parties are summarised below:

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Sales of goods

NWK/Omnia Kunsmis Agency Agreement – joint venture 4 63

Principal joint venture and subsidiary undertakings

Details of joint ventures and subsidiaries are set out on page 121.

Analysis of shareholders

Shareholders’ spread has been presented on page 127.

Key management compensation

Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 68 41

Post-employment benefits 2 1

Share-based payments 22 7

Paid by subsidiaries 92 49

Share options outstanding (‘000) 129 151

Shares allocated to key management during the year (‘000) – 35

Directors’ shareholding

Directors’ shareholding in the company has been disclosed in the directors’ report.

Directors’ emoluments

Executive directors

Salaries 6 7

Fringe benefits 1 1

Pension and provident fund contributions 1 – 

Performance bonuses 4 8

Gain on third partnership shares 14 – 

26 16

Non-executive directors

Directors’ fees 4 2

Other fees – 1

4 3

Total 30 19

Paid by subsidiaries (30) (19)

– – 
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Name
Fees 

R

Salary/
remune-

ration
R

Bonus 
R

Retire-
ment

funding
R

Medical
aid

R

Car
allow-
ances

R

Share
gains

R
Other

R

Total
(paid by

subsidiary)
R

2010

Executive

DL Eggers – 1 680 007 580 000 142 200 26 319 170 503 3 030 000 9 390† 5 638 419

RB Humphris – 2 182 100 2 820 000 183 600 30 809 164 608 9 090 000 15 416† 14 486 533

NKH Fitz-Gibbon – 1 638 876 800 000 147 499 26 357 130 279 1 823 376 16 666† 4 583 053

RR Masebelanga# – 541 505 – 50 375 – 52 979 – 644 859

Non-executive

FD Butler 418 200 – – – – – – 418 200

NJ Crosse 2 000 004* – – – – – – 2 000 004

Prof SS Loubser 239 500 – – – – – – 239 500

JG Pretorius‡ 115 000 – – – – – – 115 000

Dr WT Marais 239 500 – – – – – – 239 500

DC Radley 346 400 – – – – – – 346 400

TR Scott 256 000 – – – – – – 256 000

R Havenstein 202 000 – – – – – – 202 000

HH Hickey 282 400 – – – – – – 282 400

Total 4 099 004 6 042 488 4 200 000 523 674 83 485 518 369 13 943 376 41 472 29 451 868

* Fees for services as non-executive chairman.
† Share Incentive Scheme loan interest and membership fees of professional bodies.
# Resigned on 19 February 2010.
‡ Retired on 23 October 2009.

Name
Fees 

R

Salary/
remune-

ration
R

Bonus 
R

Retire-
ment

funding
R

Medical
aid

R

Car
allow-
ances

R

Share
gains

R
Other

R

Total
(paid by

subsidiary)
R

2009

Executive

DL Eggers – 2 297 994 600 000 131 669 23 504 187 347 – 7 497† 3 248 011

RB Humphris – 2 128 736 5 650 000 165 866 28 108 198 357 – 78 094† 8 249 161

NKH Fitz-Gibbon – 1 498 872 1 600 000 134 898 23 531 125 652 – – 3 382 953

RR Masebelanga – 715 000 500 000 64 350 – 73 356 – – 1 352 706

Non-executive

FD Butler 322 250 – – – – – – – 322 250

NJ Crosse 1 465 500* – – – – – – – 1 465 500

Prof SS Loubser 184 000 – – – – – – – 184 000

JG Pretorius 144 000 – – – – – – – 144 000

Dr WT Marais 174 000 – – – – – – – 174 000

DC Radley 294 000 – – – – – – – 294 000

TR Scott 181 500 – – – – – – – 181 500

R Havenstein 100 000 – – – – – – – 100 000

HH Hickey 189 000 – – – – – – – 189 000

Total 3 054 250 6 640 602 8 350 000 496 783 75 143 584 712 – 85 591 19 287 081

† Share Incentive Scheme loan interest and membership fees of professional bodies.
* Fees for services as non-executive chairman.
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30 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS continued

Participation by executive directors in share schemes as at 31 March 2010

RB Humphris

1.  Executive scheme (Nanotron)
  16 700 convertible redeemable cumulative preference shares purchased in Nanotron Investments (Pty) Limited at an issue 

price of R100 per share may be converted into ordinary shares in Omnia Holdings Limited any time after 30 June 2014.

2. Share Incentive Scheme (the Incentive Scheme) 
 Ordinary shares purchased under the Incentive Scheme with interest-free loans being repaid by dividends

 Number of shares (vested) 85 315

 Date of allocation Feb-02

 Price per share R8,50

 Date loan taken 02-Jul-07

 Loan balance at 31 March 2010 R169 720

NHK Fitz-Gibbon 

1. Executive scheme (Nanotron)
 7 594 convertible redeemable cumulative preference shares purchased in Nanotron Investments (Pty) Limited at an issue price 

of R100 per share may be converted into ordinary shares in Omnia Holdings Limited any time after 30 June 2014.

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

31 JOINT VENTURES

The financial statements of the joint ventures, which comprise:

– 50% of the NWK/Omnia Kunsmis Agency Agreement

– 50% interest in Acol Chemicals (Private) Limited have been incorporated for the full 
financial year ended 31 March 2010.

The Group’s proportional share of assets and liabilities, which are included in the 
consolidated financial statements, are as follows:

Current assets 15 10

Less: Current liabilities (7) – 

Net assets 8 10

The Group’s proportional share of revenue and expenses are as follows:

Revenue 36 63

Less: Expenses (41) (55)

Share of (loss)/profit before taxation (5) 8

The Group’s proportional share of cash flows are as follows:

Operating cash flows (5) 8

Total cash flows (5) 8

There are no contingent liabilities and commitments relating to the Group’s interest in the joint ventures. Details of the Group’s 
interest in joint ventures are given on page 121.

32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION

All employees in RSA are members of either a pension fund or a provident fund. All new employees in RSA must join the 
provident fund. The pension and provident funds are managed outside of the Group. 

Omnia Pension Fund

The assets of the Omnia Pension Fund are held in an independent trustee administered fund, administered in terms of the 
Pension Funds Act of 1956, as amended. Both active members and pensioners elected to have their benefit under the fund 
transferred and at the date of this report, all transfers have been effected. The fund will be wound up.
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2010
Rm

2009
Rm

32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION continued

Actuarial valuation in terms of IAS 19 – Employee Benefits

The principal actuarial assumptions used are:

Discount rate 9,0% 9,0%

Inflation rate 5,3% 5,8%

Expected return on assets 6,0% 6,0%

Future pension increase 3,5% 3,8%

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:

Present value of funded obligation 3 205

Fair value of fund assets (3) (205)

– – 

Unrecognised gains – – 

Unrecognised asset at balance sheet date – – 

Asset recognised in the balance sheet at year end – – 

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

Beginning of year 205 194

Service cost – 4

Member contributions – 2

Interest cost 12 18

Actuarial gain – (23)

Benefits paid (4) (7)

Liability settled (211) (49)

Liability curtailed 1 22

Past service cost – 45

Risk premiums – (1)

End of year 3 205

The movement in the fair value of plan assets of the year is as follows:

Beginning of year 205 258

Expected return on assets 8 24

Contributions – – 

– member – 2

– company – 2

Risk premiums – (1)

Benefits paid (4) (7)

Settlement (211) (49)

Actuarial gain 5 (24)

End of year 3 205

Movement in the liability recognised in the balance sheet

Other expenses included in staff costs (refer note 18) 4 5

Current service cost

Interest cost 12 18

Expected return on assets (8) (12)

Movement in surplus not recognised (1)

Contributions paid (4) (5)

Liability at end of the year – – 
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32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT INFORMATION continued

The actual return on plan assets was R12 million (2009: R2 million)

2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

As at 31 March Rm Rm Rm Rm Rm

Present value of defined benefit 
obligation 3 205 194 173 152

Fair value of plan assets (3) (205) (258) (240) (183)

Surplus – – (64) (67) (31)

Experience adjustment on plan assets 4 (22) 11 43 24

Experience adjustment on plan liabilities – 4 (7) (11) (4)

Estimated asset composition as at 31 March 2010 2009

Cash 99,55% 99,53%

Equity – – 

Bonds 0,45% 0,47%

Property and other – – 

International – – 

Total 100,00% 100,00%

 Expected return on assets

 The Fund is invested in the old Mutual Absolute Stable Growth Fund which offers an 80% guarantee level on capital and a growth 
objective of CPI +5,5%.

 In setting these assumptions the actuaries made use of the asset split as at 31 March 2010. The expected long-term rate of return 
on bonds was set at the same level as the discount rate. This implies a yield on government bonds of 9,00% per annum. The 
expected long-term rate of return on equities was set at a level of 3% above the bond rate, whilst the expected long-term rate of 
return on cash was set at a level of 2% below the bond rate. 

 Adjustments were made to reflect the effect of expenses.

 The expected contributions, premiums and benefit payments for the period 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2010 are nil. 

 Omnia provident fund

 The provident fund is also registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 1956 as amended and is a defined contribution plan with 
374 members at 31 March 2010 (2009: 361). The assets of the provident fund are invested in a guaranteed and market-related 
portfolio and their fair value at 30 June 2010, the fund’s year end, was R68 million (2009: R61 million).

 Protea Chemicals pension fund

 The pension fund is run under an Umbrella Fund arrangement which is registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 1965 
amended and is a defined contribution plan with 1 529 members at 31 March 2010 (2009: 1 287). The assets of the pension 
fund are invested in market-related portfolios and their fair value at 31 March 2010, the fund’s year end, was R302 million 
(2009: R54 million).

 Protea Chemicals provident fund

 The provident fund is also run under an Umbrella Fund arrangement registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 1956 amended 
and is a defined contribution plan with 1 529 members at 31 March 2010 (2009: 1 287). The assets of the pension fund are invested 
in market-related portfolios and their fair value at 31 March 2010, the fund’s year end, was R198 million (2009: R152 million).

 Protea Chemicals Union provident fund

 The provident fund is also registered in terms of the Pension Funds Act, 1956 amended and is a defined contribution plan with 
142 members (2009: 154). The assets of the provident fund are invested in a guaranteed and market-related portfolio and their fair 
value at 28 February 2010, the fund’s year end, was R15 million (2009: R12 million).
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33 CONTINGENCIES

 The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims arising in the ordinary course of business.

 It is not anticipated that any material liabilities will arise from the contingent liabilities other than those provided for.

34 EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE

 In May 2010, the Group announced a R1,4 billion capital investment in the construction of a world-class nitric acid complex in South 
Africa to meet growing demand in explosives and fertilizer markets. 

 This is a milestone investment for the Group and in the development of South African capacity to produce nitric acid and 
ammonium nitrate by bringing world-class technology to local shores. It is one of the Group’s biggest investments to date in South 
Africa and demonstrates the Group’s commitment to South Africa’s agriculture and mining sectors, as well as its conviction about 
the strength of the growth opportunities in these businesses. While the investment will create a critical growth path, it is also a 
major step in ensuring security and continuity of uninterrupted supply for the Group’s explosives and fertilizer businesses.

 Funding of the new nitric acid complex will be through a R1 billion fully subscribed claw back and rights offer, which is a clear vote 
of confidence by the Group’s shareholders. The remaining funding will be covered through a combination of internally generated 
funds and project finance. This structure leaves the Group with a strong balance sheet to finance suitable growth opportunities as 
they arise whilst also safeguarding against further volatility in world financial markets, thereby significantly reducing the financial 
risk associated with embarking on a project of this nature.

35 SEGMENT INFORMATION

 Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Board of directors (the Group’s chief 
operating decision-maker) that are used to make strategic decisions.

 Chemicals: through subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates based in South Africa, Tanzania, Kenya, Zambia, Zimbabwe, 
Mozambique and Angola which mainly generate revenue from local customers.

 Mining: through subsidiaries and operations based in South Africa, Mauritius, Zambia, Tanzania, Mali, Botswana, France, Mauritania, 
Angola, Senegal and Namibia, which mainly generate revenue from local customers

 Agriculture: through subsidiaries, operations and joint ventures based in South Africa, Mauritius, Malawi, Mozambique, Swaziland, 
Zimbabwe, Zambia, Australia and New Zealand which mainly generate revenue from local customers.

 The accounting policies applied by the reportable segments are consistent with the accounting policies adopted in the consolidated 
financial statements as disclosed in note 1.

Chemicals
Rm

Mining
Rm

Agriculture
Rm

Total
Rm

Year ended 31 March 2010

Revenue – external 3 340 1 776 3 711 8 827 

Total revenue 3 384 1 776 4 159 9 319 

Intersegmental (44) – (448) (492)

Operating profit 152 212 (85) 279 

Segment assets 1 896 828 2 463 5 187 

Net working capital 264 261 (11) 514 

Inventories 428 240 647 1 315 

Trade and other receivables 695 256 414 1 365 

Trade and other payables (859) (235) (1 072) (2 166)

Year ended 31 March 2009

Revenue – external 4 528 2 111 4 472 11 111 

Total revenue 4 554 2 111 5 287 11 952 

Intersegmental (26) – (815) (841)

Operating profit 198 269 410 877 

Segment assets 1 849 927 2 981 5 757 

Net working capital 483 438 621 1 542 

Inventories 583 307 1 501 2 391 

Trade and other receivables 701 349 471 1 521 

Trade and other payables (801) (218) (1 351) (2 370)
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35 SEGMENT INFORMATION continued

Geographical segments

Gross revenue

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

South Africa 5 752 7 876 

Rest of Africa 3 320 3 868 

Other 247 208 

9 319 11 952 

Total assets

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

South Africa 3 870 4 165 

Rest of Africa 1 247 1 474 

Other 70 118 

5 187 5 757 

The segment transfers or transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms and conditions that would also be available 
to unrelated third parties.

36 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME

Number of shares

2010 2009

The position regarding the Share Incentive Scheme at 31 March, was as follows:

Maximum number of ordinary shares available (‘000’s) 5 815 5 815 

Shares purchased by employees (‘000’s) (509) (542)

Options granted to employees (‘000’s) (563) (758)

Available (‘000’s) 4 743 4 515 

Share options are granted by the Omnia Share Incentive Scheme (the plan), at the discretion of the remuneration committee, to 
employees of the Group. The option offer is made at the price ruling on the JSE Limited on the day prior to the date of award. 
Share options remain open for acceptance for a ten-year period from the date of issue with the earliest possible delivery being 
20% of the issued amount after two years of the date of issue. Thereafter delivery may be taken cumulatively at a rate of 20% 
per annum for the next two years with the remaining 40% being capable of delivery on the fifth anniversary. Resignation prior to 
entitlement on this percentage basis terminates an employee’s rights to take delivery. The plan is classified as equity-settled.

Movements in terms of the Share Incentive Scheme are as follows:

31 March 2010 31 March 2009 

Shares

Weighted
 average 
exercise 
price (R) Shares

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (R)

Outstanding at 1 April 711 701 48,03 782 175 36,18 

Granted – – 121 500 78,50 

Capitalisation award 17 071 – – – 

Exercised (68 820) 16,30 (107 301) 14,67 

Forfeited (99 629) 53,85 (84 673) 24,60 

Outstanding at 31 March 560 323 49,42 711 701 48,03 

Available to be implemented 
at 31 March 2010 and 2009 260 007 216 081 
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36 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME continued

Key assumptions for options granted during the year are set out below:

2009 2007 2005

Weighted average fair value at measurement date 28,79 16,24 6,48

The weighted average fair value for share options granted has been calculated using the Black Scholes option pricing model, using 
the following inputs and assumptions:

2009 2007 2005

Weighted average share price (R) 79 60 26

Weighted average exercise price (R) 79 60 26

Weighted average expected volatility (%)* 31,55 32,19 33,39

Weighted average option life (years) 10 10 10

Weighted average dividend yield (%) 3,69 3,03 5,25

Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%) 9,74 7,55 11,00

Weighted average vesting period (years) 3,00 3,00 3,00

* The expected weighted average volatility is determined using historical daily share prices.

Share option allocations outstanding and currently available to be implemented at 31 March 2010 by exercise price:

Options outstanding

Exercise price 
(R)

Number 
outstanding 

at 
31 March

 2010

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

life (years)

Exercisable 
at 

31 March 
2010

4,00 18 200 0,90 18 200 

7,50 8 000 – 8 000 

7,60 10 819 4,00 10 819 

9,50 44 300 1,87 44 300 

11,00 4 604 – 4 604 

18,50 60 890 2,63 60 890 

60,00 272 300 6,94 107 960 

78,50 121 500 8,16 – 

Capitalisation shares in respect of the above 19 710 5,85 12 445 

560 323 267 218 
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36 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME continued

Third Partnership with Management Scheme

Details of this Scheme, which was approved by shareholders on 30 September 2004, were contained in the circular addressed to 
shareholders on 8 September 2004. In terms of the Scheme, certain earning targets were reached during the period 2004 to 2009 
and management became entitled to a maximum of 1 815 000 ordinary shares in Omnia Holdings Limited which was issued from 
unissued share capital. The Scheme was classified as equity-settled.

Movements in terms of the Third Partnership with Management Scheme are as follows:

31 March 2010 31 March 2009 

Shares

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (R) Shares

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (R)

Outstanding at 1 April 1 633 143 27,79 1 550 900 27,79 

Allocated – – 148 468 27,79 

Exercised (1 633 143) 27,79 – – 

Forfeited – – (66 225) 27,79 

Outstanding at 31 March – – 1 633 143 27,79 

2005

Weighted average fair value at measurement date 27,79

The weighted average fair value for share options granted has been calculated using the Black Scholes option pricing model, using 
the following inputs and assumptions:

2005

Weighted average share price (R) 34

Weighted average exercise price (R) 1

Weighted average expected volatility (%)* 33,39

Weighted average option life (years) 5

Weighted average dividend yield (%) 4,00

Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%) 8,38

Weighted average vesting period (years) 5,00

* The expected weighted average volatility is determined using historical daily share prices.

Share Appreciation Rights Scheme

Share appreciation rights (SAR) are granted by the Group, at the discretion of the remuneration committee, to employees of 
the Group.

The SAR is granted at the price ruling on the JSE Limited on the day prior to the award. SARs remain open for acceptance for a 
ten-year period from the date of granting with the earliest possible delivery being 20% of the grant amount after two years of the 
date of grant. Thereafter delivery may be taken cumulatively at a rate of 20% per annum for the next two years with the remaining 
40% being capable of delivery on the fifth anniversary. Resignation prior to entitlement on this percentage basis terminates an 
employee’s rights to take delivery. The plan is classified as cash-settled.
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36 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME continued

Movements in terms of the SAR plans are as follows:

31 March 2010 31 March 2009 

Shares

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (R) Shares

Weighted 
average 
exercise 
price (R)

Outstanding at 1 April 251 500 63,62 235 500 61,84 

Granted – – 47 500 70,00 

Forfeited (15 000) 60,00 (31 500) 60,00 

Outstanding at 31 March 236 500 63,85 251 500 63,62 

2009 2008 2007

Weighted average fair value at measurement date 22,11 27,53 26,43

The weighted average fair value for share appreciation rights granted has been calculated using the Black Scholes option pricing 
model, using the following inputs and assumptions:

2009 2008 2007

Weighted average share price (R) 52 71 66

Weighted average exercise price (R) 70 66 60

Weighted average expected volatility (%)* 31,55 32,19 32,19

Weighted average option life (years) 10 10 10

Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%) 7,55 7,55 7,55

Weighted average vesting period (years) 3 3 3

* The expected weighted average volatility is determined using historical daily share prices.

Sakhile Share Initiative

The Sakhile Share Initiative allows the permanent employees of the Group in South Africa to become part owners in the company 
and share in its future growth and development. Employees will receive the benefits of share ownership as a result of the Group 
facilitating a loan, enabling each employee to acquire shares.

The Sakhile Share Initiative has a fixed term of 12 years. The plan is classified as equity-settled.

2008

Weighted average fair value at measurement date 34.64

The weighted average fair value for share options granted has been calculated using the Black Scholes option 
pricing model, using the following inputs and assumptions:

Weighted average share price (R) 62

Weighted average exercise price (R) 117,51

Weighted average expected volatility (%)* 28

Weighted average option life (years) 12,00

Weighted average dividend yield (%) 3,50

Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%) 7,7

Weighted average vesting period (years) 12

* The expected weighted average volatility is determined using historical daily share prices.

 



120 OMNIA ANNUAL REPORT 2010 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued

for the year ended 31 March 2010

36 SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME continued

Sakhile 2 Share Initiative

The Sakhile 2 Share Initiative allows the talented black employees/executives of the Group to become part owners in the company 
and share in its future growth and development. Employees will receive the benefits of share ownership as a result of the Group 
facilitating a loan, enabling such employees to acquire shares.

The Sakhile 2 Share Initiative has a fixed term of 7 years. The plan is classified as equity-settled.

The weighted average fair value for awards granted has been calculated using the Monte Carlo option pricing model, using the 
following inputs and assumptions:

Weighted average share price (R) 56,21

Weighted average expected volatility (%)* 30,70

Weighted average option life (years) 7

Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%) 8,82

Weighted average vesting period (years) 7

* The expected weighted average volatility is determined using historical daily share prices.

Executive Scheme (Nanotron)

Nanotron allows the senior executives of the Group to become part owners in the company and share in its future growth and 
development. The executives purchased N preference shares in Nanotron Investments (Pty) Limited. The N preference shares 
shall be redeemable at the instance of Nanotron at any time after 30 June 2014, such redemption shall be subject thereto that 
Nanotron shall have sufficient reserves available. Redemption shall take place by delivering and transferring to the existing 
employee as many Omnia shares as may be purchased at a price equal to the 30-day Omnia Share VWAP on the first business day 
immediately preceding the redemption date. In addition, participating executives will receive the benefits of share ownership as a 
result of the Group facilitating a loan enabling each participating executive to acquire shares dependent on the achievement of 
specified real growth in the aggregate Group earnings during the 5 year scheme period ending 31 March 2014. The plan is 
classified as equity-settled.

The weighted average fair value for awards granted has been calculated using the Monte Carlo option pricing model, using the 
following inputs and assumptions:

Weighted average share price (R) 56,21

Weighted average expected volatility (%)* 30,70

Weighted average option life (years) 5

Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%) 8,46

Weighted average vesting period (years) 5

* The expected weighted average volatility is determined using historical daily share prices.

 NOTES TO THE GROUP FINANCIAL STATEMENTS continued
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Issued capital
R’000

Effective holding
Country of 

incorporation
2010

%
2009

%

All holdings are indirect except where indicated otherwise.

Subsidiaries

Trading, finance and investment

Omnia Group Investments Limited (direct) South Africa 5 732 100 100

Omnia Group (Pty) Limited South Africa 1 100 100

Omnia Group International Limited Mauritius 4 100 100

Fertilizer

Omnia Fertilizer Limited South Africa 11 418 100 100

Omnia Fertilizer Zambia Limited Zambia – 100 100

Omnia Fertilizer Zimbabwe (Pvt) Limited Zimbabwe  12 100 100

Omnia Small Scale Limited Zambia – 100 100

Omnia Specialities NZ Limited New Zealand – 100 100

Omnia Specialities (Australia) (Pty) Limited Australia 3 115 100 100

Omnia International (Australia) (Pty) Limited Australia 3 115 100 100

Omnia Fertilizer Limited Malawi – 100 100

Omnia Primaxa Limited New Zealand – 75 75

Omnia do Brasil Representações Comerciais Limitada Brazil – 100 100

Omnia Projects (Pty) Ltd South Africa 100 100

Mining Explosives

Bulk Mining Explosives (Pty) Limited South Africa – 100 100

Bulk Mining Explosives Mali Sarl Mali  1 100 100

Bulk Mining Explosives Tanzania (Pty) Limited Tanzania  90 100 100

Bulk Mining Explosives Namibia (Pty) Limited Namibia  2 100 100

Bulk Mining Explosives Botswana (Pty) Limited Botswana – 100 100

Bulk Mining Explosives Zambia Limited Zambia – 100 100

Bulk Mining Explosives Mauritania Sarl Mauritania – 100 100

Bulk Mining Explosives Senegal Sarl Senegal – 100 100

Bulk Mining Explosives Mauritania Akjoujt Sarl Mauritania – 100  –   

Bulk Mining Explosives Tabakoto Mali – 100  –   

Chemicals

Protea Chemicals (Pty) Limited South Africa – 100 100

Zetachem (Pty) Limited South Africa  424 100 100

EcoGypsum (Pty) Limited South Africa – 100 100

Protea Polymers East Africa Limited Mauritius – 60  –   

Acol Chemical Holdings (Pvt) Limited Zimbabwe 2 50 50

Other

Various dormant and property owning companies 3 941 100 100

Joint ventures

NWK/Omnia Kunsmis Agency Agreement South Africa – 50 50

Associates

ETC Bio-Energy Limited Zambia – 10 10

Nalco Africa (Pty) Limited South Africa – 49.9 – 

 at 31 March 2010

 SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES Annexure



COMPANY BALANCE SHEET
at 31 March 2010

Notes
2010

Rm
2009

Rm

ASSETS

Non-current assets

Investments in subsidiaries 2 257 206

Current assets 140 147

Trade and other receivables 1 1

Cash and cash equivalents – 7

Loans to subsidiaries 3 139 139

Total assets 397 353

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity

Stated capital 318 201

Treasury shares (8) (11)

Share-based payment reserve 4 81 77

Retained earnings (22) 22

Total equity 369 289

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 3 3

Taxation – 1

Loans from subsidiaries 3 25 60

Total liabilities 28 64

Total equity and liabilities 397 353

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these company annual financial statements.
The Omnia Share Incentive Scheme is consolidated as part of the Omnia Holdings Limited annual financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

for the year ended 31 March 2010

COMPANY INCOME STATEMENT

COMPANY STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Dividends received 66 105

Profit before tax 66 105

Income tax expense – – 

Profit for the year 66 105

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the company 66 105

66 105

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these company annual financial statements.

2010
Rm

2009
Rm

Profit for the year 66 105

Other comprehensive income, net of tax

Cash flow hedges – – 

Currency difference – – 

Total comprehensive income for the year 66 105

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the company 66 105

Total comprehensive income for the year 66 105

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these company annual financial statements.
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
for the year ended 31 March 2010

 Stated
 capital

 Rm

Treasury 
shares

Rm

Other
reserves

Rm

Retained
earnings

Rm
Total

Rm

At 31 March 2008 201 (13) 45 13 246

Total recognised income and expense for the year – – – 105 105

Net profit for the year ended 31 March 2009 – – – 105 105

Ordinary dividends paid – – – (96) (96)

Treasury shares sold – 2 – – 2

Share-based payment – value of services provided – – 32 – 32

At 31 March 2009 201 (11) 77 22 289

Total recognised income and expense for the year – – – 66 66

Net profit for the year ended 31 March 2010 – – – 66 66

Ordinary dividends paid and capitalisation 
shares issued 26 – – (66) (40)

Treasury shares sold – 3 – – 3

Share-based payment – value of services provided – – 49 – 49

Share-based payment – ordinary shares issued 91 – (45) (44) 2

At 31 March 2010 318 (8) 81 (22) 369

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these company annual financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

COMPANY CASH FLOW STATEMENT

Notes
2010

Rm
2009

Rm

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Cash generated from operations 5 117 132

Taxation paid (1) – 

Cash available from operating activities 116 132

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Loans advanced to subsidiaries (86) (31)

Net cash outflow from investing activities (86) (31)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 3 2

Dividends paid (40) (96)

Net cash outflow from financing activities (37) (94)

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (7) 7

Net cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 7 –

Net cash and cash equivalents at end of year – 7

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these company annual financial statements.
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

1 PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The annual financial statements of the company are presented in accordance with and comply with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued and effective at the time of preparing the financial statements. The accounting policies of the company are 
the same as those of the Group, where applicable (refer note 1 of the consolidated financial statements).

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost.

2010 
Rm

2009 
Rm

2 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Shares at cost in unlisted subsidiaries 257 206

Investments increased mainly due to the movement in the share-based payment 
contribution of subsidiaries of R49 million.

The company’s interest in the aggregate profits and losses incurred after taxation by 
subsidiaries for the year under review amounted to:

Profits 271 592

Losses (213) (101)

58 491

Details of the company’s investment in subsidiaries are given on page 121.

3 LOANS TO/(FROM) SUBSIDIARIES

Loans to/(from) Group companies comprise of:

Omnia Group Investments Limited 116 90

Omnia Group (Pty) Limited 15 41

Sakhile Initiative Limited 8 8

139 139

Omnia Group Investments Limited (25) (60)

These loans are unsecured, interest-free with no fixed repayment terms.

4 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT RESERVE

At 1 April 77 45

Share-based payment expense 41 32

Contribution by participants 8 – 

Ordinary shares issued in respect of Third Partnership Scheme (45) – 

At 31 March 81 77

5 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

Operating profit 66 105

Adjustments for:

Investment in subsidiaries 2 – 

Increase in trade and other payables – (5)

Share-based payment 49 32

117 132

6 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Utilisation of banking facilities secured by letters of suretyship from the company. 
No losses are expected from these arrangements. 55 373

7 For details regarding share capital, related parties and director emoluments refer to notes 8 and 30 of the consolidated financial statements.
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 No of shareholders in RSA Overseas Total shareholders

Category

No of
share-

holders
No of

shares %

No of
share-

holders
No of

shares %

No of
share-

holders
No of

shares %

Public 1 968 35 940 521 76,07 85 3 197 012 6,77 2 053 39 137 533 82,84

Non-public  1 5 457 776 11,55 – – – 1 5 457 776 11,55

Directors 6 1 895 678 4,01 – – – 6 1 895 678 4,01

Share Incentive 
Scheme 1 758 838 1,60 – – – 1 758 838 1,60

Total 1 976 44 052 813 93,23 85 3 197 012 6,77 2 061 47 249 825 100,00

 at 31 March 2010

 SUMMARY OF SHAREHOLDER SPREAD
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MR JJ DIQUE

Mr JJ Dique (55) is a CA(SA) by training and is experienced 
across a broad spectrum of business within diversified 
organisations of which the past 17 years were at CEO level. 
He has extensive experience in agri industry matters and has 
served on various industry bodies. He is the immediate past 
CEO of Senwes Limited, a position that he held for 9 years. 
Prior to 2001, he served as the CEO for Suidwes Investments 
Limited, Tiger Milling, Premier Milling and Epol.

MR S MNCWANGO

Mr S Mncwango (44) holds a MSc (Civil Engineering) from 
Northwestern University, Chicago,USA. He later went on to gain 
his MBA from the University of Cape Town in 1997. He has 
extensive experience in the chemicals industry, with particular 
experience in the petroleum business, where he has worked for 
BP Africa, Exel Petroleum and Masana Petroleum Solutions.
He has served on numerous boards over the past 11 years and 
is currently the chairman of Proactive Health Solutions (Pty) Ltd.

 Financial year end 31 March 2010

Annual general meeting 30 September 2010

Group Results 09 June 2010

Annual Report Posted August 2010

Interim Report Published November 2010

Dividend paid N/A

TR SCOTT

Mr Scott (73) has had a 50 year career in the chemical industry. 
His formative years were spent with ICI which he left in 1970 
in order to start Montan Chemicals. He sold this business to 
the Protea Holdings Group in 1977 and in 1980 was appointed 
managing director of the flagship chemical company Protea 
Industrial Chemicals, in addition to his Montan responsibilities.

He was intimately involved in the negotiations which saw the 
Omnia Group acquire Protea Chemicals on 1 September 2003.

DR WT MARAIS

Dr Marais (54) was an alternate director to the late 
Mr WT Marais a founder of Omnia, from 1990 until 15 February 
2007 whereupon he was appointed a non-executive director. He 
holds a doctorate in business administration from the University 
of Pretoria. He is a businessman involved in real estate. He 
currently serves on five industry-related boards and is the 
immediate past president of the Institute of Estate Agents 
of SA, and is current exco member of the International 
Consortium of Real Estate Associations.

 SHAREHOLDERS’ DIARY

 ABBREVIATED CVs
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for the year ended 31 March 2010

 Abbreviated curriculum vitae in respect of each director 
offering himself for re-election or confirmation are contained 
on page 128 of the annual report of which this notice forms 
part (3.84 (e)).

7. Ordinary resolution number 7: Confirmation of the non-
executive directors’ remuneration with effect from 
1 October 2010 until 30 September 2011, and will be paid 
quaterly in arrears. The fees therefore remained unchanged 
for a period of 18 months.

 Activity
Current

fee
Proposed

fee
%

Change

Main board per meeting 
attended R23 000 R24 500 6,5

Audit committee per 
meeting attended R18 000 R19 000 5,6

Main board related 
consulting services per hr R1 800 R1 900 5,6

Subsidiary board and risk 
committee per meeting 
attended R15 000 R16 000 6,7

Subsidiary board related 
consulting services per hr R1 500 R1 600 6,7

Remuneration committee 
per meeting attended R12 500 R13 500 8,0

Audit committee 
chairperson R34 000 R35 000 2,9

8. Ordinary resolution number 8: The renewal of the authority 
that all the unissued shares be placed under the control of 
the directors

 “Resolved that subject to the provisions of the Companies 
Act 61, 1973, as amended, (the Act) and the Listings 
Requirements of the JSE Limited the entire authorised, but 
unissued share capital of the company from time to time, be 
and is hereby placed under the disposal and under the 
control of the directors of the company and the directors are 
hereby authorised to allot, issue and otherwise dispose 
thereof to such person or persons and on such terms and 
conditions at their discretion as a general authority in terms 
of Section 221 and 222 of the Act until the next annual 
general meeting, and subject to the aggregate number of 
such shares able to be allotted, issued and otherwise 
disposed of in terms of this resolution being limited to a 
maximum of 5% (five percent) of the number of issued 
share capital and further subject to the provisions of the Act 
and JSE Limited Listings Requirements.”

 Notice is hereby given that the 43rd annual general meeting of 
Omnia Holdings Limited will be held on Thursday, 30 September 
2010 at 10h00 in the 2nd Floor Training Room, Omnia House, 
13 Sloane Street, Epsom Downs, Bryanston, South Africa for the 
following purposes:

To consider and, if deemed fit, to pass with or without 
modification the following ordinary resolutions:

1. Ordinary resolution number 1: The adoption of the annual 
financial statements

 To receive and adopt the annual financial statements for the 
year ended 31 March 2010, together with the reports of the 
directors and auditors.

2. Ordinary resolution number 2: Re-appointment of auditors

 To approve the continuation in office of the current auditors, 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as independent auditors for 
the forthcoming year and to confirm their remuneration for 
the past year’s audit.

3. Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-election of director: 
Dr WT Marais

 To re-elect Dr WT Marais who retires by rotation in terms of 
the company’s Articles of Association.

4. Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-election of director: 
Mr TR Scott

 To re-elect Mr TR Scott who retires by rotation in terms of 
the company’s Articles of Association.

 All retiring directors are eligible and offer themselves for 
re-election as directors of Omnia Holdings Limited in 
accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association 
of Omnia Holdings Limited.

5. Ordinary resolution number 5: Confirmation of appointment 
of new director

 To confirm the appointment of Mr JJ Dique as a director of 
Omnia Holdings Limited in accordance with the Articles of 
Association of the company.

6.  Ordinary resolution number 6: Confirmation of appointment 
of new director

  To confirm the appointment of Mr S Mncwango as a director 
of Omnia Holdings Limited in accordance with the Articles of 
Association of the company.

 NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS



company secretary at the registered office, by no later than 
10h00 on Tuesday, 28 September 2010. Registered certificated 
shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with own-name 
registration who complete and lodge forms of proxy will 
nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote in person at the 
annual general meeting to the exclusion of their appointed 
proxy/(ies) should such member wish to do so. Demate ria  lised 
shareholders, other than with own-name registrations, must 
inform their CSDP or broker of their intention to attend the 
annual general meeting and obtain the necessary authorisation 
from their CSDP or broker to attend the annual general meeting 
or provide their CSDP or broker with their voting instructions 
should they not be able to attend the annual general meeting in 
person but wish to be represented thereat. This must be done in 
terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholder 
and the CSDP or broker concerned.

Certificated shareholders whose shares are held through a 
nominee or broker, must inform their nominee or broker of their 
intention to attend the annual general meeting and obtain the 
necessary letter of representation from their nominee or broker 
or provide their nominee or broker with their voting instructions 
should they not be able to attend the annual general meeting in 
person.

By order of the Board

CD Appollis
Group company secretary

29 July 2010

9. Ordinary resolution number 9: Authorisation to sign 
documents giving effect to resolutions

 “Resolved that any one director or the secretary of the 
company be and they are hereby authorised to do all such 
things and sign all documents and take all such action as 
they consider necessary to implement the resolutions set 
out in the notice convening the annual general meeting at 
which these ordinary and special resolutions will be 
considered.”

 The Directors of Omnia Holdings Limited consider that the 
proposed resolutions in the Notice to Shareholders are in the 
best interest of Omnia Holdings Limited and its shareholders 
and recommend that you vote in favour as the directors of 
Omnia Holdings Limited intend to do in respect of their own 
beneficial holdings.

VOTING

A member entitled to attend and vote at the above mentioned 
meeting may appoint one or more proxies to attend, speak and 
to vote in his stead. A proxy need not be a member of the 
company. A proxy form is enclosed.

On a show of hands every shareholder present in person or by 
proxy and if a member is a body corporate, its representative, 
shall have one vote and on a poll every shareholder present in 
person or by proxy and if the person is a body corporate, its 
representative, shall have one vote for every share held or 
represented by him.

A form of proxy is attached for completion by registered 
certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with 
own-name registration who are unable to attend the annual 
general meeting in person, but wish to be represented thereat. 
Forms of proxy must be completed and received by the 

 NOTICE TO SHAREHOLDERS continued
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 FORM OF PROXY

 OMNIA HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Republic of South Africa)
(Registration number 1967/003680/06)
JSE Limited code: OMN
ISIN: ZAE000005153

 For use at the annual general meeting to be held at Bryanston on Thursday, 30 September 2010 at 10h00

(To be completed by certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders with own-name registration only)

If shareholders have dematerialised their shares with a CSDP or broker, they must arrange with the CSDP or broker concerned to 
provide them with the necessary authorisation to attend the annual general meeting or the shareholders concerned must instruct them 
as to how they wish to vote in this regard.

This must be done in terms of the agreement entered into between the shareholder and the CSDP or broker concerned.

I/We

(full name and surname in block letters)

of

(full address)

being the registered holder of shares in the company hereby appoint:

1. or

2. or

the chairman of the meeting as my/our proxy to attend, speak and to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general 
meeting of, Omnia Holdings Limited to be held on Thursday, 30 September 2010 at First Floor, Omnia House, 13 Sloane Street, 
Epsom Downs, Bryanston and at every adjournment of that meeting as follows:

Resolution For Against Abstain

Ordinary resolution number 1: The adoption of the annual financial 
statements for the year ended 31 March 2010

Ordinary resolution number 2: Confirmation of the appointment of 
the auditors for the ensuing year and approval of their remuneration

Ordinary resolution number 3: Re-election of director: 
Dr WT Marais as director of the company

Ordinary resolution number 4: Re-election of director: 
Mr TR Scott as director of the company

Ordinary resolution number 5: Confirmation of appointment 
of director: Mr JJ Dique as director of the company

Ordinary resolution number 6: Confirmation of appointment 
of director: Mr S Mncwango as director of the company

Ordinary resolution number 7: Approval of the non-executive 
directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2011

Ordinary resolution number 8: The renewal of the authority that 
all the unissued shares be placed under the control of the directors

Ordinary resolution number 9: Authorisation to sign documents 
giving effect to resolutions

(Mark whichever is applicable. If no direction is given, the proxy holder will be entitled to vote or to abstain from voting as that proxy 
holder deems fit.)

Dated this day of 2010

Signature
Capacity and authorisation (see note 7)
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 NOTES TO PROXY

 1. A member may insert the name of a proxy or the names of two alternate proxies of the member’s choice in the space(s) provided, 
with or without deleting ‘the chairman of the meeting’. The person whose name stands first on the form of proxy and who is 
present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names follow.

2. A member should insert an ‘X’ in the relevant space according to how he wishes his votes to be cast. However, if a member 
wishes to cast a vote in respect of a lesser number of ordinary shares than he owns in the company, he should insert the number 
of ordinary shares held in respect of which he wishes to vote. Failure to comply with the above will be deemed to authorise the 
proxy to vote or to abstain from voting at the meeting as he deems fit in respect of all the member’s votes exercisable at the 
meeting. A member is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by him, but the total of the votes cast and abstentions recorded 
may not exceed the total number of the votes exercisable by the member.

3. The completion and lodging of this form of proxy will not preclude the relevant member from attending the meeting and speaking 
and voting in person to the exclusion of any proxy appointed in terms hereof, should such member wish to so do.

4. The chairman of the meeting may reject or accept any form of proxy which is completed and/or received other than in compliance 
with these notes.

5. Shareholders who have dematerialised their shares with a CSDP or broker, other than own-name registrations, must arrange with 
the CSDP or broker concerned to provide them with the necessary authorisation to attend the meeting or the shareholders 
concerned must instruct their CSDP or broker as to how they wish to vote in this regard. This must be done in terms of the 
agreement entered into between the shareholder and the CSDP or broker concerned.

6. Any alteration to this form of proxy, other than the deletion of alternatives, must be signed, not initialled, by the signatory/(ies).

7. Documentary evidence establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a representative capacity (eg on behalf of 
a company, close corporation, trust, pension fund, deceased estate, etc) must be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously 
recorded by the company or waived by the chairman of the meeting.

8. A minor must be assisted by his/her parent or guardian, unless the relevant documents establishing his/her capacity are produced or 
have been registered by the company.

9. Where there are joint holders of shares:

  any one holder may sign the form of proxy; and the vote of the senior joint holder who tenders a vote, as determined by

  the order in which the names stand in the company’s register of members, will be accepted.

10. Forms of proxy should be lodged at or posted to the Company Secretary, Omnia Holdings Limited, 2nd Floor, Omnia House, 
13 Sloane Street, Epsom Downs, Bryanston (PO Box 69888, Bryanston 2021) so as to be received by no later than 10h00 on 
Tuesday, 28 September 2010.



OMNIA’S MILESTONES ADMINISTRATION

GROUP COMPANY SECRETARY 
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Omnia Holdings Limited 
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13 Sloane Street, Epsom Downs 
Bryanston, Sandton 
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Bryanston 2021 
Telephone +27 (011) 709 8888 
Website address: www.omnia.co.za 

TRANSFER SECRETARIES 

Link Market Services South Africa (Pty) Limited 
5th Floor, 11 Diagonal Street 
Johannesburg 2000 

PO Box 4844
Johannesburg 2000 
Telephone +27 (011) 630 0806 

SPONSOR 

To 19 May 2010

Barnard Jacobs Mellet Corporate Finance (Pty) Limited 
24 Fricker Road 
Illovo Corner, Illovo 

PO Box 62200 
Marshalltown 2107 
Telephone +27 (011) 750 0000

From 20 May 2010

One Capital (Pty) Ltd
Building 2 Suite 3
Country Club Estate
Woodlands Drive
Gallo Manor

PO Box 784573
Sandton 2146
Telephone +27 11 258 8798

AUDITORS 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc
2 Eglin Road
Sunninghill
Prive Bag X36
Sunninghill 2157
Telephone +27 11 797 4000

Establishes porous prill ammonium nitrate 

and ANFO manufacturing plants to expand 

its explosives product range. 

Political barriers in South Africa begin to 

crumble – Omnia extends operations into 

Africa; establishes industrial chemicals 

division, Intaba Chemicals.

Offshore trading, finance and investment 

arm established in Mauritius; Omnia 

becomes a Top 100 Company on the 

JSE Limited for the first time.

Innovative marketing and distribution 

infrastructure established to serve African 

smallholder farming communities.

Speciality fertilizer division launched, 

to service the growing specialisation 

in agriculture, OmniSap® technology 

introduced.

Commissions a plant to produce potassium 

sulphate and hydrochloric acid, as well as 

a cartridge explosives plant.

Construction begins on a R96 million 

state-of-the-art fertilizer granulation plant 

at Sasolburg; fourth liquid fertilizer plant 

in Wesselsbron commissioned.

Established a presence in Australasia 

to identify opportunities for market entry.

Mining explosives venture initiated in 

Tanzania; speciality fertilizer blender 

commissioned in Sasolburg. 

BME enters sophisticated electronic delay 

detonator market with purchase of cutting 

edge technology from French company 

DCI. New calcium nitrate plant opened 

in Sasolburg, applying unique patented 

technology developed by Omnia. Acquisition 

of South Africa’s largest distributor and 

trader of chemicals, Protea Chemicals.

The acquisition of Zetachem, a well-

established supplier of chemical 

management systems to leading companies 

in the water treatment, mining and pulp 

and paper industries.

Sale of 10% of the Group to our employees.

Omnia commissions EcoGypsumTM plant 

for sale of gypsum to the cement industry.

Commissions EnviNox® plant at Sasolburg, 

significantly reducing the release of nitrous 

oxide from the Omnia fertilizer factory.

Omnia forms an associate with Nalco, 

the world’s leading water treatment and 

process improvement company based 

in Illinois, USA. Nalco Africa will provide 

an extensive range of water and process 

treatment services to the African market.

Acquired Petroleum Fine Products. 

BME commissions shocktube plant.

Lists on the Johannesburg 

Stock Exchange. 

Invests R88 million in its own nitrogen 

facilities at the Sasolburg complex.

Acquires Bulk Mining Explosives (BME) to 

diversify into the mining explosives market, 

using advanced international technology.

Enters agricultural seed market 

(subsequently disposed of); secures 

independence for the supply of ammonia 

by purchase of a share of the Richards Bay 

ammonia terminal.
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Omnia founded as a small distributor 

of agricultural lime.

Expands into the related fertilizer market 

by establishing its first granular plant 

at Sasolburg.

Commissions South Africa’s first liquid 

fertilizer operation.

Launches direct application ammonia – 

a unique product for sophisticated farming 

application; completes superphosphate 

plant at Sasolburg and phosphoric acid 

plant at Phokeng.

Expands liquid operation in the 

UK and US (subsequently disposed of); 

opens liquid fertilizer plants at Hectorspruit 

and Danielsrus.
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Shaping the future of our world



A WAY OF LIFE

www.omnia.co.za
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Omnia adds value to the resources that sustain our existence 

 This report is printed in English only. The non-financial information is available in Afrikaans on request, and can be viewed on www.omnia.co.za. 
This report is printed on Forest Stewardship Council certified paper.
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At Omnia, our focus on adding value to our customers in their efforts to find alternative 
energy solutions, promoting the conservation of water resources and enabling 
food security, is a way of life. 

Our day-to-day energies, channelled through the considerable expertise of our specialist, 
diversified operations, are invested in developing products and services to support the sustainable use 
of these vital resources.

The path to Omnia’s involvement in the key areas of agriculture, mining and chemicals was laid in 1953 when 
the company was founded as a small distributor of agricultural lime. By 1967, the future direction of the company 
was decided when it expanded from a lime supplier into a new role – that of manufacturer and supplier of fertilizer.

As the company developed, innovation became its calling card.

Within five years of establishing its first granular fertilizer plant, Omnia commissioned South Africa’s first liquid 
fertilizer manufacturing facility. The next step was the development of unique ammonia applications for sophisticated 
farming operations.

Continued growth led to Omnia’s listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange in 1980. This facilitated subsequent 
investment in increased manufacturing capabilities, which included the construction of a nitrogen plant in Sasolburg.

Since the production of fertilizers requires many of the chemicals and expertise required for producing mining explosives, 
Omnia’s diversification into the mining industry was a natural step. Bulk Mining Explosives was acquired in 1987. 

As its facilities for the production of fertilizers expanded, so too did Omnia’s value added offering in the agricultural 
arena. By 1995, a speciality division was launched to serve the company’s increasing expertise in specialised 
agriculture practice.

By the time Omnia achieved “Top 100” company status on the JSE in 1993, the company was expanding 
internationally, with operations extending into Africa. This was followed by the acquisition and development 
of operations in Australasia and South America.

In 2003, Omnia acquired South Africa’s largest distributor and trader of chemicals, Protea Chemicals, which provided 
a much improved balance across its interests.

The ongoing investment in expertise led to the realisation that Omnia had a role to play in the sustainable development 
of resources. From becoming a renowned supplier of products and services to agriculture and mines, a move into water 
resources and their preservation through specialised treatments followed. 

The acquisition of Zetachem, a supplier of chemical management systems to the water treatment, mining and pulp 
and paper industries was followed by an associate with one of the world’s leading water treatment and process 
improvement companies, Nalco, to create Nalco Africa, which will provide an extensive range of water and treatment 
process services to the African market.

Omnia supports its products with the expertise and customer assistance necessary to help farmers maximise crop 
production, miners to extract and process commodities from open cast and deep level mines more effectively, 
and industry to preserve and maintain water resources.

Omnia has become a company concerned with sustainability at all levels; a company able to make a meaningful 
contribution to our quality of life in fundamental ways.
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